
 

Thanet District Council, PO Box 9, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent, CT9 1XZ 
Tel: +44 (0)1843 577000 Fax: +44 (0)1843 290906 DX 30555 (Margate) www.thanet.gov.uk 

Chief Executive: Madeline Homer 

11?t of 
 

 
Date: 9 November 2015 
Ask For: James Clapson 
Direct Dial: 01843 577200 
Email: james.clapson@thanet.gov.uk 

 
 
 

THANET HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

19 NOVEMBER 2015 
 
A meeting of the Thanet Health and Wellbeing Board will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 
19 November 2015 in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent. 
 

Membership: 
 
Dr Tony Martin (Chairman); Hazel Carpenter, Esme Chilton, Councillor L Fairbrass, 
Councillor Gibbens, Madeline Homer, Mark Lobban, Colin Thompson and Councillor Wells 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Item 
No 

 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 To receive any declarations of interest.   Members are advised to consider the advice 
contained within the Declaration of Interest form attached at the back of this agenda.  If a 
Member declares an interest, they should complete that form and hand it to the officer 
clerking the meeting and then take the prescribed course of action. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 1 - 2) 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2015, copy attached. 
 

4. THANET CANCER STRATEGY (Pages 3 - 26) 

5. OBESITY - FOLLOWING A COUNTYWIDE HEALTH NEEDS ASSESSMENT (Pages 27 
- 182) 

6. LEADING INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING - UPDATE  (Pages 183 - 194) 

 o Local Partnership Groups – Terms of Reference and update 
o Governance Roadmap 
 

7. BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE (Pages 195 - 198) 

 Declaration of Interests Form 
 

 





THANET HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2015 at 10.00 am in the Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent. 

 
 

Present: 
 

Dr Tony Martin (Chairman); Hazel Carpenter (Thanet Clinical 
Commissioning Group), Esme Chilton (Future Creative), Councillor 
L Fairbrass (Thanet District Council), Madeline Homer (Thanet 
District Council), Emma Hanson (Kent County Council), 
Colin Thompson (Kent County Council) and Councillor Wells (Thanet 
District Council) 
 

  
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Clive Hart, Cllr Gibbens and Mark Lobban, for whom 
Emma Hanson was present as substitute. 
 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 11 July 2015 were agreed. 
 

4. LEADING INTEGRATED HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE COMMISSIONING IN THANET  
 
Alisa Ogilvie, Chief Operating Officer, Thanet CCG, presented the report which included 
a proposed roadmap and questions for consideration by the committee. 
 
In response to comments and questions it was noted that: 
 

- Members agreed to the roadmap and timescales contained within it.  
- Members would be provided with a link to the KCC Health Wellbeing Board 

minutes. 
- Thanet priorities were reconfirmed to be children, mental health, inequality and 

frail older people.  It was agreed Local Partnership Groups should be established 
for each to develop the model of care and that there should be an Integrated 
Commissioning Group that would develop an integrated commissioning plan for 
Board approval in March 2016.  The Thanet Health and Wellbeing Board would 
be required to agree the terms of reference of any sub-groups, however it was 
agreed that the Chairman would have delegated power to agree these between 
Board meetings to enable the groups to be set up.   

- It was the Board’s intention that terms of reference for it’s subgroups would be 
considered at the November THWB meeting.  

 
Jonathan Bates, Chief Finance Officer, Thanet CCG gave a presentation regarding ICO 
Finance, he highlighted that key to success would be joint working rather than silo 
working, the development of mutual respect, good management, and good governance. 
 
In response to comments and question it was noted that: 
 

- The pooling of money was not a prerequisite for co-working. 
- Good governance should enable rather than block progress.  



2 
 

- Clarity of what was to be delivered was needed to allow providers to meet 
demand. 

- A copy of Mr Bates’ slides would be circulated to the Board. 
- The direction of travel to align finances, and to form a shadow budget from 2016-

2017 was agreed. 
 

5. THANET CCG LOCALITY PROFILES  
 
Colin Thompson, Consultant in Public Heath, KCC presented the item and noted that 
there were four different locality clusters each with a different population profile.  In 
summary the committee were presented with key headlines for each of the four areas. 
 
In response to comments and questions it was noted that: 
 

- The data could assist the NHS in aligning its spend to areas of most need. 
- Analysis of the data could prove instrumental in identifying areas for potential 

quick wins, which was one of the Boards objectives. 
 

6. LOCAL ALCOHOL PROFILES  
 
Colin Thompson, Consultant in Public Heath, KCC presented the item noting that Local 
Alcohol Profiles had been created for each local authority area in England.  He advised 
that Thanet had scored better than some parts of Northern England, and explained that 
the Kent Alcohol Strategy had identified a need for greater work to be done within 
hospitals to target alcoholism. In response the QEQM has had alcohol liaison officers 
available to provide support to patients. These officers made 186 referrals to Turning 
Point, an increase from 6 referrals the previous year.   
 
Mr Thompson noted that early intervention was key, and advised that the QEQM had 
seen a 25% reduction in alcohol specific admissions due to the work of the community 
detox service, this led to a saving of 83 bed days. 
 

7. PUBLIC HEALTH TRANSFORMATION WORK  
 
Karen Sharp, Head of Public Health Commissioning, KCC presented the report noting 
that the presentation would be made at all of the local Health and Wellbeing Boards in 
Kent.  She explained that a number of key contracts were coming to an end, therefore it 
was a good time to evaluate and reshape public health provision. 
 
In response to questions and comments it was noted that: 
 

- Kent wide resources could be realigned to areas where health inequality was 
most prevalent.  

- Public Health Transformation wished to move from a Kent wide focus to a local 
focus, therefore should align its priorities with the priorities of the local Health and 
Wellbeing Boards. 

 
8. DEMENTIA UPDATE  

 
This item would be received by Members at a future meeting of the THWB. 
 
 
 
Meeting concluded : 12.20 pm 
 
 



Page 1 of 23 
 

     
     

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thanet Cancer Strategy 

 2015-2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 23 
 

Contents 
Background……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………3 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

Some key actions over the next 5 years will be to … .......................................................................... 4 

The Case for Change ........................................................................................................................... 5 

Aim of the Cancer Strategy ................................................................................................................. 6 

Prevention ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

Screening ............................................................................................................................................. 8 

Early Diagnosis & Referral ................................................................................................................... 9 

Treatment ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

Living with and beyond cancer ......................................................................................................... 11 

End of Life ......................................................................................................................................... 13 

Governance ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

How will the Cancer Strategy be implemented? .............................................................................. 14 

References ........................................................................................................................................ 16 

Appendix 1 - Thanet cancer profile ...................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Appendix 2 – Local Screening data ................................................................................................... 17 

Appendix 3 – NHS Thanet CCG Cancer Work Plan .......................................................................... 189 

Appendix 4 – Glossary ....................................................................................................................... 22 

    

 

Authors 
 

 

 

 

 



Page 3 of 23 
 

Background 
The Department of Health in ‘Improving Outcomes: A Strategy for Cancer 2011’made a pledge to set 

the following challenges; 

 Reduce the incidence of cancers which are preventable 

 Improve access to screening and introduce new screening programmes 

 Achieve earlier diagnosis of cancer 

 Ensure all patients have equal access to the best possible treatment 

This has been developed further and in 2015 the National Cancer strategy was launched.  

There has been considerable progress made on cancer over the past decade. Cancer mortality has 

fallen nationally, with the introduction of new treatments and drugs survival rates are improving for 

many cancers and patients’ experience of their care has improved. Progress has also been made 

against smoking, detecting more cancers early through screening and delivering faster diagnosis and 

treatment. Multi-disciplinary teams now provide more coordinated and higher quality care for 

patients and there has been considerable financial investment in cancer which has helped to deliver 

an expanded cancer workforce and more equipment. 

The third annual Improving Outcomes published Dec 2013: A Strategy for Cancer report, in 

partnership with NHS England and Public Health England, reports on: 

 significant developments in cancer screening - particularly on the first phase of introducing 

Bowel Scope Screening (BSS) 

 activity to promote earlier diagnosis of symptomatic cancers through the Be Clear on Cancer 

campaigns and the associated work with primary and secondary care 

 progress in ensuring better access for all to the best possible treatment 

 significant developments in the collection and reporting of new datasets and the analysis of 

information to drive improvements and inform patients 

We are committed to continuously improving cancer care in Thanet and over the next 5 years we 

will continue to work with partners, including NHS England, Public Health England and Macmillan 

cancer support, on priority areas for action. 

 

Introduction 
Cancer is a group of conditions where cells in a specific part of the body grow and reproduce 
uncontrollably.  There are over 200 different types of cancer, each with its own methods of diagnosis 
and treatment, with the four most common types of cancer being breast, lung, prostate and bowel 
and they account for around 53% of all new cases.  The incidence of cancer is increasing, although 
the potential to save lives through earlier diagnosis is improving.    
 
Cancer is a very common condition and more than one in three people will develop some form of 
cancer during their lifetime and it accounts for a quarter of all deaths in England.  In 2011, almost 
331,500 people in the UK were diagnosed with cancer.   
 



Page 4 of 23 
 

In Thanet, the under-75 cancer mortality rate is statistically higher than the England average and the 
one year survival rate was the fourth lowest (64.1%) out of any CCG area nationally.   High death 
rates due to lung cancer make a large contribution locally to the life expectancy gap with survival 
being generally lower among patients in more deprived areas.    
 
Appropriate prevention, screening, diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation and support services will 
be required to address the changing cancer agenda.  This strategy document sets out how we will 
develop cancer care in Thanet over the next five years to tackle the identified challenges; this 
includes reducing cancer mortality rates and improving the health of our local population. 

 

Some key actions over the next 5 years will be to … 
Prevention 

 Promote health and wellbeing including: 

 Campaigns promoting healthy eating and exercise such as Change4Life  

 Target preventative messages to at risk communities and groups 

 Actively promote the smoking cessation campaigns 

 Deliver to recommendations identified within the alcohol strategy 
 
Screening  

 Reduce inequalities in uptake by targeting populations where uptake is 
low,using interventions based on the evidence 

     
Early diagnosis & Referral 

 Through our local Communications plan we will provide educational  
programmes of raising awareness and support early presentation. 

 
Treatment  

 We will improve services locally and measure this through compliance against 
National cancer Access Standards 

 
Patient experience  

 We will review and implement the recommendations of the national Cancer 
voices audit.  

 
Living with and beyond cancer  

 To Implement the local recommendations from the survivorship audit (2014)  

 Support the implementation of a standardised local approach to Self Care to 
support independence and well being 

 
End of Life  

 To implement the recommendations of the EK End of Life strategy 
 
Governance 

 To ensure an effective electronic system is in place for the transfer of 
communications 

 



Page 5 of 23 
 

The Case for Change  
Thanet has the widest gap in life expectancy out of all of the Kent districts.  The difference in life 
expectancy between the most affluent 10% and most deprived 10% is 10.9 years for men and 6.2 
years for women.  In Thanet, deprivation, crime and unemployment are all statistically higher than 
the England average.  There are a higher proportion of some vulnerable populations in Thanet such 
as children in care, ex-offenders and people with a mental health condition which bring increasing 
health and social care problems.  Areas where there is higher proportion of vulnerable and deprived 
communities often have worse data on lifestyles.  
 
Thanet is statistically worse than the England average for a number of cancer indicators.  These 
include under-75 incidence and mortality, prevalence, percentage of urgent GP referrals with cancer, 
stage at diagnosis and one year survival rate (Appendix 2).  The one year survival rate is a particular 
issue, with Thanet being the fourth worst area in England for this indicator.  Although this rate 
increased between 1997 and 2012, it was at a much lower proportion than in the other CCG areas 
across Kent.      
 
Locally performances against National Cancer Access Standards have not always been achieved.   As 
part of this Strategy we are determined to improve the pathways to treatment to ensure patients 
are seen, diagnosed and treated in a timely manner through working in partnership with providers 
and where necessary holding them to account for their performance of these standards. 
This will help Thanet CCG to achieve the world class cancer outcomes which are outlined below.  
 
 
 
 
 

 



Page 6 of 23 
 

 

Aim of the Cancer Strategy 
The aim of this strategy is to ensure that appropriate prevention, screening, diagnosis, treatment 
and rehabilitation and support services for cancer are in place to enable Thanet to improve 
considerably; reducing cancer mortality and improving the health of our local population.  
 
We will raise the profile of cancer across Thanet to broaden the ownership of this critical issue, to 
ensure that priority is given to reduction of cancer excess mortality.  We will work together with 
stakeholders to ensure the delivery of these outcomes is aligned to achieving World Class Cancer 
Outcomes. 

Prevention 
Preventing cancer is a local and national priority and will play a major part in the reduction of cancer 
deaths and ill health.  It involves the promotion of health and wellbeing and the reduction of cancer 
risk factors.  Prevention will have a strong focus on reducing inequalities in cancer mortality in 
Thanet.  Reducing above average rates of smoking, poor diets and alcohol consumption will have 
significant impacts on our local population.  Smoking is by far the most important preventable cause 
of cancer.  It is responsible for one in four UK cancer deaths, and nearly a fifth of all cancer cases 
(Nice 2015).  In Thanet, lung cancer has the highest mortality and years of life lost from any type of 
cancer and around 90% of lung cancer is attributed to smoking.  After smoking, poor diet, obesity 
and lack of exercise are some of the most important avoidable causes of cancer.   
 
Nationally smoking prevalence is reducing.  In 1990 it was 30% and in 2013 it was 19%.  The 
prevalence for Thanet in 2013 was 25%, although there was variation throughout the district.  It is 
generally highest in areas of the highest deprivation (Figure 1).   However rates of smoking are 
higher in men, in young adults, people in routine and manual occupations.  Smoking during 
pregnancy is an issue in Thanet.  In 2013/14, the percentage of pregnant women with a smoking 
status at time of delivery was 17% in Thanet compared to 12% in England as a whole. 

 

 
 
 
Figure 1: Modelled smoking prevalence estimates across Thanet   



Page 7 of 23 
 

 
Regularly drinking alcohol (up to a pint of premium lager or a large glass of wine a day which contain 

around three units) can increase the risk of mouth, throat, oesophageal, breast and bowel cancers.   

A study published in 2011 found that alcohol is responsible for around 4% of UK cancers, about 

12,800 cases per year (Parkin et al 2011). The proportion of cases down to alcohol was highest for 

mouth and throat cancers (around 30%), but bowel cancers accounted for the greatest overall 

number of cases linked to alcohol (around 4,800 cases a year).  Figure 2 shows that alcohol specific 

hospital admissions increased in most parts of Thanet between 2006 and 2015.  There was a slight 

decrease in Margate, although it was still higher than in other areas of Thanet.    

 

 
 
 
Figure 2: Alcohol specific hospital admission rates  
 
 
 
In the UK, 4.4% of all cases of cancer per year in men and 8.2% of all cases of cancer per year in 
women were estimated to be attributable to obesity.  This could increase in the future though 
because the obesity prevalence trend is increasing.   Being overweight or obese is associated with an 
increased risk of a range of cancers including oesophageal, pancreatic, bowel, breast and rectum.  
Figure 3 shows the estimated obesity prevalence across Thanet.  



Page 8 of 23 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
We Will; 

 Ensure that public health services such as the stop smoking service use a more 
targeted approach to increasing access from the most deprived populations in 
Thanet 

 Use social marketing data and methods to tailor preventative messages to at-
risk communities and groups 

 Build cancer awareness and knowledge of preventative interventions into the 
‘Make Every Contact Count’ programme within health services and partner 
frontline agencies.   

 Promote health and wellbeing through appropriate campaigns such as Change 
4Life 

 Promote confidence and resilience in children and young people to encourage 
healthy lifestyle choices and raise their awareness of cancer prevention. 

     
 

Screening 
Screening for cancer aims to find cancers as early as possible.  This involves looking for early signs of 
a particular cancer in healthy people who do not currently have any symptoms.  There are three 
National Screening Programmes established for breast, bowel and cervical cancers.  
 
Screening data for Thanet varies.  For breast screening, CCG uptake rates in Kent, Surrey and Sussex 
range from 58% to 78%. Thanet has an uptake rate of 75% so one of the higher rates for the region. 
Uptake rates for cervical screening in the region range from 71% to 84%. Thanet has an uptake rate 
of 76% so close to the average for the region.   For bowel screening,. Regional uptake rates range 
from 51% to 65%. Thanet’s rate is below the regional median– 54% 



Page 9 of 23 
 

 
Generally, populations from more deprived areas are less likely to participate in a screening 
programme in comparison to those from more affluent areas.  The data in appendix 2 shows this to 
be the case in Thanet with higher screening rates in areas where there is less poverty.  This could be 
due to people with high socioeconomic status being more likely to have more knowledge or sources 
of care regarding cancer screening services such that they are more motivated to undertake certain 
types of medical care (Lin 2008) 
  
 
 

 
We Will; 

 Increase awareness and uptake of screening across Thanet 

 Increase screening rates in low uptake areas by working with specific 
groups/neighbourhoods/localities  

 Ensure evidence-based interventions and national guidance is implemented 
and that new initiatives have audit built in at the planning stage  

 

Early Diagnosis & Referral 
For many cancers, the earlier a cancer is diagnosed and treated, the greater the prospect of survival 
and improved quality of life.  We must continually raise public awareness of cancer symptoms, 
encouraging people to seek help early and promote early diagnosis in primary care. 
 
 

 
We Will; 
 

 Map differences in cancer presentation, registration and staging ,treatment 
adherence and survival geography defined by deprivation scores. 

 Use an established differential needs assessment to target programmes of 
awareness raising and support early prevention. 

 Undertake an audit across the whole pathway –focussed on Bowel Cancer 
initially.  

 Undertake a reflective audit in practices for patients diagnosed with cancer 
not on a 2ww pathway. 

 We will ensure that capacity is available in order to meet the recent changes 
from the NICE guidance. 

 
 
 

 
 

Treatment 

Cancer care is complex and relies on highly skilled staff using the most up to date evidence and 
equipment to provide the best care possible for patients. 



Page 10 of 23 
 

 
Great efforts have been made to ensure timely and high quality care for cancer patients in Thanet. A 
number of drivers for ensuring better treatment have been introduced nationally, at a regional level 
and local level.   
 
Currently, Thanet patients may access treatment at a number of local hospitals, including the Queen 
Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital, Kent and Canterbury, William Harvey and further afield in 
Maidstone and specialist hospitals in London.  
 
The CCG is committed to ensuring the safe and effective care and treatment is provided ensuring a 
balance is maintained between centralisation of services and local accessibility. 
 
The current cancer performance has been inconsistent and through this strategy we intend to 
improve compliance against the national targets  
 
The current Cancer wait targets can be seen in the tables that follow.  
 
 
 
Figure 4 - Cancer Wait Times Performance    
Thanet CCG - All Providers 
    

 
 
 

 
 
 



Page 11 of 23 
 

 
 
 
 

 
We Will; 
 

 Focus effort on improving the diagnosis and referral of patients to hospital at 
Primary Care level through improved awareness amongst GPs.  

 Ensure a Cancer Access Standard recovery plan is developed by East Kent 
Hospitals University Foundation Trust and that this includes Tumour site 
specific actions that will improve performance. 

 We will review the appropriateness of MDT being necessary for all patient 
reviews for example Prostate cancer. 

 We will ensure the patient is central to this process  
 

 

Patient experience  
In October 2011 the NHS National Quality Board (NQB) agreed on a working definition of patient 

experience to guide the measurement of patient experience across the NHS. This framework 

outlines those elements which are critical to the patients’ experience of NHS Services. 

 Respect for patient-centred values, preferences, and expressed needs, including: cultural 

issues; the dignity, privacy and independence of patients and service users; an awareness of 

quality-of-life issues; and shared decision making; 

 Coordination and integration of care across the health and social care system; 

 Information, communication, and education on clinical status, progress, prognosis, and 

processes of care in order to facilitate autonomy, self-care and health promotion; 

 Physical comfort including pain management, help with activities of daily living, and clean 

and comfortable surroundings; 

 Emotional support and alleviation of fear and anxiety about such issues as clinical status, 

prognosis, and the impact of illness on patients, their families and their finances; 

 Welcoming the involvement of family and friends, on whom patients and service users rely, 

in decision-making and demonstrating awareness and accommodation of their needs as 

care-givers; 



Page 12 of 23 
 

 Transition and continuity as regards information that will help patients care for themselves 

away from a clinical setting, and coordination, planning, and support to ease transitions; 

 Access to care with attention for example, to time spent waiting for admission or time 

between admission and placement in a room in an in-patient setting, and waiting time for an 

appointment or visit in the out-patient, primary care or social care setting. 

Patients express the view that their experience of care is around clinical effectiveness and safety. 
They want to feel informed, supported and listened to so that they can make meaningful decisions 
and choices about their care. They want to be treated as a person not a number and they value 
efficient processes.  

Macmillan's 'Nine Outcomes': What matters most to people 
with cancer  

Cancer in the UK 2014 examines the state of cancer in the UK in terms of the nine issues that people 
affected by cancer have told Macmillan matter most to them. These issues include clinical 
outcomes as well as the impact of cancer on the whole of a person’s life.  

 

Living with and beyond cancer 
The cancer story is changing: there are two million people living with or beyond cancer in the UK. 
This figure is set to rise to four million by 2030.9 Cancer incidence is increasing and survival rates are 
improving.  While there is plenty of information and support available to people during their 
treatment, it can be hard to adjust afterwards and get back to as normal a life as possible. Patients 
and families may be left with physical, psychological, social and economic effects following diagnosis 
and treatment.  We will support and encourage local people to manage their own conditions and 
create a pathway of care focused on the needs of patients and families linking with the South 
Tyneside Pioneer project. Staff across health, social care and the third sector will work collectively on 
a joined up self-care 'offer' to reduce fragmentation of service delivery and improve the lives of local 
people.  To help support local patients and their families’ access is available to emotional and 
practical support to help people who are trying to return to ‘normal life’ after the roller coaster 
experience of cancer. Cancer Connections and Coping with Cancer are both local charities whose 
work is carried out by volunteers, most of whom have first-hand experience of cancer.   



Page 13 of 23 
 

 
Thanet CCG has contributed to the South East Coast Clinical Networks review of the implementation 
of the Cancer Recovery Package. A number of recommendations have been made and the CCG is 
committed to implementing these recommendations locally. 

 
 

 
We Will; 

 Ensure that patients, carers and families of those who have had cancer have 
access to quality information and support services, including access to 
physical psychological, social and economic support when needed 

 Support the implementation of a standardised local approach to Self Care to 
support independence and well being 

 Raise the awareness to ensure all health professionals are vigilant for signs of 
recurrence or treatment complications  

 Contribute to the development of a clear vision and five year strategy for the            
commissioning and implementation of the Recovery Package. 

 Work with the Strategic Cancer Network to gather evidence and good practice 
examples and facilitate the sharing of good practice and knowledge across the 
CCG. 

 Implement locally the recommendations of the Cancer Recovery package  
 

 

End of Life 
A significant proportion of all deaths in Thanet are due to cancer and so ensuring appropriate end of 
life services and support are available in the right place at the right time is essential.  We must 
ensure that appropriate support is provided that meets the needs of both the person who is dying 
and the people close to them. There will be a strong focus ensuring that the recommendations of 
the East Kent Strategy are implemented so that people have the best possible end of life experience 
and will be; 
 
• treated as an individual, with dignity and respect  
 
• should have access to appropriate medication and support to manage their symptoms 
 
• in familiar surroundings  
 
• in the company of close friends and/or family  
 
• able to be cared for and die in the place of their choice.  
 
Regardless whether the patient is young or old they should receive high quality end of life or 
palliative care from their GP, nurse, case manager, therapist, hospice, hospital, voluntary 
organisations and any other professional who is involved in their care.  They should be supported 
physically, psychologically, socially and emotionally and their own personal needs and preferences 
will be paramount in their care.   Carers and families will also receive the help and support they 
need.   
 



Page 14 of 23 
 

 
We Will; 

 Implement the recommendations of the East Kent EOL Strategy 

 Ensure patients preferred place of care is achieved 

 Review and re design current EOL pathway and services 

 Ensure and appropriate electronic system is in place for communication of 
patients wishes at Ends of Life  

 Ensure EOL training is mandatory for all organisations 
 

 

Governance 
We are committed to continuously improving cancer care in Thanet and to support us in achieving 
our goal we have identified a number of cross pathway priorities. 
 
The monitoring and delivery of this strategy will be overseen by the Thanet cancer Steering group 
which will report to the CLT  
 

 
We Will; 

 Ensure an effective electronic system to transfer of communications is 
implemented 

 Ensure there is effective, safe speedy communication for professionals 
involved in the care of cancer patients  

 
 

How will the Cancer Strategy be implemented? 
NHS Thanet Clinical Commissioning Group Cancer Strategy maps out the key priorities and actions 
for improving the quality of cancer care in Thanet. It is a strategic plan which requires the 
involvement of key partners and stakeholders. 

 
Clinical Leadership 
 
NHS Thanet CCG has a dedicated Clinical Lead, Public Health Lead, Macmillan GP and Primary Care 
Nurse for Cancer who have been heavily involved in the development of this strategy and will be 
tasked with jointly delivering it. The development of this strategy has not been undertaken in 
isolation and nor will its delivery. 

 

Working with Stakeholders 
 
NHS Thanet CCG will not be able to realise this strategy without working closely with other key 
stakeholders including local provider organisations (EKHUFT,KCHFT,KCC, Pilgrims hospices), Primary 
Care, third sector partners and patients, carers and others who are affected by cancer. We will 
develop models of delivery with our stakeholders to ensure the successful delivery of the actions 
linked to this strategy.( See Appendix 3 )  

 



Page 15 of 23 
 

Communication Plan 
To support the delivery of this strategy NHS Thanet CCG  will develop a dedicated communication 
and engagement plan. 

 
To ensure successful implementation we will review the Terms of Reference and membership of the 
group to ensure there is representation from all relevant groups necessary to oversee the delivery of 
this strategy. This will ensure that the level of representation is sufficient to provide comprehensive 
leadership. 
 

Measures of Success 
 
In measuring the success of this strategy Thanet CCG are reliant on data which can be retrospective. 
 
In order to address this we are building in milestones that will demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
actions contained within the delivery plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 16 of 23 
 

References 
 
Lin SJ.(2008) Factors influencing the uptake of screening services for breast and cervical 
cancer in Taiwan. J R Soc Promot Health. Nov;128(6):327-34 
 
NICE (2015) Local Government Briefing: Tobacco  
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb24/resources/tobacco-60521206893253  
 
Parkin, DM., et al., Cancers attributable to the consumption of alcohol in the UK in 2010. Br J 
Cancer, 2011. 106 (S2) p. S14- S18 
 
Department of Health, Achieving World -Class Cancer Outcomes a Strategy for England 
(2015-2020) 
 
Department of Health and the NHS Institute (2010): What Matters To Patients? Developing 
the Evidence Base for Measuring and Improving Patient Experience  
 

Macmillan cancer support (2014) Macmillan's 'Nine Outcomes': What matters most 
to people with cancer 
 
South Tyneside Partnership (2014) Cancer Strategy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb24/resources/tobacco-60521206893253


Page 17 of 23 
 

Appendix 1- Thanet cancer profile 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Page 18 of 23 
 

Appendix 2 – Local screening data 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Breast Screening Coverage - Thanet CCG Patient - April 2009 to March 2012 
(pooled data) 

  

Practice Name Percentage Screened in 3 year period 
to March 2012 

Thanet CCG Practices Practice Name 25-29 25-64 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 50-64 55-59 60-64 All Ages

G82796 THE ALBION ROAD SURGERY 87.10 92.75 97.67 97.78 98.15 93.33 90.16 89.22 92.31 85.19 92.37

G82674 CLIFTONVILLE SURGERY 82.93 89.32 82.50 87.50 91.53 95.92 91.04 90.18 95.45 84.62 89.10

G82219 ST PETER'S SURGERY 81.73 87.36 89.47 90.38 91.60 92.45 90.70 84.00 84.21 76.11 86.80

G82107 MINSTER SURGERY 74.29 85.92 90.10 88.56 87.76 90.27 87.10 83.97 85.91 78.90 85.28

G82810 GARLINGE SURGERY 73.40 85.07 89.77 89.81 86.30 90.08 86.84 82.49 80.23 77.19 84.12

G82210 OSBORNE ROAD SURGERY 71.93 83.91 83.64 79.41 84.52 91.55 91.67 86.10 77.19 86.96 83.69

G82650 MOCKETTS WOOD SURGERY 71.70 83.02 84.82 81.75 92.19 88.17 86.43 80.87 73.95 81.17 82.41

G82079 WESTGATE SURGERY 76.21 81.45 86.32 86.19 83.14 83.73 83.61 79.01 76.40 76.08 81.21

G82649 UNION ROW SURGERY 71.29 81.72 84.72 80.25 87.91 93.51 90.28 78.23 71.74 58.62 79.83

G82020 THE GRANGE PRACTICE 71.14 79.09 84.18 82.18 80.66 83.24 82.74 76.89 75.10 71.53 78.68

G82126 EAST CLIFF MEDICAL PRACTICE 69.61 78.74 80.53 83.55 86.41 85.92 78.24 73.59 73.65 68.03 77.83

G82812 WICKHAM SURGERY 74.07 78.20 83.33 82.00 89.83 71.43 86.27 74.64 65.12 70.45 77.53

G82150 NEWINGTON ROAD SURGERY 69.75 77.90 79.61 81.73 83.60 83.33 81.77 75.15 68.98 73.50 77.53

G82666 BIRCHINGTON MEDICAL CENTRE 72.54 76.63 80.86 83.89 82.64 79.46 73.33 71.86 70.04 72.27 76.35

G82630 THE BROADWAY PRACTICE 61.18 77.04 75.93 87.73 86.34 82.00 79.38 73.14 71.26 67.68 76.17

G82046 SUMMERHILL SURGERY 65.17 75.84 80.21 79.37 81.95 77.03 79.10 74.14 70.27 71.23 75.43

G82105 BETHESDA MEDICAL CENTRE 66.94 75.39 73.64 78.70 80.00 81.03 76.70 74.63 74.19 72.41 75.36

G82064 DASHWOOD HOUSE 61.98 75.21 79.84 78.11 81.96 82.04 78.19 72.57 72.30 64.57 74.68

G82052 THE LIMES 60.15 73.73 78.19 80.07 78.11 77.38 79.25 72.61 72.22 65.00 73.67

G82066 NORTHDOWN SURGERY 64.56 73.57 77.88 77.21 77.85 77.19 79.18 70.89 67.06 66.06 73.15

G82769 CECIL SQUARE SURGERY 51.25 69.23 66.22 80.60 78.08 76.06 77.08 67.24 58.62 61.54 68.59

Thanet CCG Average 70.42 80.05 82.35 83.66 85.26 84.53 83.29 77.69 75.06 72.81 79.51

Percentage screened by age band

Cervical Cytology Screening for Thanet CCG Patients - Jan 2007 to Dec 2012 (pooled data) by age band



Page 19 of 23 
 

BIRCHINGTON MEDICAL CENTRE 81.09 

MINSTER SURGERY 80.00 

ST PETER'S SURGERY 79.76 

WESTGATE SURGERY 78.87 

THE GRANGE PRACTICE 78.75 

SUMMERHILL SURGERY 78.40 

OSBORNE ROAD SURGERY 78.23 

THE BROADWAY PRACTICE 77.73 

CLIFTONVILLE SURGERY 77.18 

EAST CLIFF MEDICAL PRACTICE 76.90 

MOCKETTS WOOD SURGERY 76.06 

NORTHDOWN SURGERY 75.93 

THE ALBION ROAD SURGERY 75.71 

GARLINGE SURGERY 75.70 

DASHWOOD HOUSE 75.15 

BETHESDA MEDICAL CENTRE 73.35 

NEWINGTON ROAD SURGERY 72.52 

THE LIMES 72.33 

WICKHAM SURGERY 69.80 

UNION ROW SURGERY 67.54 

CECIL SQUARE SURGERY 59.86 

 77.88 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 



Page 20 of 23 
 

Appendix 3 – NHS Thanet CCG Cancer Work Plan 
 

Cancer framework action plan  

Action 
Number 

Improvement Action Plan 
 

Actions required Leads, Timescales & 
Comments 

1 To develop a cancer strategy for TCCG To review current data for Thanet and prioritise 
key recommendations  
 
To present this at CLT and hold a PLT session 
around cancer to launch the document  
 
To arrange PLT session FH to speak with HP 
 
To learn from other similar areas with regards 
to strategy development (ie South Tyneside) 

CT/FH/GB Oct 2015 
 
 
CT/FH/GB Oct 2015 
 
 
FH Jul 2015 
 
FH Jul 2015 

    

2 Improvement in health promotion  To liaise with Comms team around developing 
a Comms and engagement strategy to raise 
health literacy within the population. Promoting 
key messages to general public and 
professionals. 
  
To link with Public Health Stop smoking and 
health promotion teams and Macmillan to 
develop some local events in libraries, one 
stop shops A& E dept etc. 
 
FH to liaise with Mark Holmes Macmillan 
public engagement officer.  
 

FH/CT/GB/SJ Jul 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
FH/CT/GB Sep 2015 
 
 
 
 
FH Sep 2015 

    



Page 21 of 23 
 

3 Two week wait referrals  
Thanet CCG has a higher rate of referrals than 
the national figure. 
 
 

Practice profiles will be available July 15 and 
CT to compile narrative to go along side data 
With conversion rates  

CT Jul 2015 

    

4 Emergency admissions with cancer per 
100,000 population  
Thanet CCG has a higher rate of emergency 
cancer admissions than the national average 

To present audit to practice managers meeting 
17/06/15 
 
To commence a Cancer Emergency 
Presentations Audit with the top 11 Practices 
 

FH Complete 
 
 
Dr C Neden and FH  
To commence Sep 2015 

    

5 Percentage of diagnostic tests from GP 
direct access  
Thanet CCG has a lower rate referred via GP 
direct access for chest x-rays, brain MRIs and  
ultrasounds compared to the national average 

Consider in line with recently published NICE 
guidance approach to raise awareness within 
General Practice. 

Dr C Neden/ Dr J Neden Sep 
2015 

    

6 Screening uptake breast, 
For breast screening Thanet has an uptake rate 
of 75% so one of the higher rates for the region. 
 

Some issues around 6 month review letters 
being sent to practices. CT to speak with JR re 
process  

CT Sept 2015 

    

7 Screening uptake cervical, 
Thanet has an uptake rate of 76% so close to 
the average for the region. 

Obtain data from Public Health on a quarterly 
basis. 

CT Oct 2015 

    

8 Screening uptake bowel 
Thanet’s rate is below the regional median– 
54% 
 

To review current equity of service- in 
particular pathway for colonoscopy   

GB/FH Aug 2015 

    

9 Routes to diagnosis  
Thanet CCG is above the national median rate 

To commence a Cancer Emergency 
Presentations Audit with the top 11 Practices 

Dr C Neden and FH  
To commence Sep 2015 



Page 22 of 23 
 

of patients diagnosed via emergency routes for 
Lung, Breast and Colorectal Cancers 

 

    

10 Age standardised under 75 mortality rate: 
all cancers Thanet CCG is above the national 
average and has the highest rate in the region. 

Implement Thanet Strategy All Nov 2015 

    

11 1 year survival rate for all cancers  
The latest figures indicate that Thanet CCG has 
1 year survival rates that are below the regional 
and national averages and one of the lowest in 
the region. 

Implement Thanet Strategy All Nov 2015 

    

12 Staging for all cancers 
Thanet CCG had 37.4% of cancers that were 
diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 which was below the 
regional average and below the national 
average. 

To review current data for Thanet and prioritise 
key recommendations  
 
To present this at CLT and hold a PLT session 
around cancer to launch the document  
 
To arrange PLT session FH to speak with HP 

CT/FH/GB Oct 2015 
 
 
CT/FH/GB Oct 2015 
 
 
FH Jul 2015 

    

13 Review Current Performance standards  
Achievement of the Cancer wait standards has 
fluctuated from month to month. 
 

Review data monthly and highlight and 
address underperformance. 

GB Ongoing 

    

14 Cancer Recovery Plan 
EKHUFT have developed a Cancer Recovery 
Plan for Urology and Lower GI to address 
performance issues. 

Oversee, contribute and monitor delivery of 
recovery plans. 

Dr C Neden/GB Oct 2015 
 

    

 



Page 23 of 23 
 

Appendix 4 – Glossary  
 





 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 OBESITY  
 

HEALTH NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
 
 
 

26 October 2015



 

 

Table of contents        
Section          page 
 
            Executive Summary …………………………………………………. ..4 

1.  Introduction……………………………………………………………….. .6 
2.  Background……………………………………………………………….. 6 
3.  Epidemiology………………………………………………………………9 
4.  Risk Factors………………………………………………………………..17 
5.  National Policy and Drivers………………………………………………19 
6.  Evidence Base……………………………………………………………..21 
7.  Dartford Gravesham and Swanley………………………………………25 
8.  West Kent…………………………………………………………………..39 
9.  Ashford……………………………………………………………………...50 
10.  Canterbury and Coastal…………………………………………………...61 
11.  South Kent Coast…………………………………………………………..72 
12.  Swale………………………………………………………………………..83 
13.  Thanet……………………………………………………………………….94 
14.  Kent Overview………………………………………………………………105 
15.  Model of Care………………………………………………………………112 
16.  Commissioning Intentions………………………………………………   115 
17.  References………………………………………………………………….118 

 Appendix 1 Child and Adult Obesity Prevalence Maps by District……….124 
 (Health and Social Care Maps, Kent and Medway Public Health  
 Observatory, 2014)  
 Appendix 2 Views of Public and Stakeholders  Adults…………………….128 
 Appendix 3 Adult Consultation Questionnaire……………………...............133  
 Appendix 4 Children and Young People Consultation Questionnaire……142 
 Appendix 5 General Practice Obesity Questionnaire………………………146  
 Appendix 6 The Big Weight Debate – toward a strategy for tackling  
 obesity in Kent…..………………………………………………………………147 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 3 
 

 

Acknowledgements 
 
 
Alex Emby, Project Officer, Public Health Department, KCC 
Amit Hayer, Healthy Weight Team Leader, The Gr@nd HLC, Gravesham 
Andy Fairhurst, Physical Activity Programme Manager, Public Health Department, KCC 
Anton Tavernier Gustave, Healthy Living Project Officer, Sevenoaks District Council 
Becca Pilcher, Project Officer, Public Health, KCC 
Dawn Williams, Personal Assistant, Public Health Department, KCC 
Eileen Brookson, Head of Nutrition and Dietetics, Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 
Elena Ransley-Hoare, Headstart Kent Project Co-ordinator, KCC 
Emily Silcock, Public Health Information Analyst, Kent and Medway Public Health 
Observatory 
Gillian Montgomery, Personal Assistant, Public Health Department, KCC 
Heidi Gould, Healthy Living Coordinator, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council 
Heidi Rose Acute Dietetic Team Leader Kent Community Foundation NHS Trust 
Helen Buttivant, Public Health Specialty Registrar, Public Health Department, KCC 
Jo Hulks, Healthy Weight Team Manager, Kent Community Foundation NHS Trust 
Karen Sharp, Head of Commissioning, Public Health Department, KCC 
Lauren Liddell-Young, Information Officer, Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory 
Liz McAvan, Children and Young People Health and Wellbeing Lead, Kent Community 
Health NHS Foundation Trust 
Liz Read, Operational Manager, The Gr@nd Healthy Living Centre 
Sarah Ward, Housing and Health Officer, Maidstone Borough Council 
Sarah Watkins, Housing and Health Officer, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Sevim Mustafa, Director, The Bariatric Consultancy 
Sherma Turner Lead Midwife for Diabetes and Obesity Medway Foundation NHS Trust 
Steve Grimsey, Don’t Sit Get Fit Activity Co-ordinator, Dartford Healthy Living Centre 
Zara Cucci, Public Health Analyst, Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 4 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The causes of obesity (commonly defined as a BMI of 30 or more) are complex and although 
some are genetic, most are modifiable.   It will require action from the public, voluntary and 
commercial organisations as well as individuals, to make an impact on reversing the rise in 
obesity. 
 
Approximately 10,000 children and 771,476 adults in Kent are overweight or obese.  Kent rates 
do not compare well to other areas in the South East although they are not dissimilar to 
England and statistical neighbours. 
 
The prevalence of obesity varies across Kent, with the highest prevalence rates of adult obesity 
to be found in Dartford, Shepway and Swale.  The highest rates in four - five year olds are 
found in Swale, Dartford, Gravesham and Dover.  The highest rates in 10 -11 year olds are 
found in Swale, Swanley, Shepway and Ashford. 
 
People who are obese are at far higher risk than the general population of serious illness 
including diabetes, heart disease and stroke.  Approximately nine years of life is prematurely 
lost to obesity related conditions.  Obesity is forecast to cost the NHS in the region of £50bn by 
2050. 
 
Obesity has to be tackled at every stage of the life course.  Obesity in pregnancy has serious 
risks for mother and child.  An increasing number of obese children are at risk of a number of 
serious conditions including type-2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, certain cancers, lung 
disease and kidney failure which will follow into adulthood.  Adults who are obese have a much 
higher risk of a number of serious conditions including diabetes, heart disease, stroke and 
arthritis than the general population and experts are recognising an increasing number of 
people with severe and complex obesity.  There are specific groups who have more of a pre-
disposition to obesity than the general population that commissioners of services need to 
acknowledge. 
 
There is an overarching national ‘Call to Action’ on obesity with published ambitions for 
population weight loss and there is evidence that nationally local government organisations are 
collaborating with clinical groups to improve population health at a local level.  The Royal 
College of Physicians is championing the development of the role of clinicians, particularly in 
primary care, and have produced a range of teaching packages for prevention and treatment of 
obesity.  In Kent changes in national commissioning arrangements for severe and complex 
obesity are a catalyst for local co-design of the obesity pathway. 
 
All settings have a role to promote preventive measures; promoting a healthy diet through 
policy, and designing a less sedentary working environment for example.  Weight management 
programmes should have physical activity, nutrition and behavioural change components to 
meet National Institute for Health Care and Excellence (NICE) guidance.  Interventions should 
ideally result in at least a five per cent reduction in body weight.  Evidence now supports an 
understanding that a lower level of weight loss maintained over a life time may be a more 
realistic goal and that weight management interventions should achieve at least an average 
three per cent reduction in weight that is maintained.  NICE calls for the need for further 
research on methodologies for sustaining weight loss achieved over a lifetime.  However, 
commissioned interventions to identify people who are both at risk and motivated and to follow 
them into a maintenance phase could be part of a model for Kent, and may contribute to the 
research base. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 5 
 

 

 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have set priorities based on the Five Year Forward 
Plan, priorities that are drivers for integrated approaches to obesity include tackling health 
inequalities and preventing and managing long term conditions. 
 
Commissioned services only provide interventions for a fraction of the population at risk; there 
is a need for front line workers to better understand what they can do and be provided with the 
tools to do it. Health and social care work in a large number of settings within CCG areas and 
are well placed to provide these interventions with their clients.  To be able to do this effectively 
a roll-out of training programmes at scale will be required.   
 
Stigma is thought to be a factor that contributes to the low take up of some services, including 
family weight management programmes; an identified gap in provision of suitable interventions 
for teenagers and males has been found.  Another identified gap is that not all eligible women 
see a dietician during pregnancy.  Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway across all areas of Kent for both adults, and children and 
young people. 
 
There are robust published pathways and recommendations for the approach to prevention, 
identification and management of obesity and well regarded models of good practice available 
elsewhere that Kent could learn from.  A clear strategic direction is needed to integrate all the 
action that is necessary and to facilitate co-commissioning where this adds value.  Kent would 
benefit from having an integrated model for obesity that includes other related health 
improvement strands such as emotional health and wellbeing, smoking and alcohol. 
 
There will be increased demand, which we are seeing already with more people with severe 
and complex obesity seeking help and more limited funding in the future.  A commissioning 
model that adds value by better integrating services and budgets across organisations should 
be considered.  Value will also be added by all commissioning organisations including in their 
contracts and agreements measures that result in healthy eating, increased physical activity 
and wellbeing.  Top down and bottom up approaches need to be taken, to also include work at 
a community level in areas of highest need. 
 
Better data sharing across the system will enable more robust measurement of outcomes and 
inform commissioning of effective interventions. 
 
The challenge is to work at scale to mobilise existing resources and assets to tackle obesity 
through the organised efforts of society. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 6 
 

 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Obesity is a common risk factor for diabetes, other metabolic diseases, heart disease, 

stroke, liver disease, many cancers, arthritis and depression, causing death and injury 
and posing a high burden to health and social care. 
 

1.2 The rising trend of overweight and obesity has been acknowledged as one of the most 
serious public health problems in the UK and by 2050 obesity is predicted to affect 
50% of adult women, 60% of adult men and 25% of children. 
 

1.3 The purpose of this document is to describe the current prevalence of obesity in Kent 
and to identify the needs and gaps across Kent and in Clinical Commissioning Group 
areas. It is intended that the needs assessment will inform commissioning intentions in 
a climate where there are high demands on clinical services and reducing budgets.  
 

 

2. Background 
 
2.1 Definitions 

In adults, obesity is commonly defined as a body mass index (BMI) of 30 or more. For 
children in the UK, the British 1990 growth reference charts are used to define weight status. 
 

2.2 In children the UK90 clinical cut points are as follows: 
 
 Clinically very underweight: ≤0.4th centile 

Clinically low weight: ≤2nd centile 
Clinically healthy weight: >2nd - <91st centile 
Clinically overweight: ≥ 91st centile 
Clinically obese ≥98th centile 
Clinically extremely obese: ≥99.6th centile 

 
2.3 In adults, degrees of overweight and obesity are classified according to body mass index 

(BMI), calculated by dividing a person's weight in kilograms by the square of their height in 
metres: 
 
 Healthy weight — BMI of 18.5–24.9 kg/m2 
 Overweight — BMI of 25–29.9 kg/m2 
 Obesity l — BMI of 30–34.9 kg/m2 
 Obesity ll — BMI of 35–39.9 kg/m2 
 Obesity lll — BMI of greater than or equal to 40 kg/m2 
 

2.4 Measurement 
The use of lower thresholds (23kg/m² to indicate increased risk and 27.5 kg/m² to indicate 
high risk) to trigger action to reduce the risk of conditions such as type 2 diabetes, has been 
recommended for Black African, African-Caribbean and Asian (South Asian and Chinese) 
groups 
 

2.5 BMI is not used to definitively diagnose obesity – as people who are very muscular 
sometimes have a high BMI, without excess fat – but for most people, it can be a useful 
indication of whether they may be overweight. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 7 
 

 

2.6 A better measure of excess fat is waist circumference, and can be used as an additional 
measure in adults who are overweight (with a BMI of 25 to 29.9) or moderately obese (with a 
BMI of 30 to 34.9).  
 

2.7 Generally, men with a waist circumference of 94cm or more and women with a waist 
circumference of 80cm or more are more likely to develop obesity-related health problems. 
 

2.8 Causes of obesity 

Obesity occurs when energy intake from food and drink consumption is greater than energy 

expenditure through the body’s metabolism and physical activity over a prolonged period. 

There are many complex behavioural and societal factors that combine to contribute to the 

causes of obesity. Over 100 variables directly or indirectly influence obesity, with energy 

balance at its centre (1). 

 

2.9 A plentiful supply of energy dense, flavour enhanced food and the day to day use of labour-

saving devices means that it has become ‘normal’ to gain excess weight. Environmental 

factors affecting weight loss or maintenance include the design of local housing estates that 

encourage and enable people to walk and cycle, the accessibility of shops and public 

services and the availability of good quality sport and leisure opportunities, including parks 

and open spaces. 

 

2.10 Figure 1: The Foresight Systems Map 

 

 
Source: Butland B, Jebb S, Kopelman P, McPherson K, Thomas S, et al (2007) 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 8 
 

 

2.11 Physiological, psychological, social and environmental factors all contribute to 

overweight and obesity in individuals, communities and wider society. Most people’s 

bodies are good at storing excess energy from our diets as fat. Our bodies regulate 

appetite and storage of fat through complex mechanisms. Other physiological factors 

that influence our weight include early development before and after birth, the amount 

of physical activity we do and the types of food we eat. Weight is affected by our habits 

and beliefs. These in turn affect behaviour around healthy eating and physical activity. 

Low mood has also been linked to obesity.  

 

2.12 There are also links between social inclusion, wellbeing and physical activity and 
people not feeling fully in control of the food they eat. Social issues are important 
determinants of obesity in children and adults.  Economic factors can also influence an 
individual’s ability to choose a diet that is lower in fats and sugars and access 
opportunities to be physically active. Addressing health inequalities through broad 
action across Kent will improve health, including healthy weight.  Concerns about 
safety, anti-social behaviour and crime may also deter people from being physically 
active in their local area. 
 

2.13  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 The causes of obesity are complex and although some are genetic, 
most are modifiable. 

 It will require action from public, voluntary and commercial 
organisations as well as individuals to have an impact on slowing 
or reversing the rise in obesity. 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 9 
 

 

3. Epidemiology of the Disease 
 
3.1 Prevalence of overweight and obesity in adults 

In England, the prevalence of obesity among adults rose from 14.9% to 24.9% 
between 1993 and 2013. The rate of increase has slowed down since 2001, although 
the trend is still rising. 
 
Figure 2: Prevalence of obesity among adults aged 16+ years 

Health Survey for England 1993-2013 (3-year average) 

 
 
There are an estimated 2.1 million adults in the UK with a body mass index (BMI) of 40 
or over, which is approximately 5.4% of the adult population.  This translates into 
64,000 adults in Kent. 
 

3.2 Dartford Shepway and Swale localities have estimated rates of obesity above the 
England average, Tunbridge Wells, Canterbury and Maidstone have rates below the 
England average. 
 
Figure 3: Adult obesity by Kent local authorities 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 10 
 

 

 
 

3.3 The percentage of adults in England who have excess weight (overweight and obesity 
combined) is 63.8%. 68% of men and 58% of women are overweight or obese (BMI 25 
kg/m2 or more).  In Kent the excess weight rate is 64.6%. This translates into 771,476 
people across Kent aged 16 and above.  
 
Table 1: Overweight and obese adults (excess weight) in Kent compared with 
England and the South East (% 2012) 
 

Kent 64.6 
South East 63.1 
England 63.8 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework 

 
Table 2: Estimated number of people with excess weight by local authority, 2012 
 

Ashford 64,241 Canterbury 69,319 
Dartford 53,543 Dover 57,992 
Gravesham 53,836 Maidstone 84,109 
Sevenoaks 61,133 Shepway 59,145 
Swale 75,641 Thanet 75,065 
Tonbridge and Malling 63,111 Tunbridge Wells 54,669 
 

Source: Obese prevalence, APHO 2014; overweight prevalence, NHS Information Centre, 
Health Survey for England, 2012; Population, ONS mid year estimates, 2012 
Note: overweight prevalence not available at LA level, and the England prevalence was applied 
to LA population 

 
Canterbury is the only authority with prevalence of excess weight better than the 
England average (54.2%).  Both Thanet (68.4%) and Swale (68.8%) are worse than 
the England average.  All the nine other authorities have rates similar to England.  
 

3.4 When Kent rates of excess weight are compared to its CIPFA (Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy) statistical neighbours Kent is in the middle of the 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 11 
 

 

range. 
 
Figure 4: Proportion (%) of estimated excess weight in adults, CIPFA Statistical 
Neighbours 2012 

 
 

3.5 The prevalence of overweight and obesity in children 
The National Children Measurement Programme records the weight and height of 
reception year and year 6 pupils for the whole of Kent. This data is then used to 
calculate a score for childhood weight and determines the weight category for each 
child.  This is the most reliable source of information we have. Year 6 has a lower 
percentage of children with a healthy weight compared to reception year. During 2013-
14 children with a healthy weight increased for both cohorts however reception year 
remains higher at 78.5% compared to 66.2% for year 6.  The percentage of children 
who are overweight has remained stable from 2011 to 2014. In 2013-14 both reception 
and year 6 figures decreased to 12.5% for reception year and 14.1% for year 6. 
 

3.6 Obesity rates for year 6 pupils are more than double reception year rates. Rates have 
remained stable, but show a slight increase in 2013-14 for year 6 pupils to 18.5% but a 
decrease of 0.8% for reception year from 2012-13 to 2013-14. 
 

3.7 Obesity in reception year is higher in most major town(s) of each district. Sevenoaks 
and Ashford districts show a larger number of wards that have a low level of obesity 
(between 0-5%). A higher level of obesity is found in Swale, Dartford, Gravesham and 
Dover. This reflects national findings that rates are higher in urban areas. 
 
Figure 5: Level of obesity in reception year across Kent for 2011/12 to 2013/14 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 12 
 

 

 
 
 

  
3.8 Obesity has increased from reception year to year 6 from 2011/12 to 2013/14  . 

Maidstone has a lower level of obesity for year 6 pupils compared to other districts 
from 2011/12 to 2013/14. Swale, Swanley, Shepway and Ashford all show the highest 
level of obesity for year 6 pupils (28-46%) across a number of wards for 2011/12 to 
2013/14.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 13 
 

 

 
 Figure 6: Level of obesity in year 6 across Kent for 2011/12 to 2013/14 

 

 
 

3.9 Across Kent approximately 10,000 children who were weighed and measured in 
2013/14 are classified as being overweight or obese. The rates per locality and the 
numbers of children are shown below: 
 
Table 3: Percentage and approximate number of children classified as 
overweight and obese by district, 2013/14 
 

Reception Year six Reception Year six Reception Year six Reception Year six Reception Year 6

Ashford 12.5% 13.8% 8.7% 21.1% 190 188 132 287 1517 1362

Canterbury 12.4% 14.9% 7.9% 17.6% 169 199 108 235 1359 1335

Dartford 12.8% 14.4% 9.1% 22.4% 165 162 118 252 1290 1125

Dover 12.0% 14.0% 9.0% 18.1% 140 139 105 179 1167 990

Gravesham 15.0% 16.1% 9.8% 19.9% 184 176 120 217 1226 1091

Maidstone 10.6% 14.2% 6.0% 17.2% 177 220 99 266 1662 1546

Sevenoaks 11.2% 11.3% 6.9% 16.1% 133 119 82 169 1185 1050

Shepway 13.5% 13.5% 8.9% 20.5% 153 132 101 201 1135 980

Swale 13.5% 14.1% 10.4% 21.0% 227 209 175 312 1687 1483

Thanet 12.4% 15.3% 9.6% 19.2% 194 201 151 252 1570 1313

Tonbridge and Malling 12.5% 14.4% 6.2% 14.8% 178 179 88 185 1420 1247

Tunbridge Wells 13.0% 13.5% 5.7% 13.8% 153 135 67 138 1177 1002

Medway 13.1% 15.4% 9.0% 17.2% 408 425 280 476 3113 2765

Source: NCMP

Note - % of children and number of children measured were provided by PHE, number of overweight and obese were estimated from these

Number of children 

measured

Percentage Number

District

Overweight Obese Overweight Obese

 
 

3.10 Mortality & morbidity 
It has been predicted that in 20 years’ time obesity unchecked will result in an 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 14 
 

 

additional 544,000-668,000 cases of diabetes, 331,000-461,000 cases of coronary 
heart disease and between 87,000-130,000 additional cases of cancer (2). Women in 
general have a higher risk of developing co-morbidities. 
 

Table 4: Relative risk* of disease relative to the non-obese population 

 men women 

Type 2 diabetes 5.2 12.7 

Hypertension 2.6 4.2 

Myocardial infarction 1.5 3.2 

Cancer of the colon 3.0 2.7 

Angina 1.8 1.8 

Gall bladder diseases 1.8 1.8 

Ovarian cancer - 1.8 

Osteo-arthritis 1.9 1.4 

Stroke 1.3 1.3 

National Audit Office 2001 

*Relative risk is a measure of the risk of a certain event happening in one group 

compared to the risk of the same event happening in another group. 

 
3.11 Women who are obese are estimated to be around 13 times more likely to develop 

type 2 diabetes and four times more likely to develop hypertension than women who 
are not obese. Men who are obese are estimated to be around five times more likely to 
develop type 2 diabetes and 2.5 times more likely to develop hypertension than men 
who are not obese (3). People who are obese may also experience mental health 
problems as a result of stigma and bullying or discrimination in the workplace (4). 
 

3.12 A number of large scale prospective studies have demonstrated an association 
between BMI and risk of death (below), with higher risks of death observed in the lower 
and upper BMI categories than in the middle categories (5,6). However, the precise 
increase in mortality reported for a given level of obesity varies. 
 
Figure 5: Schematic illustration of the association between mortality and BMI for 
adults BMI 

 
Obesity was only mentioned on 0.23% of all death certificates issued in England during 
2006, although this proportion has been increasing over time (7). In 2001, the National 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 15 
 

 

Audit Office (NAO) (3) estimated that approximately 6% of all deaths in England in 1998 
were caused by obesity – a total of 30,000 excess deaths in that year. Many of these 
deaths were premature, it is estimated that life was reduced by nine years.  The 
Foresight Report estimates that obese individuals are expected to die approximately 
11 years earlier than non-obese individuals (1). 
 
 

3.13 Mortality and morbidity-maternal, children and young people 

Obesity increases the risk of a woman having a late miscarriage, a stillbirth or neonatal 

death (8). It also increases the health risks to the mother during the antenatal, 

intrapartum, and postnatal periods. These include death, pre-eclampsia, infection, 

cardiac disease, haemorrhage and miscarriage (9). 

 
 Obese children and adolescents are at an increased risk of developing a chronic 

disease such as type-2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, certain cancers, lung disease 
and kidney failure which will follow into adulthood. Type 2 diabetes is usually found in 
adults, but increasingly more children are being diagnosed. A surveillance programme 
of children under 17 in the UK found that 95% of those diagnosed with type 2 diabetes 
were overweight and 83% obese. Type 2 diabetes was found to be increasing, with 
children from minority ethnic groups at higher risk than white children (10). Overweight 
and obese children are 40-50% more likely to suffer from asthma than normal weight 
children. Sleep apnoea is common in obese children and adolescents and could be as 
high as 60% (11). The World Health Organization (WHO) regards childhood obesity as 
one of the most serious global public health challenges for the 21st century.  
 

3.14 In the Bogalusa Heart Study in the US (12), 70% of obese five-17 year olds were found 
to have at least one risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD) for example high 
cholesterol levels, high blood pressure and abnormal glucose tolerance.  Recent 
analysis of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health found that diabetes 
risk was particularly high in adults who were obese as adolescents compared to those 
with adult-onset obesity. 
 

3.15 Recent findings from the Millennium Cohort Study (13), suggest that childhood obesity 
may be associated with emotional and behavioural problems from a very young age, 
with obese boys at particular risk. 
 

3.16 Economic burden 

The Foresight Report (2007) estimated that by 2050 the cost of treating its co-

morbidities in the UK will reach £49.9billion.  More recent projections predict that 

health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise nationally by £2bn between 

2010 and 2030 (14).  The impact of this on the Kent health economy is estimated to be 

over £55m. (This is using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of 

England 2013 population, KMPHO) 

Table 5: Estimated additional costs to England and Kent associated with obesity 

 
2013   

Projected cost 
increase 2013 

ENGLAND 53,865,817    £2,000,000,000 

KENT     1,493,512      



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 16 
 

 

Kent % of 
whole England 2.77%   £55,453,053 

 

This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of diabetes, 23% of heart disease and 

between 7%-41% of certain cancers.  This will also have an increased impact on social 

care costs.  An estimated 16 million days of sickness absence a year are attributable 

to obesity, in addition obese people are less likely to be in employment than people of 

a healthy weight and the associated welfare costs are estimated to be between £1 

billion and £6 billion. The NHS and local authority are major employers so this will 

impact on their available workforce. 

3.17  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Summary 
 

 Approximately 10,000 children and 771,476 adults in Kent are 
overweight or obese. 

 There is some evidence that both child and adult prevalence rates 
are levelling off. 

 Kent rates do not compare well to other areas in the South East 
although they are not dissimilar to England and statistical 
neighbours. 

 Adults who are obese are at far higher risk than the general 
population of serious illness including diabetes, heart disease 
and stroke. 

 Obese children and adolescents are at an increased risk of 
developing chronic disease such as asthma, type-2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease, certain cancers, lung disease and kidney 
failure. 

 Approximately nine years of life is prematurely lost to obesity 
related conditions. 

 It is estimated that by 2050 the cost of treating the co-morbidities 
of obesity in the UK will reach £49.9billion. 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 17 
 

 

4. Risk Factors 
 
4.1 Although there are people in all population groups who are overweight or obese, 

obesity is related to social disadvantage (15). 
 

4.2 In women, obesity prevalence increases with greater levels of deprivation, regardless 
of the measure used. For men, only occupation-based and qualification-based 
measures show differences in obesity rates by levels of deprivation (16). 
 

4.3 For both men and women, obesity prevalence decreases with increasing levels of 
educational attainment.  Around 30% of men and 33% of women with no qualifications 
are obese compared to 21% of men and 17% of women with a degree or equivalent 
(17). 
 

4.4 Data on obesity and disability is not robust.  However, analysis shows that children 
who have a limiting illness are more likely to be obese or overweight, particularly if they 
also have a learning disability (18).  Those children who have a limiting illness and a 
learning disability are one and a half times as likely to be obese as children with 
neither, whilst a child who also has a learning disability is twice as likely to be obese 
(19). 
 

4.5 People from the following ethnic groups are at an equivalent risk of diabetes, other 
health conditions or mortality at a lower BMI than the white European population as 
follows: (20) 
 

 South Asian people who are immigrants and descendants from Bangladesh, 
Bhutan, India, Indian-Caribbean (immigrants of South Asian family origin), 
Maldives, Nepal, Pakistan and Sri Lanka 

 African-Caribbean/Black Caribbean people who are immigrants and 
descendants from the Caribbean islands (people of black Caribbean family 
origin may also be described as African-American) 

 Black African people who are immigrants and descendants from African 
nations. In some cases, they may also be described as sub-Saharan African or 
African-American 

 'Other minority ethnic groups' include people of Chinese, Middle-Eastern and 
mixed family origin, as follows:  

 
o Chinese people who are immigrants and descendants from China, 

Taiwan, Singapore and Hong Kong 
o Middle-Eastern people who are immigrants and descendants from 

Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, 
Syria, the United Arab Emirates and Yemen 

o People of mixed family origin have parents of two or more different 
ethnic groups. 
 

4.6 Reasonable adjustments should be made for these specific groups, for example 
people with mental health conditions and disabilities, including learning disabilities. For 
some, more tailored interventions will be needed.  People from Black and Asian origin 
are more at risk of ill health because of obesity than the general population and should 
be recruited into interventions at a lower BMI than the general population. 
 

4.7 It is well recognised that children who are obese are likely to have obese parents (21, 22). 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 18 
 

 

Life course research suggests that adult health and inequalities can be influenced by 
the intra-uterine environment (23). A systematic review of the childhood predictors of 
adult obesity showed that maternal obesity and weight gain during pregnancy are 
related to higher BMI in childhood and subsequent obesity in adulthood (21).   
 

4.8 An obese child at any age increases the risk of obesity in adulthood anywhere between 
15-99% (24). The older a child is at onset, the more likely adult obesity becomes. 
According to one study, the age at which a child become obese has a direct influence 
on later obesity risk, with five - seven years being a critical age to increase the risks of 
adult obesity(25).  Prevention at an early age could reduce the number of obese adults. 
 

4.9  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Summary 
 

 People from black and Asian ethnic origins have a greater pre-
disposition to obesity than the general population that services 
need to acknowledge. 

 Adults and children with disabilities are more likely to be obese. 

 Obesity is associated with lower educational attainment. 

 Obese parents are likely to have obese children. 

 An obese child is likely to become an obese adult. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 19 
 

 

5. National Policy and Drivers 
 
5.1 Tackling obesity continues to be a national government priority; the most recent policy 

document has been Healthy Lives, Healthy People:  A Call to Action on Obesity (26), 
which was published in 2011.  A Call to Action gave a new direction to tackling obesity; 
recommending empowering people and communities to take action and building local 
capability. It gave direction for both local and national working together, national 
leadership and clarified the role of the government in helping people to make healthy 
food and drink choices and to become more physically active.  
 
The policy sets out two national ambitions for obesity:  
 

 A sustained downward trend in the level of excess weight in children by 2020  

 A downward trend in the level of excess weight averaged across all adults by 
2020. 
 

5.2 National policy on diet and obesity has been summarised by the Department of Health, 
this includes guidelines on physical activity (27). 
 

5.3 The key national drivers are within the Public Health Outcomes Framework.  The 
Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out the broad range of measures, relating to 
improving and protecting health across the life course and to reduce inequalities. The 
key outcomes relevant to impact on obesity are:  
 

 breastfeeding initiation  

 breastfeeding prevalence at six - eight weeks  

 excess weight in four - five and 10-11 year olds  

 excess weight in adults  

 percentage of physically active and inactive adults - active adults  

 percentage of active and inactive adults - inactive adults 
 

5.4 NICE guidelines (28) state “It is unlikely that the problem of obesity can be addressed 
through primary care management alone. More than half the adult population are 
overweight or obese and a large proportion will need help with weight management. 
Although there is no simple solution, the most effective strategies for prevention and 
management share similar approaches. The clinical management of obesity cannot be 
viewed in isolation from the environment in which people live.” 
 

5.5 NICE recommends that local authorities should work with local partners, such as 
industry and voluntary organisations, to create and manage more safe spaces for 
incidental and planned physical activity, addressing as a priority any concerns about 
safety, crime and inclusion.  They should provide facilities and schemes such as 
cycling and walking routes, cycle parking, area maps and safe play areas making 
streets cleaner and safer, through measures such as traffic calming, congestion 
charging, pedestrian crossings, cycle routes, lighting and walking schemes; ensuring 
buildings and spaces are designed to encourage people to be more physically active. 
 

5.6 NHS England Five Year Forward Plan for the NHS puts prevention high on the 
agenda.  It  requires providers and commissioners to work  together to dissolve the 
artificial barriers between prevention and treatment, physical health and mental health, 
and calls for integrated working across primary, community, social care and acute care 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 20 
 

 

(29). 
 

5.7 The Royal College of Physicians (30) reviewed the cost effectiveness of a range of 
interventions and concluded that prevention of overweight and obesity can be cost 
effective, but interventions that modified a target population’s environment, i.e. fiscal 
and regulatory measures, reported the most favourable cost effectiveness (31,32) . 
 

5.8 The District Council Network have proposed a District Offer to embed health 
interventions more strongly into the work of councils (33) and the Local Government 
Association (34) have allied themselves to Clinical Commissioning Groups calling for 
health in every policy approach.  The implications for work on obesity include more 
collaborative work on: 
 

 Travel and transport (e.g. active travel plans) 

 Food procurement (e.g. school meals and catering in residential settings) 

 Planning and licensing (e.g. influencing design of new builds to include green 
spaces, planning permission for food outlets) 

 Trading Standards (e.g. regulation of food establishments and opportunities for 
awards for healthier options) 

 Environmental health (e.g. public food safety, air quality) 

 Opportunities for physical activity (e.g. leisure centres, local authority health 
programmes, adult education) 

 Sustainability (e.g. reducing vehicle emissions, recycling) 

 Food security (e.g. supporting Kent producers, food banks, cookery classes) 

 Education (e.g. integrating the Child Measurement Programme more 
strategically). 
 

5.9 The Royal College of Physicians (30) has championed need for increased knowledge 
and skills of physicians across the whole care pathway and produced a range of 
training resources.  Recent national consultation (35) on commissioning arrangements 
for Tier 4 obesity treatment services is an opportunity to engage with local CCGs about 
how obesity services can be better integrated into a more robust pathway between 
prevention and treatment. 
 

5.10  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 There is an overarching national ‘Call to Action’ on obesity with 
published ambitions for population weight loss. 

 There is evidence that nationally local government organisations 
are collaborating with clinical groups to improve population health 
at a local level. 

 The Royal College of Physicians is championing the development 
of the role of clinicians for prevention and treatment of obesity. 

 Changes in national commissioning arrangements for severe and 
complex obesity are a catalyst for local co-design of the obesity 
pathway. 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 21 
 

 

 

6. Treatment: Evidence Base 
 
6.1 The Royal College of Physicians (RCP) has raised concerns about the increasing 

number of people with extreme levels of obesity (30).  They state that this level of 
obesity is more likely to be associated with multiple medical, psychological, and social 
problems and markedly reduced life expectancy. They highlight the impact of 
psychological problems, depression and poor quality of life; these problems also 
impact on the efficacy of any interventions. This has certainly been the experience of 
specialist obesity providers in Kent. 
 

6.2 The RCP describes the role of an MDT (multidisciplinary team) as including helping the 
patient in making cognitive and behavioural changes, providing dietary evaluation, 
interpretation and advice on change, physical activity assessment and advice, possibly 
prescription, and signposting, psychological treatment and bariatric surgery.  
 

6.3 NICE (36) has concluded that the strongest evidence base for any interventions is for 
bariatric surgery because the effect is immediate.  However, the RCP review raises 
concerns about the degree to which guidelines are followed and stresses the need for 
lifelong follow up to ensure success with weight loss after bariatric surgery, weight loss 
maintenance, improvement in comorbidities, and reduction and management of 
potential complications of surgery.  The British Obesity and Metabolic Surgery Society 
recommend that after the hospital two year follow-up period that the patient is referred 
back to the Tier 3 specialist service (37), this is not commissioned in Kent. 
 

6.4 The importance of prevention 
Clearly there is a need for services to support, manage and treat the increasing 
number of patients with severe and complex obesity but it is important that such 
conditions are as far as possible prevented.  A population approach to increasing 
physical activity, ensuring that people can access a healthy diet and also addressing 
some of the underlying causes, through motivational interviewing or talking therapies is 
needed.  Interventions should be provided for families as well as individuals (38). 
 

6.5 Everyone should take part in universally available activities that reduce energy 
consumption and increase energy expenditure.  The 2011 report from the Chief 
Medical Officers for England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland sets out physical 
activity recommendations for different groups (39). For adults: 'over a week, activity 
should add up to at least 150 minutes (2 ½ hours) of moderate-intensity activity, in 
bouts of 10 minutes or more'. One way to approach this is to do 30 minutes on at least 
five days a week. Children and young people should take part in moderate- to 
vigorous-intensity physical activity for at least 60 minutes.  Children under five should 
be active for three hours every day. 
 

6.6 Everyone should follow a dietary pattern that is mainly based on vegetables, fruits, 
beans and pulses, whole grains and fish. NICE (40) recommends that this is done by 
reducing how often energy dense foods and drinks (such as fried foods, biscuits, 
savoury snacks, confectionery and drinks made with full fat milk or cream) are eaten 
substituting energy dense items with foods and drinks with a lower energy density 
(such as fruit and vegetables or water instead of fizzy drinks and juice), using food and 
drink labels to choose options lower in fat and sugar and choosing smaller portions or 
avoiding additional servings of energy dense foods.  The Eatwell Plate (41) is still 
recommended as the best balance for a healthy diet, although this is under review.  



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 22 
 

 

The impact on weight of alcohol should also be addressed.  
 

6.7 The Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) is the source for advice to 
national bodies and government departments and has recently published a report with 
revised recommendations for the consumption of carbohydrates (42). SACN 
recommends that: 
 

• The average population intake of free sugars should account for no more than 
5% of daily dietary energy intake, half of the current recommendation of 10%. 

• The current recommendation that carbohydrates, should form approximately 
50% of daily calorie intake is maintained. 

• Those aged 16 and over increase their intake of fibre to 30g a day, 25g for 11- 
to 15 -year-olds, 20g for 5- to 11-year-olds and 15g for 2- to 5-year olds. 

• Sugar sweetened beverages should be minimized for children and adults. 
 

6.8 Interventions should be tailored to the user(s) and provide on-going support, including 
where possible a motivational interviewing approach.  The physical activity component 
of interventions should focus on activities that fit easily into people’s everyday lives and 
should aim to improve people’s belief in their ability to change. 
 

6.9 The dietary approach to weight loss is that total energy intake should be less than 
energy expenditure. Diets that have a 600 kcal/day deficit or a low-fat diet are 
recommended (43). Low-calorie diets (1000–1600 kcal/day) may also be considered, but 
are less likely to be nutritionally complete. Low glycaemic index or load diets can be 
effective.  Both behaviour therapy and cognitive behaviour therapy have been found to 
be effective. 
 

6.10 Weight Management Programmes 
Commercial and community-based weight management programmes should only be 
commissioned if they follow best practice issued by NICE (44).  All programmes should 
have on-going monitoring of patients and provision of support and care. To do this 
Kent providers should work closely with Clinical Commissioning Groups and medical 
practices.   
 

6.11 Weight loss targets should be based on the individual’s comorbidities and risks, rather 
than their weight alone.  Previous guidance has stated that in patients with BMI 25-35 
kg/m² a 5-10% weight loss (approximately 5-10 kgs) is required for cardiovascular 
disease and metabolic risk reduction.  In patients with BMI>35 kg/m² obesity-related 
comorbidities are likely to be present therefore weight loss interventions should be 
targeted to improving these comorbidities; in many individuals a greater than 15-20% 
weight loss (will always be over 10 kg) will be required to obtain a sustained 
improvement in comorbidity health (45). 
 

6.12 Recent NICE guidance (43) stresses that even a small amount of weight loss may be 
beneficial if it is maintained over a lifetime.  Support for people to maintain weight loss 
needs to be considered as part of the pathway.  Using existing community assets 
needs to be considered but within a longer term supportive framework. 
 

6.13 Special groups 
NICE guidance (46) tells us that well designed and evidence-based interventions are 
likely to be applicable to most population groups. However, some population groups 
may require specific tailored interventions, examples include: during and after 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 23 
 

 

pregnancy; menopause; while stopping smoking; ‘pre-diabetes’; black and minority 
ethnic groups (52); low income groups; disabled people. 
 

6.14 Women who are planning to become pregnant should be advised of the benefits of 
losing weight prior to pregnancy (47). They should not be advised to lose weight during 
pregnancy.  Women who have a BMI >30 should be informed about the increased risks 
to herself and her baby and advised that losing weight after pregnancy will have no 
adverse effects.  Pregnant women should be given advice about healthy eating and 
undertaking moderate intensity physical activity of 30 minutes duration. NICE guidance 
recommends that all women with a BMI >30 are referred to a dietician. 
 

6.15 Integrated approaches 
NICE guideline (CG43) states “It is unlikely that the problem of obesity can be 
addressed through primary care management alone. More than half the adult 
population are overweight or obese and a large proportion will need help with weight 
management. Although there is no simple solution, the most effective strategies for 
prevention and management share similar approaches. The clinical management of 
obesity cannot be viewed in isolation from the environment in which people live” (48). 
 

6.16 It recommends that local authorities should work with local partners, such as industry 
and voluntary organisations, to create and manage more safe spaces for incidental 
and planned physical activity, addressing as a priority any concerns about safety, crime 
and inclusion.  They should provide facilities and schemes such as cycling and walking 
routes, cycle parking, area maps and safe play areas, making streets cleaner and 
safer, through measures such as traffic calming, congestion charging, pedestrian 
crossings, cycle routes, lighting and walking schemes; ensuring buildings and spaces 
are designed to encourage people to be more physically active. 
 

6.17 Nurseries and other childcare facilities should: minimise sedentary activities during play 
time, and provide regular opportunities for enjoyable active play and structured 
physical activity sessions. 
 

6.18 Head teachers and chairs of governors, in collaboration with parents and pupils, should 
assess the whole school environment and ensure that the ethos of all school policies 
help children and young people to maintain a healthy weight, eat a healthy diet and be 
physically active.  This includes policies relating to building layout and recreational 
spaces, catering (including vending machines) and the food and drink children bring 
into school, the taught curriculum (including PE), guidance on food procurement and 
healthy catering.  Consideration should also be given to reducing the time children 
spend sitting in lessons, (some encouraging work is currently being done in Norway). 
 

6.19 Workplaces should provide opportunities for staff to eat a healthy diet and be 
physically active.  This includes active and continuous promotion of healthy choices in 
restaurants, hospitality, vending machines and shops for staff and clients.  This should 
be in line with existing guidance on working practices and policies - such as active 
travel policies for staff and visitors, a supportive physical environment such as 
improvements to stairwells, and providing showers and secure cycle parking.  
Recreational opportunities such as supporting out-of-hours social activities, lunchtime 
walks and use of local leisure facilities should be provided. 
 

6.20 Policy makers, commissioners, managers, practitioners and other professionals 
working in local authorities, the NHS and the wider public, private, voluntary and 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 24 
 

 

community sectors should be supporting local communities on developing preventive 
approaches to tackle obesity (49). 
 

6.21  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Summary 
 

 Clinicians are seeing more people with more complex needs for 
which specialist services which include an MDT are necessary. 

 Interventions should have physical activity, nutrition and 
behaviour change components. 

 Interventions for some specific groups will be needed, for 
example: during and after pregnancy; during menopause; while 
stopping smoking; ‘pre-diabetes’; black and minority ethnic 
groups; low income groups; disabled people.  Programmes that 
specifically target those with a learning disability will need 
Easy-read publicity as a matter of course.  Services need to be 
equipped to seek out these population groups and to design 
interventions that specifically meet their needs and are 
delivered in venues that are likely to be attended by the target 
groups, for example faith centres. 

 Community based weight management interventions should 
ideally achieve a 5-10% reduction in body weight but should 
achieve at least an average 3% reduction in weight, with an 
understanding that a lower level of weight loss maintained over 
a life time may be a more realistic goal. 

 All settings have a role to promote preventive measures. 

 Further research is needed on methodologies for sustaining 
weight loss achieved over a lifetime. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 25 
 

 

7. Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 
 
7.1 Background 

NHS Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) serves a 
population of approximately 250,000.  The CCG projects that by 2013 there will be a 
population increase of 11%, not including the 15,000 new homes expected in the new 
development at Ebbsfleet Garden City.  There will be a 49% increase in the 85+ 
population and the CCG predicts that 60% of its hospital funding will be spent on 
treating older people with complex needs and multiple health conditions.  It has 
therefore put prevention, tackling childhood obesity and tackling health inequalities at 
the heart of its Five Year Plan (50). 
 

7.2 The majority of patients will access acute hospital provision at Darent Valley Hospital 
provided by the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust.  Community services are 
provided at the Livingstone Hospital in Dartford and the Gravesham Community 
Hospital in Gravesend. There are 34 GP practices in Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley, including the White Horse Walk-in Centre in Northfleet.  There are 52 
pharmacies, 32 dental practices, 15 children’s centres and 45 schools (51). These are 
all potential settings for interventions, but will require investment in training and 
education programmes to enable this to happen. 
 

7.3 Adult obesity in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG 
 
Dartford Gravesham and Swanley has a higher than the England average prevalence of 
adult obesity (52) 
 
Table 1: Adult obesity rates in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley  
 

Adult obesity 2014 % 

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG 28.1 

England 24.1 

England worst 30.9 

Public Health England CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 
 
It also has lower than the national average numbers of people with a healthy diet 
 
Table 2: Adult healthy eating rates in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 
 

Adult healthy eating 2014 % 

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG 25.7 

England 28.7 

England worst 19.4 

Public Health England Neighbourhood Health Profiles 
 
 

7.4 The recorded QoF data shows prevalence of obesity by practice.  Obesity is not 
generally well recorded in primary care. 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 26 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Figure 1: Prevalence of obesity in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley practices 
 

 
 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

7.5 As already described, obesity contributes to a number of serious and preventable 
conditions including Type 2 diabetes, Obesity accounts for 44% of people with diabetes. 
The following chart shows the prevalence of diabetes by practice within Dartford 
Gravesham and Swanley CCG.  
 
Figure 2: Prevalence of Diabetes in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley practices  



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 27 
 

 

 
 
 

7.6 Figure 3 shows the rates of diabetes admission by Clinical Commissioning Groups 
across Kent and Medway.  Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG has the third highest 
rate across Kent and Medway. 

 
Figure 3: Admission rates for diabetes in CCGs in Kent and Medway 2011/12-
2013/14 
 

 
 

7.7 Childhood obesity in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 
The data that is available for childhood obesity is taken from the National Child 
Measurement Programme.  In Kent the school nursing teams measure children at 4-5 
years (reception) and at 10-11 years (year 6).  In 2013/14 94.9% of eligible children 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 28 
 

 

were measured. 

 
7.8 In 2012/13, within Kent the proportion of obese reception year children was highest in 

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley.  This reduced in 2013/14 but is still higher than the 
Kent average. 
 
Figure 4: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 

 

 
 

7.9 Across Kent trends are showing some signs of plateauing in year 6 from 2011-2014 
whilst Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG shows an increase from 2011-12 to 
2012-13 and a small decrease to 2013/14, but overall an increase over the three years. 
Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and Swale have the highest rates in Kent. 
 
Figure 5: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/14 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 29 
 

 

 
 

7.10 Figure 6 below shows the trends between the local authorities within Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley and Maidstone compared with Kent and England for reception 
year.  Rates in all areas are showing signs of reducing but not to the extent of 
Maidstone. 
 
Figure 6: Prevalence of obesity in reception year children, ages 4-5, persons, 
2006/07 to 2012/13 by local authority 

 
 
 

7.11 Reporting by districts often masks the differences between areas and these can be 
seen in the Health and Social Care maps in Appendix 1.  Figure 12 below shows the 
differences in trends between the wards of Sevenoaks that are part of Sevenoaks 
district.  Swanley in particular has a very different demography compared to the district 
as a whole and the differences are reflected in the obesity data. Crockenhill and Well 
Hill show rates that are reducing considerably year on year from 2009/10, generally the 
more rural area rates are reducing and the urban areas are increasing. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 30 
 

 

 
Figure 7: Prevalence of obesity in reception year children, ages 4-5, persons, 
2009/10 to 2012/13, Swanley and Northern Parishes, Sevenoaks District. 

 
 
 

7.12 Figure 8 below shows the trend in year 6 obesity rates in local authority areas which 
provide evidence of plateauing over the last year. 
 
Figure 8:  Prevalence of obesity in year six children, ages 10-11, persons, 2006/07 

to 2013/14 by local authority. 

 

7.13 Figure 9 below shows the trend for the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley wards at year 
6.  This shows a different pattern to reception year data with Crockenhill and Well Hill 
and other rural area rates increasing and the more urban areas decreasing 2012/13 to 
2013/14. 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 9: Prevalence of obesity in year six children, ages 10-11, persons, 2009/10 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 31 
 

 

to 2012/13, Swanley and Northern Parishes, Sevenoaks District. 
  

 
 
 

7.14 Services available to tackle obesity in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley for 
children and families 
Intervention during the early years of life is described in the Healthy Child programme.  
Health visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal offer and provide 
public health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating and physical 
activity to parents and carers and their young families.  Across Kent, the ’Born to Move’ 
initiative is a Health Visitor led project to raise awareness of the importance of human 
interaction between parent /carer and infant or child to enable optimal development, 
physically and emotionally which may have some  impact on childhood obesity.  
Children Centre staff have a responsibility for creating an environment that promotes 
healthy eating and physical activity and this is part of an agreement between Public 
Health and the Children’s Centre which is subject to monitoring and audit. 
 

7.15 At Tier 1 there are a number of initiatives commissioned by Public Health in Kent 
County Council that are delivered in Children’s Centres.  These include the Community 
Chef provided by Healthy Living Centres in Dartford and Gravesham.  
 

7.16 The school nursing team operates an open referral process - they receive referrals from 
other professionals e.g. GPs, schools and health visitors, in addition to parents/carers 
and young people self -referring.  Following referral they undertake a package of care 
i.e. four contacts with a child/young person, in addition they can refer to dieticians, 
paediatricians, Kent Community Health Foundation Trust and borough council 
community healthy living/exercise programmes which vary across Kent.  
 

7.17 The School Nurse Team undertakes the National Child Measurement Programme in 
years 6 and reception and offer support to parents following receipt of the result letters. 
They work closely with the local Health and Wellbeing Teams supporting schools and 
parents both pre- and post- the measurements. Local National Child Measurement 
Programme Groups work in partnership to support the measurement programme to 
maximise the impact of nutrition, physical activity and self-esteem enhancing 
interventions and to promote joint working and on-ward referrals. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 32 
 

 

7.18 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health Foundation Trust is currently 
working intensively with targeted schools across Kent.  In addition all schools have 
access to schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and access to school 
sports interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there are fun oriented 
programmes aimed at families with children of junior school age in all district localities in 
Kent.  This is an example of what is offered: 
 
• Year 6 Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Year R Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Weighing and measuring (School nurses) Yr. 6  Yr. R    
• Assemblies for promoting targeted lifestyle programme 
• Parent engagement event 
• Follow up support offer from Don’t Sit, Get Fit following NCMP result letter 
• Targeted lifestyles programme rolled out 
• Sports days event(s)  
• Healthy School Enhancement Model achievement. 
 

7.19 As well as providing Don’t Sit, Get Fit interventions in schools and the community 
supported by the nutritionist, Dartford Borough Council provides the Dynamo Club for 
families with children above the 91st centile.  In 2013/14 12 children and their families 
were engaged in this programme. 
 

7.20 The Gr@nd Healthy Living Centre in Gravesham provides the 12 week Family Healthy 
Weight programme which engaged 60 participants from 35 families in 2013/14.  It also 
provides less intensive interventions through the Don’t Sit, Get Fit programme.  A 
nutritionist from Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust works across Dartford and 
Gravesham to provide nutritionist support to these programmes. 
 

7.21 Sevenoaks District Council runs a Fun Fit and Active programme which is delivered in 
five schools.  In 2013/14 it ran three programmes for 23 families.  In addition to the 12 
week programme the team undertook whole school workshops within schools on 
healthy eating and physical activities which engaged 1,300 children. 
 

7.22 Acute and community Paediatric Dietetic services are provided in the  Dartford 
Gravesham and Swanley CCG area by the Nutrition and Dietetic Department within the 
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust.  The acute service is provided at Darent Valley 
Hospital and the Community base is at Archery House, also in Dartford.  Their draft 
weight management referral pathway for children describes interventions at 75th -91st 
centile, above the 91st centile and above the 98th centile.  
 

7.23 At lower BMIs the service recommends a discussion about readiness to change and 
brief advice which may result in a referral to the Don’t Sit Get Fit Family Weight 
Management Programme (DSGF) or to a hospital based clinic if necessary.  Children 
with a BMI above the 91st centile should be assessed for any co-morbidities or 
underlying conditions and then either referred to a dietician at Darent Valley Hospital or 
to DSGF.  If referred, the dieticians will undertake an initial home visit with all the family 
and provide access to their support programme.  Above the 98th centile a referral 
should be made to a registered dietician for weight management advice and also 
referred to Don’t Sit Get Fit.  Communication between the DSGF team and the dietetic 
team is good as they provide the nutritionist for the DSGF weight management 
programme. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 33 
 

 

7.24 Services available to tackle obesity in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley for 
adults 
There are a range of services and opportunities for adults for physical activity, including 
commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor and natural 
environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  Kent Sport provides an extensive 
number of cycling and walking programmes as well as supporting sports clubs.  They 
also manage coaching and volunteering programmes.  Kent County Council Public 
Health commissions and delivers Sky Ride in partnership with KCC Highways and 
Transportation and Kent Sport.  Other Kent County Council departments offering 
opportunities for physical activity include Country Parks and Explore Kent. There is a 
Cyclo Park in Gravesham, close to the A2 and Kent County Council is currently 
evaluating outdoor gyms. 
 

7.25 Healthy Living Centres in Dartford, Gravesham and a virtual centre in Sevenoaks 
provide: 
 

• opportunities for drop-in sessions on healthy eating, bring and share and recipe 
swaps, fruit and veg bags, home growing of produce and where kitchen space is 
adequate, cooking skills sessions for young parents/cook and eat sessions; 

• opportunities for indoor and outdoor physical activity through support and 
signposting to group activities such as swimming, health walks, line 
dancing/other types of dancing and various sporting activities either directly or 
through partners. This will include a new cycling fitness project; 

• a base from which health trainers can promote increased participation in 
community based projects in support of health and wellbeing. 

 
7.26 More intensive programmes for adults are provided by the Why Weight adult weight 

management programme which is run primarily in Dartford town centre at Peppercorns, 
a local community hall with a fitness studio.   Since January 2013, courses have been 
delivered in outer parishes of the borough.  
 

7.27 The Gr@nd healthy living centre in Gravesham provides a 12 week programme which 
is tailored to the needs of specific target groups including Black, Minority and Ethnic 
(BME) communities, rural groups, deprived areas and men.  At the end of the 
intervention participants are offered a free one week pass at Cascades, Cygnets or 
Swanscombe Leisure Centres and a free swimming session at Cascades or Cygnets.  
Participants are invited back to exercise sessions and signposted to free exercise or 
relevant events, and are offered reduced gym membership for 12 months.  This 
programme attracts participants of a slightly lower age than the 50 year Kent average. 
 

7.28 The Sevenoaks District run Why Weight 12 week programme which is based on the 
Counterweight model and delivered in locations based on need and deprivation in the 
district.  The adult weight management programme is run in both towns and villages, 
primarily in the leisure centre in Swanley with additional classes being run in New Ash 
Green and West Kingsdown.  In addition the Get Sorted service is based at the local 
leisure centres in the district, offering 1:1 sessions to completed Why Weight 
participants. Each participant is offered 6 x 1:1 sessions throughout the year to achieve 
their long term and short term goals.   
 

7.29 In Dartford Gravesham and Swanley, specialist community weight management 
services are currently provided by The Bariatric Consultancy called 4 healthy weight. 
These patients have severe and complex obesity and may experience delay in 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 34 
 

 

accessing other services as a result. Analysis shows that those accessing 4 healthy 
weight services have a range of over 60 conditions; many have a number of co-
morbidities. The most commonly appearing conditions are diabetes, hypertension, 
musculo-skeletal conditions, depression, polycystic ovary syndrome and respiratory 
problems. In addition, over 45% of 4 healthy weight patients have two or more 
diagnosed mental health conditions.  Tier 3 services are well used by patients in the 
CCG.  The majority of patients lose more than 5% of their body weight from this 
programme. 
 

7.30 There is no Tier 4 service provided in Kent and patients need to go outside of the 
district to access this service provided by hospitals approved by NHS England. A total 
of 168 bariatric operations were carried out on Kent patients in 2013/14; 99 of them 
referred by the Bariatric Consultancy. All surgery is undertaken in approved hospitals 
out of area. 
 
Table 3: Bariatric Admissions by Clinical Commissioning Groups 2006/07-2013/14 

 
 
 

7.31 There are some proposed national changes to commissioning that will impact on the 
future provision of Tier 3 and 4 services (31). 
 

7.32 Local data indicates that currently 21% of pregnant women have a BMI >30 and the 
rate is increasing.  Information on the risks of having a BMI >30 are provided in the 
Antenatal Care Pathway notes and women with a BMI >35 are referred to Pregnancy 
Plus education and monitoring programme run by community midwives with dietetic 
support. Women with a BMI >35 are also referred to a dietician as well as Consultant 
Led Antenatal Care and are offered screening for diabetes. A diabetes specialist 
midwife provides advice on the care of those screened at high risk of developing 
gestational diabetes.  All staff are given training and education on obesity in pregnancy 
via mandatory training programmes.  However, no maternity services meet NICE 
guidance (47) which states that all women with a BMI of 30 and above should be referred 
to a dietician. 
 

7.33 Financial considerations 
Between 2010 and 2030 health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise 
nationally by £2bn (14). The burden of costs to Kent have been very crudely calculated 
as over £55m using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of 
England  2013 population. (KMPHO)  This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of 
diabetes, 23% of heart disease and between 7%-41% of certain cancers.  A clinical 
working group (Royal College of Physicians, 2013) found that obese individuals had 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 35 
 

 

medical costs 30% higher than those with normal weight: it is estimated that 23% of 
spending on all drugs is attributable to overweight and obesity(14). 
 

7.34 Obesity will also have an increased impact on social care costs and an estimated 16 
million days of sickness absence a year are attributable to obesity. Obese people are 
less likely to be in employment than people of a healthy weight. The associated welfare 
costs are estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion (59). The NHS and local 
authority are major employers so this will impact on their available workforce.   
 

7.35 The working group determined that treatment is cost effective and in some cases it 
costs less to provide it than not. Targeting treatment at those most likely to benefit will 
further enhance cost efficacy.  The time period for assessing cost efficacy may be 
extended compared to some other areas of health intervention and this requires 
commissioning authorities to have an appropriate long-term view on the value of obesity 
treatment. 
 

7.36 Kent County Council Public Health invests approximately £3m in obesity and physical 
activity, which is approximately 5% of the budget across Kent.  It is difficult to quantify 
the impact of reductions to the public health grant 2015/16. 
 

7.37 Figure 11: Spending by KCC Public Health 2015/16 
 

 
 

7.38 Public consultations 
In 2014 a consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their 
own circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help 
people stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in 
standard and easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for 
promotion.  Six hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size 
required.  A copy of the questionnaire in in Appendix 3 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 36 
 

 

Table 4: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 

  
 

7.39 A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It 
was completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-
24 in a youth setting.  It was also posted on SurveyMonkey.  In total there were 178 
responses.  The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages 
would be through TV adverts. To enable families to be more active free gym passes 
and family activities should be provided so that they get more exercise. They also 
thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was a need to promote 
messages such as the five a day campaign. In order to deliver these messages young 
people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to promote the 
messages would encourage families to act.  Young people think that it is important to be 
educated and given information about being overweight, or how to avoid putting on 
weight. The channels for this should be social media such as Facebook. Access to free 
gyms or exercise groups was also a highly suggested recommendation. 

 
7.40 Stakeholder Views - the Big Weight Debate summary 

 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 
 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common 
goals and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put measures 
into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, 
social and fun 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 
needs  



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 37 
 

 

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 
interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 
motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 
interventions.  

 
The full report is provided in Appendix 6. 
 

7.41 Views from general practice 
Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded 
to a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to 
issues of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP 
said that in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and 
solutions.  Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the 
professional relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are 
not coming to primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the 
consultation to discuss obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service 
provision that is in place, particularly for families but also that there was longer term, 
non-surgical psychological based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other 
professional support that was mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health 
visitors and surgery.   
 

7.42 One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one 
and cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the 
total country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that 
people often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to take 
action.  An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  Ideas that 
were given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based 
programmes, starting early i.e. antenatally, providing  fun accessible programmes for 
children and young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise 
programmes and  looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where 
responsibility lies for tackling childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public 
health, GPs or schools and called for a more integrated approach across local authority, 
social care and NHS and that cultural change was more important than pathways. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 38 
 

 

7.43  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Summary 
 

 Dartford Gravesham and Swanley have high levels of adult and 
childhood obesity compared to England. 

 NHS Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG are committed to 
prevention and have prioritised childhood obesity and tackling 
health inequalities. 

 The needs of Swanley and the northern parishes need to be seen 
independently of the Sevenoaks profile. 

 Two community hospitals, 34 GP practices, 32 dental practices, 
52 pharmacies, 15 children’s centres and 45 schools as well as 
NHS and local authority workplaces are key settings for 
prevention. 

 Family weight management services are provided but are under-
used and there is little provision for teenagers. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance as not all eligible 
women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway in place for both adults and 
children and young people. 

 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 39 
 

 

8. West Kent 
 
8.1 Background 

NHS West Kent Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) provides services for Maidstone, 
Tunbridge Wells, Tonbridge and part of Sevenoaks District. The population of West 
Kent CCG is 464,000 and although generally affluent, there are hidden pockets of 
deprivation within the West Kent health economy. The CCG are working together with 
partners to improve the experience of end of life care; improve health in the most 
disadvantaged communities; support people with mental ill health to live well; and give 
children the best start in life. Integrated prevention services accessed through a single 
point of contact to support people live healthy lives are planned for 2016.  The West 
Kent Health and Wellbeing Board have prioritised adult and child obesity in 2015 (53). 
 

8.2 The majority of West Kent patients access Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 
services in the Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells hospitals.  Community services are 
provided at Benenden, Hawkhurst, Sevenoaks and Edenbridge War Memorial Hospital. 
There are 62 GP practices in West Kent and 70 pharmacies and 68 dental practices.  
There are 22 Children’s Centres and 195 schools, including Pupil Referral Units (54). 
These are all potential settings for interventions, but will require investment in training 
and education programmes to enable this to happen. 
 

8.3 West Kent has similar rates of adult obesity to the England average (55). 
 
Table 1: Adult obesity rates in West Kent 

Adult obesity 2014 % 

West Kent CCG 24.7 

England 24.1 

England worst 30.9 
Public Health England CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 

 
It is also similar to the England adult healthy eating prevalence.  
 
Table 2: Adult healthy eating rates in West Kent 

Adult healthy eating 2014 % 

West Kent CCG 30.3 

England 28.7 

England worst 19.4 
Public Health England CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 
 

8.4 The recorded QoF data shows prevalence of obesity by GP practice.  Obesity is not 
generally well recorded in primary care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 40 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Figure 1: Prevalence of obesity in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley practices 

 
 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

8.5 As already described, obesity contributes to a number of serious and preventable 
conditions including Type 2 diabetes. Obesity accounts for 44% of people with diabetes.  
The following chart shows the prevalence of diabetes by practice within West Kent 
CCG.   
 
Figure 2: Prevalence of obesity in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley practices 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 41 
 

 

 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

8.6 Figure 3 shows the rates of diabetes admission by Clinical Commissioning Groups 
across Kent and Medway.  West Kent CCG has the lowest rate in Kent and Medway. 
 
Figure 3: Admission rates for diabetes in CCGs in Kent and Medway 
 

 
 

8.7 The data that is available for child obesity is taken from the National Child Measurement 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 42 
 

 

Programme.  In Kent the school nursing teams measure children at 4-5 years 
(reception) and at 10-11 years (year 6).  In 2013/14 94.9% of eligible children were 
measured. 
 

8.8 In 2012/13, the proportion of obese reception year children in West Kent reduced in 
2013/14 and has the lowest prevalence of any Kent CCG in Kent 2012/14. 
 
Figure 4: Year R obese children by CCG 2011/12-2013/14 
 

         
 

8.9 The Kent trend is showing some signs of plateauing from 2011-2014.  West Kent year 6 
prevalence is decreasing year or year and is better than the England average. 
 
Figure 5: Year 6 obese children by CCG 2011/12-2013/14 

       
 
Reporting by CCGs or by districts often masks the differences between areas and these 
can be seen in the Health and Social Care maps in Appendix 1.   
 

8.10 Services available to tackle obesity in West Kent for children and families 
Evidence based intervention during the early years of life is described in the Healthy 
Child programme.  Health visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 43 
 

 

offer and provide public health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating 
and physical activity to parents and carers and their young families.  Across Kent, the 
’Born to Move’ initiative is a health visitor led project to raise awareness of the 
importance of human interaction between parent /carer and infant or child to enable 
optimal development, physically and emotionally which may have some  impact on 
childhood obesity.  Children Centre staff have a responsibility for creating an 
environment that promotes healthy eating and physical activity and this is part of an 
agreement between Public Health and the Children’s Centre which is subject to 
monitoring and audit.  Other providers deliver interventions in Children’s Centres for 
example the Community Chef programme in Tunbridge Wells. 
 

8.11 The school nursing team operates an open referral process - they receive referrals from 
other professionals e.g. GPs, schools and health visitors, in addition to parents/carers 
and young people self -referring.  Following referral they would provide a package of 
care i.e. four contacts with a child/young person.  In addition they can refer to dieticians, 
paediatricians, borough and district community healthy living/exercise programmes. The 
school nurse team undertakes the National Child Measurement Programme in reception 
and year 6 and offer support to parents following receipt of the result letters. They work 
closely with the local Health and Wellbeing Teams supporting schools and parents both 
before and after the measurements. Four locality National Child Measurement 
Programme Groups work in partnership in West Kent to support the measurement 
programme to maximise the impacts of nutrition, physical activity and self-esteem 
enhancing interventions and to promote joint working and onward referrals. 
 

8.12 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health Foundation Trust is currently 
working intensively with targeted schools in West Kent.  In addition all schools have 
access to schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and access to school 
sports interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there are fun oriented 
programmes aimed at families with children of junior school age in all district localities in 
Kent.  This is an example of what is offered: 
 

• Year 6 Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Year R Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Weighing and measuring (School nurses) Yr. 6  Yr. R    
• Assemblies for promoting targeted lifestyle programme 
• Parent engagement event 
• Follow up support offer from Don’t Sit Get Fit following NCMP result letter 
• Targeted lifestyles programme rolled out 
• Sports days event(s) 
• Healthy School Enhancement Model achievement. 

 
8.13 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council provides a 10 week programme called Learn Eat and 

Play (LEAP) which includes physical activity, healthy eating and behaviour change and 
as part of this has a practical cookery session every other week. It replaced Mind, 
Exercise, Nutrition Do it! (MEND) as very few families attended. The partnership works 
across Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge and Malling and consists of a community chef, 
four nutritionists and three exercise/ dance specialists.  In the weeks before LEAP is 
planned to start, a separate four week cookery course called Cook and Eat is offered, 
this is done in much the same way as other programmes as a more acceptable 
intervention that could be a gateway to the LEAP programme.  Twenty-nine families 
took part in Cook and Eat between July 2013 and 31st March 2014 across six schools. 
Cook and Eat enrolled 27 boys and 17 girls during this time, giving them the opportunity 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 44 
 

 

to try new foods, learn some basic food preparation and cooking skills and enable them 
to meet new people. 
 

8.14 Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council also provide the LEAP programme.  From 18 
families, a total of 34 children were recruited to LEAP in 2013/14.  Tonbridge and 
Malling also has the Go for It! programme which worked with 18 children of whom eight 
had a learning disability. 
 

8.15 Sevenoaks District Council runs a Fun Fit and Active programme which is delivered in 
five schools.  In 2013/14 it ran three programmes for 23 families.  In addition to the 12 
week programme the team undertook whole school workshops within schools on 
healthy eating and physical activities which engaged 1,300 children. 
 

8.16 Maidstone Borough Council uses a programme Go For It! provided by Zeroth which is a 
12 week course run in term time using a different model to most of the other 
programmes.  The children and young people are invited to attend 20 activity sessions.  
These include a mix of activities to improve strength, cardiovascular fitness, flexibility 
and motor skills through studio based activities, team games and working out in the 
Zeroth gym, if old enough.  For every child registered, at least one parent/guardian had 
to commit to attending the adult workshops.  Topics for the adults include: healthy 
eating; food labelling; activity levels; behaviour and health. Parents were encouraged to 
be a positive role model, and not to be afraid of change.  In 2013/14 31 children aged 
four-11 and 22 children aged 12+ attended the programme. 
 

8.17 There are no dedicated weight management programmes designed for older children. It 
is likely that the needs of older children will become more complex and therefore would 
benefit from a more specialised service. 
 

8.18 There are no dedicated Tier 3 services for children in Kent; therefore access to a 
specialist dietician is important.  This access is variable across Kent.  Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust provides consultant only referrals for children who have 
diabetes. Children with obesity (only) will be seen by the paediatric dieticians employed 
by Kent Community Healthcare Foundation Trust (KCHFT).  The KCFHT paediatric 
team has a 0.2 w.t.e.team leader with two paediatric dieticians and one assistant 
working across Kent.  The team provides the totality of dietetic services for children in 
the whole of West Kent and East Kent (not Dartford Gravesham and Swanley).  In West 
Kent there are two weekly clinics run in the hospital for consultant only referrals and one 
clinic for GP referrals from the Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells area only.   
 

8.19 Services available to tackle obesity in West Kent for adults 
There are a range of services and opportunities for adults for physical activity, including 
commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor and natural 
environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  Kent Sport provides an extensive 
number of cycling and walking programmes as well as supporting sports clubs.  They 
also manage coaching and volunteering programmes.  Kent County Council Public 
Health commissions and delivers Sky Ride in partnership with KCC Highways and 
Transportation and Kent Sport.  Other Kent County Council departments offering 
opportunities for physical activity include Country Parks and Explore Kent. Kent County 
Council is currently evaluating the effectiveness of outdoor gyms. 
 

8.20 Healthy Living Centres provide the following for adults: 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 45 
 

 

• opportunities for drop-in sessions on healthy eating, bring and share and recipe 
swaps, fruit and veg bags, home growing of produce and where kitchen space is 
adequate, cooking skills sessions for young parents/cook and eat sessions; 

• opportunities for indoor and outdoor physical activity through support and 
signposting to group activities such as swimming, health walks, line 
dancing/other sorts of dancing and various sporting activities either directly or 
through partners. This will include a new cycling fitness project; 

• a base from which health trainers can promote increased participation in 
community based projects in support of health and wellbeing. 

 
8.21 More intensive programmes for adults are provided by the districts and borough 

councils.  The Sevenoaks Why Weight 12 week programme is based on the 
Counterweight model and delivered in locations based on need and deprivation in the 
district.  The adult weight management programme is run in both towns and villages, 
primarily in leisure centres in Sevenoaks and Edenbridge.  
 

8.22 The Sevenoaks Get Sorted service is based at the local leisure centres in the district, 
offering 1:1 sessions to completed Why Weight participants. Each participant is offered 
6 x 1:1 sessions throughout the year to achieve their long term and short term goals.   
Why Weight adult weight management programme which is run primarily in Dartford 
town centre at Peppercorns, a local community hall with a fitness studio.  Since January 
2013, courses have been delivered in outer parishes of the borough. 
 

8.23 Maidstone Borough Council and Tonbridge and Malling offers the Counterweight 
programme aimed at giving people the skills to manage their weight for life and a 10 
week adult weight management programme run by Maidstone Leisure Centre.  
Maidstone Leisure Centre provides a programme that includes weekly seminars, weigh-
ins, exercise classes, gym sessions and a supermarket trip identifying what foods to 
buy to manage weight. 
 

8.24 The Sevenoaks District run Why Weight 12 week programme is based on the 
Counterweight model and delivered in locations based on need and deprivation in the 
district.  The adult weight management programme is run in both towns and villages, 
primarily in the leisure centre in Swanley with additional classes being run in New Ash 
Green and West Kingsdown.  In addition the Get Sorted service is based at the local 
leisure centres in the district, offering 1:1 sessions to completed Why Weight 
participants. Each participant is offered 6 x 1:1 sessions throughout the year to achieve 
their long term and short term goals.   
 

8.25 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council provide a 10 week programme at venues across the 
borough called Weight for It. 
 

8.26 For people with severe and complex obesity, specialist community weight management 
services are currently provided by the Bariatric Consultancy known as 4 healthy weight. 
Many of these patients have complex needs and may experience delay in accessing 
other services as a result. Analysis shows that those accessing 4 healthy weight 
services have a range of over 60 conditions; many have a number of co-morbidities. 
The most commonly appearing conditions are diabetes, hypertension, musculo-skeletal 
conditions, depression, polycystic ovary syndrome and respiratory problems. In 
addition, over 45% of 4 healthy weight patients have two or more diagnosed mental 
health conditions.  Tier 3 services are well used by patients in the CCG.  The majority of 
patients lose more than 5% of their body weight whilst on this programme. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 46 
 

 

 
8.27 There is no Tier 4 service provided in Kent and patients need to go outside of the 

district to access this service. A total of 168 bariatric operations were carried out on 
Kent patients in 2013/14; 99 of them referred by the Bariatric Consultancy. All surgery is 
undertaken in approved hospitals out of area. 
 
Table 3: Bariatric Admissions by Clinical Commissioning Groups 2006/07-2013/14 
 

 
 

8.28 There are some proposed national changes to commissioning that will impact on the 
future provision of Tier 3 and 4 services (31). 
 

8.29 Provision of support for managing weight in pregnancy is variable across Kent.  It is of 
concern that no Kent Trusts meet NICE guidance (47) for referring all women with a BMI 
of 30 or more to a specialist dietician. In West Kent maternity services are provided by 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust.  
 

8.30 Women can expect to have their height, weight and BMI recorded at booking.  Within 
the notes there is a separate section to record the care plan for women with a BMI >30. 
There are two midwives with a special interest in healthy weight each of who have a 
total of six hrs protected time per week to fulfil this role (taken from existing midwifery 
establishment). These midwives run Healthy Weight Clinics for all women with a BMI 
>35. Women with a BMI >40 are referred to an obstetrician, anaesthetist and dietician. 
There are also two specialist diabetes midwives who have a total of 11.25 hrs per week 
of protected time to provide support to women with or at risk of developing diabetes. No 
specific information or advice on diet and exercise is included in the notes but the 
Start4Life leaflet, a copy of the NHS Direct page on Health in Pregnancy (includes 
information on diet & exercise) & the A-Z of Pregnancy & Nutrition are included in 
antenatal packs. 
 

8.31 Financial considerations 
Between 2010 and 2030 health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise 
nationally by £2bn (14). The burden of costs to Kent have been very crudely calculated 
as over £55m using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of 
England 2013 population. (KMPHO) This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of 
diabetes, 23% of heart disease and between 7% and 41% of certain cancers.  A clinical 
working party (Royal College of Physicians) found that obese individuals had medical 
costs 30% higher than those with normal weight: it is estimated that 23% of spending on 
all drugs is attributable to overweight and obesity (30). 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 47 
 

 

8.32 Obesity will also have an increased impact on social care costs and an estimated 16 
million days of sickness absence a year are attributable to obesity. Obese people are 
less likely to be in employment than people of a healthy weight. The associated welfare 
costs are estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion (14). The NHS and local 
authority are major employers so this will impact on their available workforce.   
 

8.33 The working group determined that treatment is cost effective and in some cases it 
costs less to provide it than not. Targeting treatment at those most likely to benefit will 
further enhance cost efficacy.  The time period for assessing cost efficacy may be 
extended compared to some other areas of health intervention and this requires 
commissioning authorities to have an appropriate long-term view on the value of obesity 
treatment. 
 

8.34 Kent County Council Public Health invests approximately £3m in obesity and physical 
activity, which is approximately 5% of the budget. It is within a block contract which 
means funding by area and by intervention is difficult to disaggregate. 
 

8.35 Figure 6: Spending by KCC Public Health 2015/16 

 
 
 

8.36 Public consultations 
In 2014 a consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their 
own circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help 
people stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in 
standard and easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for 
promotion.  Six hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size 
required.   
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 48 
 

 

Table 4: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 
 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 

  
 

8.37 A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It 
was completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-
24 in a youth setting.  It was also posted on SurveyMonkey.  In total there were 178 
responses.  The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages 
would be through TV adverts. To enable families to be more active free gym passes 
and family activities should be provided so that they get more exercise.  
 
They also thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was a need to 
promote messages such as the five a day campaign. In order to deliver these 
messages young people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to 
promote the messages would encourage families to act.  Young people think that it is 
important to be educated and given information about being overweight, or how to avoid  
putting on weight. The channels for this should be social media such as Facebook. 
Access to free gyms or exercise groups was also a highly suggested recommendation. 
 

8.38 Stakeholder Views-The Big Weight Debate Summary 
 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 
 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common 
goals and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put measures 
into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, 
social and fun 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 49 
 

 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 
needs  

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 
interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 
motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 
interventions.  

 
8.39 Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded 

to a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to 
issues of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP 
said that in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and 
solutions.  Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the 
professional relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are 
not coming to primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the 
consultation to discuss obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service 
provision that is in place, particularly for families but also that there was longer term, 
non-surgical psychological based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other 
professional support that was mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health 
visitors and surgery.   
 

8.40 One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one 
and cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the 
total country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that 
people often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to take 
action.  An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  Ideas that 
were given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based 
programmes, starting early i.e. antenatally, providing fun accessible programmes for 
children and young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise 
programmes and  looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where 
responsibility lies for tackling childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public 
health, GPs or schools and called for a more integrated approach across local authority, 
social care and NHS and that cultural change was more important than pathways. 
 

8.41  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 NHS West Kent CCG has comparable or better levels of adult and 
child obesity compared to England. 

 NHS West Kent CCG are committed to prevention and have 
prioritised childhood obesity and tackling health inequalities. 

 Five hospitals, 62 GP practices, 70 pharmacies and 68 dental 
practices, 22 Children’s Centres and 195 schools as well as NHS 
and local authority workplaces are key settings for prevention. 

 Family weight management services are under-used and there are 
few opportunities for teenagers. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance and not all eligible 
women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a complete 
healthy weight pathway in place for both adults and children and 
young people. 
 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 50 
 

 

 
 
 
 

9. Ashford 
 
9.1 Background 

NHS Ashford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) provides services for a population 
of 122,000 people. The CCG are working together with partners on a five year plan to 
achieve NHS England ambitions which include improving the quality of life of people 
with long term conditions, preventing hospital admissions and increasing life 
expectancy.  One of four CCG priorities is reducing health inequalities. The Ashford 
Health and Wellbeing Board have taken a keen interest in adult and child obesity in 
2015 (56). 
 

9.2 The majority of Ashford patients access hospital services from the William Harvey 
Hospital which is part of the East Kent Hospitals University Foundation NHS Trust.  
There are no community hospitals in Ashford.  There are 15 GP practices in Ashford, 19 
pharmacies and 14 dental practices.  There are six Children’s Centres and 51 schools, 
including Pupil Referral Units. (57) 
 

9.3 Ashford has worse rates of adult obesity compared to the England average.  Rates are 
highest in Beaver, Stanhope, Norman and Aylesford Green wards. 
Table: 1 Adult obesity in Ashford CCG 
 

Adult obesity 2014 % 

Ashford CCG 27 

England 24.1 

England worst 30.9 

Public Health England  CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 
 
Ashford has similar rates to the England for adult healthy eating prevalence. (58) 
 
Table 2: Adult healthy eating in Ashford CCG 
 

Adult healthy eating 2014 % 

Ashford CCG 27.4 

England 28.7 

England worst 19.4 

Public Health England Neighbourhood Profiles 
 

9.4 The recorded QoF data shows prevalence of obesity by GP practice.  Obesity is not 
generally well recorded in primary care. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 51 
 

 

 
 Figure 1: Prevalence of obesity in Ashford practices 

 

 
 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

9.5 As already described, obesity contributes to a number of serious and preventable 
conditions including Type 2 diabetes, Obesity accounts for 44% of people with diabetes 
nationally.  The following chart shows the prevalence of diabetes by practice within 
Ashford CCG. 
 
Figure 2: Prevalence and diabetes in Ashford practices   

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 52 
 

 

 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

9.6 Figure 3 shows the rates of diabetes admission by Clinical Commissioning Groups 
across Kent and Medway.  Ashford CCG has average rates of diabetes compared to 
Kent and Medway. 
 
Figure 3: Admission rates for diabetes in CCGs in Kent and Medway 2011/12-
2013/14 
 

 
 

9.7 Childhood obesity in Ashford 
The data that is available for child obesity is taken from the National Child Measurement 
Programme.  In Kent the school nursing teams measure children at 4-5 years 
(reception) and at 10-11 years (year 6).  In 2013/14 94.9% of eligible children were 
measured. 
 

9.8 In 2012/13, the proportion of obese reception year children in Ashford has grown year 
on year from 2011/2012- 2013/2014.  
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 53 
 

 

 
 Figure 4: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 

 

 
 

9.9 The Kent trend is showing some signs of plateauing from 2011-14.  Ashford CCG year 
6 obesity prevalence was decreasing from 2011/12-2012/13 but increased in 2013/14.  
Ashford prevalence is higher than the Kent average. 
 
Figure 5: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013-2014 
 

 
 
Reporting by CCGs or by districts often masks the differences between areas and these 
can be seen in the Health and Social Care maps in Appendix 1.   



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 54 
 

 

 
9.10 Services available in Ashford to tackle obesity for children and families 

Evidence based intervention during the early years of life is described in the Healthy 
Child programme.  Health visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal 
offer and provide public health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating 
and physical activity to parents and carers and their young families.  Across Kent, the 
’Born to Move’ initiative is a health visitor led project originally piloted in Ashford which 
aims to raise awareness of the importance of human interaction between parent /carer 
and infant or child to enable optimal development, physically and emotionally which 
may have some  impact on childhood obesity.  Children Centre staff have a 
responsibility for creating an environment that promotes healthy eating and physical 
activity and this is part of an agreement between Public Health and the Children’s 
Centres which is subject to monitoring and audit. 
 

9.11 At Tier 1 there are a number of initiatives commissioned by Public Health in Kent 
County Council that are delivered by Kent Community Health Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) which include Food Champions.   KCHFT have previously delivered training 
on consistent messages for both physical activity and healthy eating including the 
Acorns to Oaks training which was to support Children’s Centre staff to raise the issue 
of weight and be able to support families locally.   
 

9.12 The school nursing team operates an open referral process - they receive referrals from 
various other professionals e.g. GPs, schools and health visitors, in addition to 
parents/carers and young people self -referring.  Following referral they would provide a 
package of care i.e. four contacts with a child/young person.  In addition they can refer 
to dieticians, paediatricians, healthy living/exercise programmes. The School Nurse 
Team undertakes the National Child Measurement Programme in reception and year 6 
and offer support to parents following receipt of the result letters. A locality National 
Child Measurement Programme Group strives to work in partnership across Ashford to 
support the measurement programme to maximise the impacts of nutrition, physical 
activity and self-esteem enhancing interventions and to promote joint working and on-
ward referrals. 
 

9.13 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health Foundation Trust is currently 
working intensively with targeted schools in Ashford.  In addition all schools have 
access to schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and access to school 
sports interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there are fun oriented 
programmes aimed at families with primary school aged children. This is an example of 
what is offered: 
 

• Year 6 Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Year R Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Weighing and measuring (School nurses) Yr. 6  Yr. R    
• Assemblies for promoting targeted lifestyle programme 
• Parent engagement event 
• Follow up support following NCMP result letter 
• Targeted lifestyles programme rolled out 
• Sports days event(s) 
• Healthy School Enhancement Model achievement. 

 
9.14 Family weight management programmes are provided by the Healthy Weight team 

within Kent Community Healthcare Trust.  Ready Steady Go is a 12 week programme 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 55 
 

 

for families with children between seven and 11 whose weight is equal to or above the 
91st centile.  In 2013/14 across the former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT geography there 
were 82 referrals, 48 participants engaged with the service and 23 participants 
completed the course. 
 

9.15 Recruitment into these programmes is a challenge which is thought to be partly due to 
the stigma associated with having excess weight and also the low number of referrals 
from health professionals and other front line staff.  To help with recruitment and to 
provide an intervention that is more acceptable Change 4 Life Clubs have also been 
started for families with children seven-11.  These are five week interventions.  In 
2013/14 there were 126 families referred, 91 families attended and 68 families 
completed.   
 

9.16 There are no dedicated weight management programmes designed for older children. It 
is likely that the needs of older children will become more complex and therefore would 
benefit from a more specialised service. 
 

9.17 There are no dedicated Tier 3 services for children in Kent; therefore access to a 
specialist dietician is important.  This access is variable across Kent.  Each clinic has 
the capacity to see six patients. In East Kent both consultants and GPs can refer into 
the service but there is higher demand than in the former West Kent PCT area.  Across 
Kent KCHFT report waiting times of six months and this has been added to the Trust 
risk register.  The Dietetic Team has begun to work with the Healthy Weight Team to 
look at how a pathway could be designed so that children who do not need to be 
referred to a specialist service can be referred to the Tier 2 Ready Steady Go 
programmes and Change 4 Life Clubs.  Currently this would just be for children ages 
seven-11 in Ashford. 
 

9.18 Services in Ashford that are available to tackle adult obesity 
There are a range of services and opportunities for adults for physical activity, including 
commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor and natural 
environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  Kent Sport provides an extensive 
number of cycling and walking programmes as well as supporting sports clubs.  They 
also manage coaching and volunteering programmes.  Kent County Council Public 
Health commissions and delivers Sky Ride in partnership with KCC Highways and 
Transportation and Kent Sport.  Other Kent County Council departments offering 
opportunities for physical activity include Country Parks and Explore Kent. Kent County 
Council is currently evaluating the effectiveness of outdoor gyms. 
 

9.19 Public Health commissions Healthy Walks from Kent Community Health Foundation 
Trust and they also provide an opportunity for 30 people in East Kent to be trained as 
food champions.   
 

9.20 For people who need more intensive support Fresh Start is a 12 week community 
weight management scheme offering a structured integrated service to support 
overweight and obese individuals.  The aim of the scheme is to support individuals to 
achieve an average weight loss of 1-2lbs per week, with an overall loss of 5% body 
weight.  The key objectives of the scheme are: to provide support and advice on 
behaviour change; provide nutritional advice needed to alter diet; provide appropriate 
physical activity advice to increase activity levels.   
 

9.21 The Fresh Start Scheme is provided in Ashford and predominantly delivered in 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 56 
 

 

pharmacy settings.  Approximately 40 community pharmacies, eight health trainers and 
one GP surgery deliver the scheme across East Kent. 
 

9.22 All pharmacy advisers are registered to make referrals to the local Exercise Referral 
Scheme which offers a range of local leisure centre memberships.  Clients are 
encouraged to increase their activity levels during and after attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also encouraged to take up the six weeks 'Pedometer Challenge' 
and are guided on how to start and achieve this whilst attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also signposted to the free East Kent Health Walks Scheme to 
further increase their activity levels. 

9.23 For people with severe and complex obesity, specialist community weight management 
services are currently provided by the Bariatric Consultancy known as 4 healthy weight. 
Many of these patients have complex needs and may experience delay in accessing 
other services as a result of their weight. Analysis shows that those accessing 4 healthy 
weight services have a range of over 60 conditions; many have a number of co-
morbidities. The most commonly appearing conditions are diabetes, hypertension, 
musculo-skeletal conditions, depression, polycystic ovary syndrome and respiratory 
problems. In addition, over 45% of 4 healthy weight patients have two or more 
diagnosed mental health conditions.  Tier 3 services are well used by patients in the 
CCG.  The majority of patients lose more than 5% of their body weight whilst on this 
programme. 
 

9.24 There is no Tier 4 service provided in Kent and patients need to go outside of the 
district to access this service. A total of 168 bariatric operations were carried out on 
Kent patients in 2013/14; 99 of them referred by the Bariatric Consultancy. All surgery is 
undertaken in approved hospitals out of area. 
 
Table 3: Bariatric Admissions by Clinical Commissioning Groups 2006/07-2013/14 
 

 
 

9.25 There are some proposed national changes to commissioning that will impact on the 
future provision of Tier 3 and Tier 4 weight management services (31). 
 

9.26 Provision of specialist support for managing weight in pregnancy is variable across 
Kent.  It is of concern that no Kent Trusts meet NICE guidance (47) for referring all 
women with a BMI of 30 or more to a specialist dietician.  
 

9.27 Ashford women receive midwifery services from East Kent Hospitals University NHS 
Foundation Trust   A referral pathway has been established with the community 
dietician but there is a lack of consistency in acceptance of referrals.  Although BMI is 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 57 
 

 

recorded in the pregnancy notes there is no space to record referral to specialist 
services. Those women with a BMI >35 will be referred to an obstetrician and 
anaesthetist but there isn’t sufficient capacity in their clinics to see every woman.  The 
Trust has reviewed its clinical equipment to ensure it is appropriate for heavier weight 
women. The service has no midwife with a specialist interest in healthy weight/obesity. 
 

9.28 East Kent Hospitals University Foundation NHS Trust have previously been involved in 
the HELP cluster randomised control trial with Slimming World  where 598 pregnant 
women in total were recruited across maternity sites in England and Wales: of these 
598 women, 464 were followed up 12 months after their babies were born (the study's 
primary endpoint). Women being seen by the Trust can expect to have their height, 
weight and BMI recorded at booking.  Within the notes there is a separate section to 
record the care plan for women with a BMI >30. There are two midwives with a special 
interest in healthy weight each of who have a total of six hrs protected time per week to 
fulfil this role (taken from existing midwifery establishment). These midwives run 
Healthy Weight Clinics for all women with a BMI >35. Women with a BMI >40 are 
referred to an obstetrician, anaesthetist and dietician. There are also two specialist 
diabetes midwives who have a total of 11.25 hrs per week of protected time to provide 
support to women with or at risk of developing diabetes. No specific information or 
advice on diet and exercise is included in the notes but the Start4Life leaflet, a copy of 
the NHS Direct page on Health in Pregnancy (includes information on diet & exercise) & 
the A-Z of Pregnancy & Nutrition are included in ante-natal packs. 
 

9.29 Financial considerations 
From 2010-30 health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise nationally by 
£2bn (59). The burden of costs to Kent have been very crudely calculated as over £55m 
using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of England  2013 
population. (KMPHO)  This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of diabetes, 23% 
of heart disease and between 7% and 41% of certain cancers.  A clinical working group 
(Royal College of Physicians, 2013) found that obese individuals had medical costs 
30% higher than those with normal weight: it is estimated that 23% of spending on all 
drugs is attributable to overweight and obesity.(30) 
 

9.30 Obesity will also have an increased impact on social care costs and an estimated 16 
million days of sickness absence a year are attributable to obesity. Obese people are 
less likely to be in employment than people of a healthy weight. The associated welfare 
costs are estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion (14). The NHS and local 
authority are major employers so this will impact on their available workforce.   
 

9.31 The working group determined that treatment is cost effective and in some cases it 
costs less to provide it than not. Targeting treatment at those most likely to benefit will 
further enhance cost efficacy.  The time period for assessing cost efficacy may be 
extended compared to some other areas of health intervention and this requires 
commissioning authorities to have an appropriate long-term view on the value of obesity 
treatment. 
 

9.32 Kent County Council Public Health invests approximately £3m in obesity and physical 
activity, which is approximately 5% of the budget. It is within a black contract which 
means funding by area and by intervention is difficult to disaggregate. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 58 
 

 

 
 Figure 6: Spending by KCC Public Health 2015/16 

 

 
 

9.33 In 2014 a consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their 
own circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help 
people stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in 
standard and easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for 
promotion.  Six hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size 
required.   
 
Table 4: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 

  
 

9.34 A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It 
was completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-
24 in a youth setting.  It was also posted on SurveyMonkey.  In total there were 178 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 59 
 

 

responses.  The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages 
would be through TV adverts. To enable families to be more active free gym passes 
and family activities should be provided so that they get more exercise.  
 

9.35 The young people also thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was 
a need to promote messages such as the five a day campaign. In order to deliver these 
messages young people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to 
promote the messages would encourage families to act.  Young people think that it is 
important to be educated and given information about being overweight, or how to avoid  
putting on weight. The channels for this should be social media such as Facebook. 
Access to free gyms or exercise groups was also a highly suggested recommendation. 
 

9.36 Stakeholder Views - the Big Weight Debate summary 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 
 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common 
goals and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put measures 
into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, 
social and fun 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 
needs  

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 
interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 
motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 
interventions.  

 
9.37 Views from general practice 

Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded 
to a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to 
issues of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP 
said that in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and 
solutions.  Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the 
professional relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are 
not coming to primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the 
consultation to discuss obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service 
provision that is in place, particularly for families but also that there was longer term 
non-surgical psychological based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other 
professional support that was mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health 
visitors and surgery.   
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 60 
 

 

9.38 One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one 
and cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the 
total country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that 
people often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to take 
action.  An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  Ideas that 
were given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based 
programmes, starting early i.e. antenatally, providing  fun accessible programmes for 
children and young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise 
programmes and  looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where 
responsibility lies for tackling childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public 
health, GPs or schools and called for a more integrated approach across local authority, 
social care and NHS and that cultural change was more important than pathways. 
 

9.39  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 NHS Ashford CCG has comparable or better levels of child 
obesity compared to England but worse adult obesity rates. 

 NHS Ashford CCG are committed to providing better care 
for people with long term conditions, increasing life 
expectancy and tackling health inequalities. 

 William Harvey Hospital, 15 GP practices, 19 pharmacies, 
14 dental practices, 6 children’s centres and 51 schools as 
well as NHS and local authority workplaces are key settings 
for prevention but this will require training. 

 Family weight management services are under-used and 
there are very limited services available for teenagers. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance as not all 
eligible women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway in place for both adults 

and children and young people. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 61 
 

 

10. Canterbury and Coastal CCG 
 

10.1 Background 
NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG covers the City of Canterbury, the towns of 
Faversham, Whitstable, Herne Bay, Sandwich & Ash as well as surrounding rural areas 
(a population of 211,651.) There are 22 practices in Canterbury and Coastal, 15 of 
which are located in Canterbury City Council area. Four practices are located in 
Faversham within Swale Borough Council area and the other three practices are 
located in the Dover District Council area. There is also a branch practice located in 
Chilham which is in the Ashford Borough Council area. CCG priorities (59) are long 
term conditions (particularly people who have a number of conditions), urgent care, 
mental health, children and young people and maternity; obesity impacts on all these 
strands. 
 

10.2 The majority of Canterbury and Coastal CCG patients access hospital services from the 
Kent and Sussex Hospital in Canterbury and four community hospitals and one 
community mental health hospital. There are 21 GP practices in Canterbury and 
Coastal, 40 pharmacies and 37 dental practices.  There are 10 Children’s Centres and 
71 schools, including Pupil Referral Units (60). 
 

10.3 Adult obesity in Canterbury and Coastal Kent CCG 
Canterbury and Coastal CCG has similar rates of adult obesity compared to the 
England average.   
 
Table 1: Adult obesity in Canterbury and Coastal Kent CCG 

Adult obesity 2014 % 

Canterbury and Coastal CCG 24.1 

England 24.1 

England worst 30.9 

Public Health England CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 
 
Canterbury and Coastal CCG has similar rates to the England for adult healthy eating 
prevalence. (61) 
 
Table 2: Adult Healthy eating rates in Canterbury and Coastal Kent CCG 

Adult healthy eating 2014 % 

Canterbury and Coastal CCG 28.0 

England 28.7 

England worst 19.4 

Public Health England CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 
 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 62 
 

 

 
10.4 The recorded QoF data shows prevalence of obesity by GP practice.  Obesity is not 

generally well recorded in primary care. 
 
Figure 1: Prevalence of obesity in Canterbury and Coastal CCG 

 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

10.5 As already described, obesity contributes to a number of serious and preventable 
conditions including Type 2 diabetes. Obesity accounts for 44% of people with diabetes 
nationally.  The following chart shows the prevalence of diabetes by practice within 
Canterbury and Coastal CCG. 
 
Figure 2: Prevalence of Diabetes in Canterbury and Coastal CCG 

 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 

 
10.6 Figure 3 shows the rates of diabetes admission by Clinical Commissioning Groups 

across Kent and Medway.  Canterbury and Coastal CCG has the second lowest 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 63 
 

 

prevalence of diabetes compared to Kent and Medway. 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3: Admission rates for diabetes in CCGs in Kent and Medway 2011/2012-
2013/2014 
 

 
 

10.7 Childhood obesity in Canterbury and Coastal CCG 
The data that is available for child obesity is taken from the National Child Measurement 
Programme.  In Kent the school nursing teams measure children at 4-5 years 
(reception) and at 10-11 years (year 6).  In 2013/14 94.9% of eligible children were 
measured. 
 

10.8 The proportion of obese reception year children in Canterbury and Coastal CCG has 
fluctuated between 2011/12 and 2013/14.  
 
Figure 4: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 64 
 

 

 
 

10.9 The Kent trend is showing some signs of plateauing from 2011-14.  Canterbury and 
Coastal CCG year 6 prevalence has increased year on year since 2011/12, although it 
is similar to the Kent average. 
 
Figure 5: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 
 

 
 
Reporting by CCGs or by districts often masks the differences between areas and these 
can be seen in the Health and Social Care maps in Appendix 1.   
 

10.10 Services for children and families available in Canterbury and Coastal CCG  
Evidence based intervention during the early years of life is described in the Healthy 
Child programme.  Health visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal 
offer and provide public health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 65 
 

 

and physical activity to parents and carers and their young families.  Across Kent, the 
’Born to Move’ initiative is a health visitor led project which aims to raise awareness of 
the importance of human interaction between parent /carer and infant or child to enable 
optimal development, physically and emotionally which may have some impact on 
childhood obesity.  Children Centre staff have a responsibility for creating an 
environment that promotes healthy eating and physical activity and this is part of an 
agreement between Public Health and the Children’s Centres which is subject to 
monitoring and audit. 
 

10.11 At Tier 1 there are a number of initiatives commissioned by Public Health in Kent 
County Council that are delivered by Kent Community Health Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) which include food champions.   KCHFT have previously delivered training on 
consistent messages for both physical activity and healthy eating along with the Acorns 
to Oaks training which was to support Children’s Centre staff to raise the issue of weight 
and be able to support families locally.   
 

10.12 The school nursing team operates an open referral process - they receive referrals from 
various other professionals e.g. GPs, schools and health visitors, in addition to 
parents/carers and young people self -referring.  Following referral they would provide a 
package of care i.e. four contacts with a child/young person.  In addition they can refer 
to dieticians, paediatricians, healthy living/exercise programmes. The School Nurse 
Team undertakes the National Child Measurement Programme in reception and year 6 
and offers support to parents following receipt of the result letters. A locality National 
Child Measurement Programme Group works in partnership across Canterbury and 
Coastal district to support the measurement programme to maximise the impacts of 
nutrition, physical activity and self-esteem enhancing interventions and to promote joint 
working and onward referrals. 
 

10.13 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health Foundation Trust is currently 
working intensively with targeted schools in Canterbury and Ashford.  In addition all 
schools have access to schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and 
access to school sports interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there 
are fun oriented programmes aimed at families with primary school aged children. This 
is an example of what is offered: 
 
• Year 6 Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Year R Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Weighing and measuring (School nurses) Yr. 6  Yr. R    
• Assemblies for promoting targeted lifestyle programme 
• Parent engagement event 
• Follow up support following NCMP result letter 
• Targeted lifestyles programme rolled out 
• Sports days event(s) 
• Healthy School Enhancement Model achievement. 
 

10.14 In the former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT area these services are provided by the 
Healthy Weight team within Kent Community Healthcare Foundation Trust.  Ready 
Steady Go is a 12 week programme for families with children between seven and 11 
whose weight is equal to or above the 91st centile.  In 2013/14 across the former 
Eastern Coastal Kent PCT geography there were 82 referrals, 48 participants engaged 
with the service and 23 participants completed the course. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 66 
 

 

10.15 Recruitment into these programmes is a challenge which is thought to be partly due to 
the stigma associated with having excess weight and also the low number of referrals 
from health professionals and other front line staff.  It has been widely reported that 
front line staff do not feel confident to raise the issue of weight; this is a training need 
across the whole of Kent.  To help with recruitment and to provide an intervention that is 
more acceptable Change 4 Life Clubs have also been started for families with children 
seven-11.  These are five week interventions.  There were 126 families referred, 91 
families attended and 68 families completed.   
 

10.16 There are no dedicated weight management programmes designed for older children. It 
is likely that the needs of older children will become more complex and therefore would 
benefit from a more specialised service. 
 

10.17 There are no dedicated Tier 3 services for children in Kent; therefore access to a 
specialist dietician is important.  This access is variable across Kent.  Each clinic has 
the capacity to see six patients. In East Kent both consultants and GPs can refer into 
the service but there is higher demand than in the former West Kent PCT area.  Across 
Kent KCHFT report waiting times of six months and this has been added to the Trust 
risk register.  The Dietetic Team has begun to work with the Healthy Weight Team to 
look at how a pathway could be designed so that children who do not need to be 
referred to a specialist service can be referred to the Tier 2 Ready Steady Go 
programmes and Change 4 Life Clubs.  Currently this would just be for children ages 
seven-11 in East Kent. 
 

10.18 Services for adults available in Canterbury and Coastal CCG  
There are a range of services and opportunities for adults for physical activity, including 
commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor and natural 
environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  Kent Sport provides an extensive 
number of cycling and walking programmes as well as supporting sports clubs.  They 
also manage coaching and volunteering programmes.  Kent County Council Public 
Health commissions and delivers Sky Ride in partnership with KCC Highways and 
Transportation and Kent Sport.  Other Kent County Council departments offering 
opportunities for physical activity include Country Parks and Explore Kent. Kent County 
Council is currently evaluating the effectiveness of outdoor gyms. 
 

10.19 Public Health commissions Healthy Walks from Kent Community Health Foundation 
Trust and they also provide an opportunity for 30 people in East Kent to be trained as 
food champions.   
 

10.20 For people who need more intensive support Fresh Start is a 12 week community 
weight management scheme offering a structured integrated service to support 
overweight and obese individuals.  The aim of the scheme is to support individuals to 
achieve an average weight loss of 1-2lbs per week, with an overall loss of 5% body 
weight.  The key objectives of the scheme are: to provide support and advice on 
behaviour change; provide nutritional advice needed to alter diet; provide appropriate 
physical activity advice to increase activity levels.   
 

10.21 The Fresh Start Scheme is provided in Canterbury and Coastal CCG and predominantly 
delivered in pharmacy settings.  Approximately 40 community pharmacies, eight health 
trainers and one GP surgery deliver the scheme across East Kent. 
 

10.22 All pharmacy advisers are registered to make referrals to the local Exercise Referral 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 67 
 

 

Scheme which offers a range of local leisure centre memberships.  Clients are 
encouraged to increase their activity levels during and after attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also encouraged to take up the six weeks 'Pedometer Challenge' 
and are guided on how to start and achieve this whilst attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also signposted to the free East Kent Health Walks Scheme to 
further increase their activity levels. 
 

10.23 For people with severe and complex obesity, specialist community weight management 
services are currently provided by the Bariatric Consultancy known as 4 healthy weight. 
Many of these patients have complex needs and may experience delay in accessing 
other services as a result of their weight. Analysis shows that those accessing 4 healthy 
weight services have a range of over 60 conditions; many have a number of co-
morbidities. The most commonly appearing conditions are diabetes, hypertension, 
musculo-skeletal conditions, depression, polycystic ovary syndrome and respiratory 
problems. In addition, over 45% of 4 healthy weight patients have two or more 
diagnosed mental health conditions.  Tier 3 services are well used by patients in the 
CCG.  The majority of patients lose more than 5% of their body weight whilst on this 
programme. 
 

10.24 There is no Tier 4 service provided in Kent and patients need to go outside of the 
district to access this service. A total of 168 bariatric operations were carried out on 
Kent patients in 2013/14; 99 of them referred by the Bariatric Consultancy. All surgery is 
undertaken in approved hospitals out of area. 
 

 Table 3: Bariatric Admissions by Clinical Commissioning Groups 2006/07-2013/14 
 

 
 

10.25 There are some proposed national changes to commissioning that will impact on the 
future provision of Tier 3 and 4 services (31). 
 

10.26 Provision of specialist support for managing weight in pregnancy is variable across 
Kent.  It is of concern that no Kent Trusts meet NICE guidance (47) for referring all 
women with a BMI of 30 or more to a specialist dietician.  
 

10.27 Women resident in Canterbury and Coastal CCG receive midwifery services from East 
Kent Hospitals University Foundation NHS Trust   A referral pathway has been 
established with the community dietician but there is a lack of consistency in 
acceptance of referrals.  Although BMI is recorded in the pregnancy notes there is no 
space to record referral to specialist services. Those women with a BMI >35 will be 
referred to an obstetrician and anaesthetist but there isn’t sufficient capacity in their 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 68 
 

 

clinics to see every woman.  The Trust has reviewed its clinical equipment to ensure it 
is appropriate for heavier weight women. The service has no midwife with a specialist 
interest in healthy weight/obesity. 
 

10.28 East Kent Hospitals University Foundation NHS Trust have previously been involved in 
the HELP cluster randomised control trial with Slimming World  where 598 pregnant 
women in total were recruited across maternity sites in England and Wales: of these 
598 women, 464 were followed up 12 months after their babies were born (the study's 
primary endpoint). Data collection was completed in February 2014 and results are 
awaited. Women can expect to have their height, weight and BMI recorded at booking.  
Within the notes there is a separate section to record the care plan for women with a 
BMI >30. There are two midwives with a special interest in healthy weight each of who 
have a total of six hrs protected time per week to fulfil this role (taken from existing 
midwifery establishment). These midwives run Healthy Weight Clinics for all women 
with a BMI >35. Women with a BMI >40 are referred to an obstetrician, anaesthetist and 
dietician. There are also two specialist diabetes midwives who have a total of 11.25 hrs 
per week of protected time to provide support to women with or at risk of developing 
diabetes. No specific information or advice on diet and exercise is included in the notes 
but the Start4Life leaflet, a copy of the NHS Direct page on Health in Pregnancy 
(includes information on diet & exercise) and the A-Z of Pregnancy & Nutrition are 
included in antenatal packs. 
 

10.29 Financial information 
Between 2010 and 2030 health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise 
nationally by £2bn (14). The burden of costs to Kent have been very crudely calculated 
as over £55m using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of 
England  2013 population. (KMPHO)  This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of 
diabetes, 23% of heart disease and between 7%-41% of certain cancers.  A clinical 
working group (Royal College of Physicians, 2013) found that obese individuals had 
medical costs 30% higher than those with normal weight: it is estimated that 23% of 
spending on all drugs is attributable to overweight and obesity (30). 
 

10.30 Obesity will also have an increased impact on social care costs and an estimated 16 
million days of sickness absence a year are attributable to obesity. Obese people are 
less likely to be in employment than people of a healthy weight. The associated welfare 
costs are estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion (14). The NHS and local 
authority are major employers so this will impact on their available workforce.   
 

10.31 The working group determined that treatment is cost effective and in some cases it 
costs less to provide it than not. Targeting treatment at those most likely to benefit will 
further enhance cost efficacy.  The time period for assessing cost efficacy may be 
extended compared to some other areas of health intervention and this requires 
commissioning authorities to have an appropriate long-term view on the value of obesity 
treatment. 
 

10.32 Kent County Council Public Health invests approximately £3m in obesity and physical 
activity, which is approximately 5% of the budget. It is within a black contract which 
means funding by area and by intervention is difficult to disaggregate. 
 
Figure 6: Spending by KCC Public Health 2015/2016 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 69 
 

 

 
 

10.33 Public consultations 
In 2014 a consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their 
own circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help 
people stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in 
standard and easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for 
promotion.  Six hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size 
required.   
 
 

 Table 4: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 

  
 

10.34 A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It 
was completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-
24 in a youth setting.  It was also posted on SurveyMonkey.  In total there were 178 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 70 
 

 

responses.  The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages 
would be through TV advertisements. To enable families to be more active free gym 
passes and family activities should be provided so that they get more exercise.  
 

10.35 The young people also thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was 
a need to promote messages such as the five a day campaign. In order to deliver these 
messages young people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to 
promote the messages would encourage families to act.  Young people think that it is 
important to be educated and given information about being overweight, or how to avoid  
putting on weight. The channels for this should be social media such as Facebook. 
Access to free gyms or exercise groups was also a highly suggested recommendation. 
 

10.36 Stakeholder Views-The Big Weight Debate Summary 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 
 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common 
goals and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put measures 
into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, 
social and fun 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 
needs  

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 
interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 
motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 
interventions.  

 
10.37 Views from general practice 

Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded 
to a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to 
issues of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP 
said that in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and 
solutions.  Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the 
professional relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are 
not coming to primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the 
consultation to discuss obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service 
provision that is in place, particularly for families but also that there was longer term 
non-surgical psychological based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other 
professional support that was mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health 
visitors and surgery.   
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 71 
 

 

10.38 One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one 
and cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the 
total country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that 
people often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to take 
action.  An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  Ideas that 
were given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based 
programmes, starting early i.e. antenatally, providing  fun accessible programmes for 
children and young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise 
programmes and  looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where 
responsibility lies for tackling childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public 
health, GPs or schools and called for a more integrated approach across local authority, 
social care and NHS and that cultural change was more important than pathways. 
 

10.39  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG has better levels of child 
obesity compared to England and comparable adult obesity 
rates. 

 NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG are committed to providing 
better care for people with long term conditions, urgent care, 
mental health, children and young people and maternity.  

 Five community hospitals, 22 GP practices, 40 pharmacies, 37 
dental practices, 10 children’s centres and 71 schools as well as 
NHS and local authority workplaces are key settings for 
prevention, achieving this will require training. 

 Family weight management services are under-used and there 
are very few services for teenagers. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance as not all eligible 
women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway in NHS Canterbury and Coastal 

CCG. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 72 
 

 

11. South Kent Coast CCG 
 
11.1 Background 

NHS South Kent Coast has a population of 199,000.  It covers the district of Shepway 
and the towns of Deal and Dover. More people in the area have long-term health 
conditions, such as heart disease, stroke, diabetes, cancer, high blood pressure, 
epilepsy and learning disabilities, than the average for England.  The CCG priorities (62) 
are for fewer people under 75 dying from respiratory disease, fewer unplanned hospital 
admissions for adults with long term health conditions and more people feeling 
supported to manage their condition, obesity impacts particularly on hospital admissions 
and losing weight as part of a patient self-management model for long term conditions. 
 

11.2 The majority of South Kent Coast CCG patients access hospital services outside the 
CCG boundaries.  Queen Elizabeth The Queen Mother Hospital and the Kent and 
Sussex hospitals are nearest. There are three community hospitals in the CCG area, 
The Queen Victoria, Buckland and Royal Victoria hospitals.  There are 32 GP practices 
in South Kent Coast, 42 pharmacies and 27 dental practices.  There are 15 children’s 
centres and 86 schools, including Pupil Referral Units (63). 
 

11.3 South Kent Coast CCG has worse rates of adult obesity compared to the England 
average.   
 
Table 1: Adult obesity in South Kent Coast CCG 
 

Adult obesity 2014 % 

South Kent Coast CCG 26.5 

England 24.1 

England worst 30.9 

Public Health England 
 
South Kent Coast CCG has similar rates to the England for adult healthy eating 
prevalence (64). 
 
Table 2: Healthy eating in South Kent Coast CCG 

Adult healthy eating 2014 % 

South Kent Coast CCG 26.0 

England 28.7 

England worst 19.4 

Public Health England 
 

11.4 The recorded QoF data shows prevalence of obesity by GP practice.  Obesity is not 
generally well recorded in primary care. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 73 
 

 

 
 Figure 1: Prevalence of obesity in South Kent Coast practices 

 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

11.5 As already described, obesity contributes to a number of serious and preventable 
conditions including Type 2 diabetes, Obesity accounts for 44% of people with diabetes 
nationally.  The following chart shows the prevalence of diabetes by practice within 
South Kent Coast CCG. 
 
Figure 2: Prevalence of diabetes in South Kent Coast practices 

 
 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 74 
 

 

 
11.6 Figure 3 shows the rates of diabetes admission by Clinical Commissioning Groups 

across Kent and Medway.  South Kent Coast CCG a prevalence of diabetes similar to 
the Kent and Medway average. 
 
Figure 3: Admission rates for diabetes in CCGs in Kent and Medway 2011/2012-
2013/2014 
 

 
 

11.7 Childhood obesity in South Kent Coast 
The data that is available for child obesity is taken from the National Child Measurement 
Programme.  In Kent the school nursing teams measure children at 4-5 years 
(reception) and at 10-11 years (year 6).  In 2013/14 94.9% of eligible children were 
measured. 
 

11.8 The proportion of obese reception year children in South Kent Coast CCG has 
fluctuated between 2011/12- 2013/14.  
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 75 
 

 

 
 Figure 4: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 

 

 
 

11.9 South Kent Coast CCG year 6 prevalence has levelled off over the three years from 
2011/12-2013/14. The Kent trend is also showing some signs of plateauing over this 
time period. 
 
Figure 4: Childhood obesity by CCG in year 6 2011/2012-2013/14 
 

 
 
Reporting by CCGs or by districts often masks the differences between areas and these 
can be seen in the Health and Social Care maps in Appendix 1 
.   

11.10 Services available to tackle childhood obesity in South Kent Coast 
Evidence based intervention during the early years of life is described in the Healthy 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 76 
 

 

Child programme.  Health visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal 
offer and provide public health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating 
and physical activity to parents and carers and their young families.  Across Kent, the 
’Born to Move’ initiative is a health visitor led project which aims to raise awareness of 
the importance of human interaction between parent /carer and infant or child to enable 
optimal development, physically and emotionally which may have some  impact on 
childhood obesity.  Children Centre staff have a responsibility for creating an 
environment that promotes healthy eating and physical activity and this is part of an 
agreement between Public Health and the Children’s Centre which is subject to 
monitoring and audit. 
 

11.11 At Tier 1 there are a number of initiatives commissioned by Public Health in Kent 
County Council that are delivered by Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) which include food champions.   KCHFT have previously delivered training on 
consistent messages for both physical activity and healthy eating along with the Acorns 
to Oaks training which was to support Children’s Centre staff to raise the issue of weight 
and be able to support families locally.   
 

11.12 The school nursing team operates an open referral process - they receive referrals from 
various other professionals e.g. GPs, schools and health visitors, in addition to 
parents/carers and young people self -referring.  Following referral they would provide a 
package of care i.e. four contacts with a child/young person.  In addition they can refer 
to dieticians, paediatricians, healthy living/exercise programmes. The School Nurse 
yTeam undertakes the National Child Measurement Programme in reception and Year 
6 and offer support to parents following receipt of the result letters. A locality National 
Child Measurement Programme Group strives to work in partnership across South Kent 
Coast to support the measurement programme to maximise the impacts of nutrition, 
physical activity and self-esteem enhancing interventions and to promote joint working 
and onward referrals. 
 

11.13 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust is 
currently working intensively with targeted schools in South Kent Coast.  In addition all 
schools have access to schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and 
access to school sports interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there 
are fun oriented programmes aimed at families with primary school aged children. This 
is an example of what is offered: 
 
• Year 6 Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Year R Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Weighing and measuring (School nurses) Yr. 6  Yr. R    
• Assemblies for promoting targeted lifestyle programme 
• Parent engagement event 
• Follow up support following NCMP result letter 
• Targeted lifestyles programme rolled out 
• Sports days event(s) 
• Healthy School Enhancement Model achievement. 
 

11.14 These services are provided by the Healthy Weight team within Kent Community Health 
NHS Foundation Trust.  Ready Steady Go is a 12 week programme for families with 
children between seven and 11 whose weight is equal to or above the 91st centile.  In 
2013/14 across the former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT geography there were 82 
referrals, 48 participants engaged with the service and 23 participants completed the 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 77 
 

 

course. 
 

11.15 Recruitment into these programmes is a challenge which is thought to be partly due to 
the stigma associated with having excess weight and also the low number of referrals 
from health professionals and other front line staff.  It has been widely reported that 
front line staff do not feel confident to raise the issue of weight; this is a training need 
across the whole of Kent.  To help with recruitment and to provide an intervention that is 
more acceptable Change 4 Life Clubs have also been started for families with children 
seven-11.  These are five week interventions.  There were 126 families referred, 91 
families attended and 68 families completed.   
 

11.16 There are no dedicated weight management programmes designed for older children. It 
is likely that the needs of older children will become more complex and therefore would 
benefit from a more specialised service. 
 

11.17 There are no dedicated Tier 3 services for children in Kent; therefore access to a 
specialist dietician is important.  This access is variable across Kent.  Each clinic has 
the capacity to see six patients. In East Kent both consultants and GPs can refer into 
the service but there is higher demand than in the former West Kent PCT area.  Across 
Kent KCHFT report waiting times of six months and this has been added to the Trust 
risk register.  The Dietetic Team has begun to work with the Healthy Weight Team to 
look at how a pathway could be designed so that children who do not need to be 
referred to a specialist service can be referred to the Tier 2 Ready Steady Go 
programmes and Change 4 Life Clubs.  Currently this would just be for children ages 
seven-11 in East Kent. 
 

11.18 Services available to tackle adult obesity in South Kent Coast 
There are a range of services and opportunities for adults for physical activity, including 
commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor and natural 
environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  Kent Sport provides an extensive 
number of cycling and walking programmes as well as supporting sports clubs.  They 
also manage coaching and volunteering programmes.  Kent County Council Public 
Health commissions and delivers Sky Ride in partnership with KCC Highways and 
Transportation and Kent Sport.  Other Kent County Council departments offering 
opportunities for physical activity include Country Parks and Explore Kent. Kent County 
Council is currently evaluating the effectiveness of outdoor gyms. 
 

11.19 Public Health commissions Healthy Walks from Kent Community Health Foundation 
Trust and they also provide an opportunity for 30 people in East Kent to be trained as 
food champions.   
 

11.20 For people who need more intensive support Fresh Start is a 12 week community 
weight management scheme offering a structured integrated service to support 
overweight and obese individuals.  The aim of the scheme is to support individuals to 
achieve an average weight loss of 1-2lbs per week, with an overall loss of 5% body 
weight.  The key objectives of the scheme are: to provide support and advice on 
behaviour change; provide nutritional advice needed to alter diet; provide appropriate 
physical activity advice to increase activity levels.   
 

11.21 The Fresh Start Scheme is provided in South Kent Coast CCG and predominantly 
delivered in pharmacy settings.  Approximately 40 community pharmacies, eight health 
trainers and one GP Surgery deliver the scheme across in East Kent. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 78 
 

 

 
11.22 All pharmacy advisers are registered to make referrals to the local Exercise Referral 

Scheme which offers a range of local leisure centre memberships.  Clients are 
encouraged to increase their activity levels during and after attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also encouraged to uptake the six weeks 'Pedometer Challenge' 
and are guided on how to start and achieve this whilst attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also signposted to the free East Kent Health Walks Scheme to 
further increase their activity levels. 
 

11.23 In addition the Balmoral practice has been offering an in-house Tier 2 weight 
management programme for its own and neighbouring patients in Deal since 2008.  The 
programme is open ended and some patients have been attending the programme from 
the beginning.  It is run by a dietician and a health care assistant with support from 
other members of the primary care team.  There had formerly been an exercise 
component but the provider left and the practice is seeking to re-instate this.  The 
programme runs one half day a week. 
 

11.24 For people with severe and complex obesity specialist community weight management 
services are currently provided by the Bariatric Consultancy known as 4 healthy weight. 
Many of these patients have complex needs and may experience delay in accessing 
other services as a result of their weight. Analysis shows that those accessing 4 healthy 
weight services have a range of over 60 conditions; many have a number of co-
morbidities. The most commonly appearing conditions are diabetes, hypertension, 
musculo-skeletal conditions, depression, polycystic ovary syndrome and respiratory 
problems. In addition, over 45% of 4 healthy weight patients have two or more 
diagnosed mental health conditions.  Tier 3 services are well used by patients in the 
CCG.  The majority of patients lose more than 5% of their body weight whilst on this 
programme. 
 

11.25 There is no Tier 4 service provided in Kent and patients need to go outside of the 
district to access this service. A total of 168 bariatric operations were carried out on 
Kent patients in 2013/14; 99 of them referred by the Bariatric Consultancy. All surgery is 
undertaken in approved hospitals out of area. 
 
Table 3: Bariatric admissions by Clinical Commissioning Groups in Kent and 
Medway 2006/2007-2013/2014 

 
 

11.26 There are some proposed national changes to commissioning that will impact on the 
future provision of Tier 3 and Tier 4 services. (31) 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 79 
 

 

11.27 Provision of specialist support for managing weight in pregnancy is variable across 
Kent.  It is of concern that no Kent Trusts meet NICE guidance (47) for referring all 
women with a BMI of 30 or more to a specialist dietician.  
 

11.28 South Kent Coast CCG midwifery services are provided by East Kent Hospitals 
University Foundation NHS Trust   A referral pathway has been established with the 
community dietician but there is a lack of consistency in acceptance of referrals.  
Although BMI is recorded in the pregnancy notes there is no space to record referral to 
specialist services. Those women with a BMI >35 will be referred to an obstetrician and 
anaesthetist but there isn’t sufficient capacity in their clinics to see every woman.  The 
Trust has reviewed its clinical equipment to ensure it is appropriate for heavier weight 
women. The service has no midwife with a specialist interest in healthy weight/obesity. 
 

11.29 East Kent Hospitals University Foundation NHS Trust have previously been involved in 
the HELP cluster randomised control trial with Slimming World  where 598 pregnant 
women in total were recruited across maternity sites in England and Wales: of these 
598 women, 464 were followed up 12 months after their babies were born (the study's 
primary endpoint). Data collection was completed in February 2014 and results are 
awaited. Women can expect to have their height, weight and BMI recorded at booking.  
Within the notes there is a separate section to record the care plan for women with a 
BMI >30. There are two midwives with a special interest in healthy weight each of who 
have a total of six hrs protected time per week to fulfil this role (taken from existing 
midwifery establishment). These midwives run Healthy Weight Clinics for all women 
with a BMI >35. Women with a BMI >40 are referred to an obstetrician, anaesthetist and 
dietician. There are also two specialist diabetes midwives who have a total of 11.25 hrs 
per week of protected time to provide support to women with or at risk of developing 
diabetes. No specific information or advice on diet and exercise is included in the notes 
but the Start4Life leaflet, a copy of the NHS Direct page on Health in Pregnancy 
(includes information on diet & exercise) & the A-Z of Pregnancy & Nutrition are 
included in ante-natal packs. 
 

11.30 Financial implications 
Between 2010 and 2030 health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise 
nationally by £2bn (59). The burden of costs to Kent have been very crudely calculated 
as over £55m using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of 
England  2013 population. (KMPHO)  This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of 
diabetes, 23% of heart disease and between 7%-41% of certain cancers.  A clinical 
working group (Royal College of Physicians, 2013) found that obese individuals had 
medical costs 30% higher than those with normal weight: it is estimated that 23% of 
spending on all drugs is attributable to overweight and obesity (30). 
 

11.31 Obesity will also have an increased impact on social care costs and an estimated 16 
million days of sickness absence a year are attributable to obesity. Obese people are 
less likely to be in employment than people of a healthy weight. The associated welfare 
costs are estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion (14). The NHS and local 
authority are major employers so this will impact on their available workforce.   
 

11.32 The working group determined that treatment is cost effective and in some cases it 
costs less to provide it than not. Targeting treatment at those most likely to benefit will 
further enhance cost efficacy.  The time period for assessing cost efficacy may be 
extended compared to some other areas of health intervention and this requires 
commissioning authorities to have an appropriate long-term view on the value of obesity 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 80 
 

 

treatment. 
 

11.33 Kent County Council Public Health invests approximately £3m in obesity and physical 
activity, which is approximately 5% of the budget. It is within a black contract which 
means funding by area and by intervention is difficult to disaggregate. 

 
 Figure 5: Spending by KCC Public Health 2015/2016 

 

 
11.34 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In 2014 a consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their 
own circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help 
people stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in 
standard and easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for 
promotion.  Six hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size 
required.   
Table 4: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 81 
 

 

 
 
11.35 A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It 

was completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-
24 in a youth setting.  It was also posted on SurveyMonkey.  In total there were 178 
responses.  The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages 
would be through TV adverts. To enable families to be more active free gym passes 
and family activities should be provided so that they get more exercise.  
 

11.36 The young people also thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was 
a need to promote messages such as the five a day campaign. In order to deliver these 
messages young people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to 
promote the messages would encourage families to act.  Young people think that it is 
important to be educated and given information about being overweight, or how to avoid  
putting on weight. The channels for this should be social media such as Facebook. 
Access to free gyms or exercise groups was also a highly suggested recommendation. 
 

11.37 Stakeholder Views-The Big Weight Debate Summary 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 
 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common 
goals and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put measures 
into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, 
social and fun 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 
needs  

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 
interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 
motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 
interventions. 

  
11.38 Views from general practice 

Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded 
to a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to 
issues of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP 
said that in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and 
solutions.  Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the 
professional relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are 
not coming to primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the 
consultation to discuss obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 82 
 

 

provision that is in place, particularly for families but also that there was longer term 
non-surgical psychological based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other 
professional support that was mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health 
visitors and surgery.   
 

11.39 One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one 
and cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the 
total country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that 
people often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to take 
action.  An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  Ideas that 
were given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based 
programmes, starting early i.e. ante natally, providing  fun accessible programmes for 
children and young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise 
programmes and  looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where 
responsibility lies for tackling childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public 
health, GPs or schools and called for a more integrated approach across local authority, 
social care and NHS and that cultural change was more important than pathways. 
 

11.40  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Summary 
 

 NHS South Kent Coast CCG has worse levels of child obesity in 
year 6 compared to England and worse adult obesity rates. 

 NHS South Kent Coast CCG priorities are fewer people under 75 
dying from respiratory disease, fewer unplanned hospital 
admissions for adults with long term health conditions and 
more people feeling supported to manage their condition. 

 Three community hospitals, 32 GP practices in South Kent 
Coast, 42 pharmacies, 27 dental practices, 15 children’s centres 
and 86 schools as well as NHS and local authority workplaces 
are key settings for prevention, achieving this will require 
training. 

 Balmoral Practice is the only GP practice in Kent providing 
dedicated weight management programmes for patients. 

 Family weight management services are under-used and there 
is very little provision for teenagers. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance as not all eligible 
women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway in NHS South Kent Coast CCG 

for both adults and children and young people. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 83 
 

 

12. Swale 
 
12.1 NHS Swale Clinical Commissioning Group has a population of 106,570.  It covers 

Sheppey, Sittingbourne, Teynham and the surrounding rural communities.  The CCGs 
priorities that are relevant to obesity include reducing health inequality, improving the 
quality of life for patients with complex and long-term conditions, improving care by 
integrating services and promoting wellbeing and mental health (65). 
 

12.2 The majority of Swale CCG patients access acute hospital services outside of the CCG 
boundaries, Medway is nearest for most.  There are two community hospitals in the 
CCG area, Sittingbourne Memorial and Sheppey Community hospitals.  There are 20 
GP practices in Swale, 25 pharmacies and 15 dental practices.  There are eight 
Children’s Centres and 45 schools, including Pupil Referral Units (66). 
 

12.3 Swale CCG has the worse rate of adult obesity in England.   
 
Table 1:Adult obesity rates in Swale 
 

Adult obesity 2014 % 

Swale CCG 30.9 

England 24.1 

England worst 30.9 

Public Health England CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 
 
Swale CCG has worse rates than England for adult healthy eating prevalence (67). 
 
Table 2: Adult healthy eating rates in Swale 
 

Adult healthy eating 2014 % 

Swale CCG 22.3 

England 28.7 

England worst 19.4 

Public Health England CCG Neighbourhood Profiles 
 

12.4 The recorded QoF data shows prevalence of obesity by GP practice.  Obesity is not 
generally well recorded in primary care. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 84 
 

 

 
 Figure 1: Prevalence of obesity in Swale practices 

 
 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 

 
12.5 As already described, obesity contributes to a number of serious and preventable 

conditions including Type 2 diabetes, Obesity accounts for 44% of people with diabetes 
nationally.  The following chart shows the prevalence of diabetes by practice within Swale 
CCG. 
 
Figure 2: Prevalence of diabetes in Swale practices 

 
 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 85 
 

 

12.6 Figure 3 shows the rates of diabetes admission by Clinical Commissioning Groups across 
Kent and Medway.  Swale and Thanet CCGs have the highest admission rates for 
diabetes. 
 

 Figure 3: Admission rates for diabetes in CCGs in Kent and Medway 2011/2012-
2013/2014 
 

 
 
 

12.7 Childhood obesity in Swale 
The data that is available for child obesity is taken from the National Child Measurement 
Programme.  In Kent the school nursing teams measure children at 4-5 years (reception) 
and at 10-11 years (year 6).  In 2013/14 94.9% of eligible children were measured. 
 

12.8 The proportion of obese reception year children in Swale CCG has increased year on year 
between 2011/12 and 2013/14. Swale has the worst rates in Kent. 
 
Figure 4: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 86 
 

 

 
 

12.9 Swale CCG year 6 prevalence has increased year on year over the three years from 
2011/12-2013/14. The Kent trend is also showing some signs of plateauing over this time 
period. 
 
Figure 5: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 
 

 
 
Reporting by CCGs or by districts often masks the differences between areas and these 
can be seen in the Health and Social Care maps in Appendix 1.   
 

12.10 Services available for children and families to tackle obesity in Swale 
Evidence based intervention during the early years of life is described in the Healthy Child 
programme.  Health visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal offer and 
provide public health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating and physical 
activity to parents and carers and their young families.  Across Kent, the ’Born to Move’ 
initiative is a health visitor led project which aims to raise awareness of the importance of 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 87 
 

 

human interaction between parent /carer and infant or child to enable optimal 
development, physically and emotionally which may have some  impact on childhood 
obesity.  Children Centre staff have a responsibility for creating an environment that 
promotes healthy eating and physical activity and this is part of an agreement between 
Public Health and the Children’s Centre which is subject to monitoring and audit. 
 

12.11 At Tier 1 there are a number of initiatives commissioned by Public Health in Kent County 
Council that are delivered by Kent Community Health Foundation Trust (KCHFT) which 
include food champions.  KCHFT have previously delivered training on consistent 
messages for both physical activity and healthy eating e.g. the Acorns to Oaks training 
which was to support Children’s Centre staff to raise the issue of weight and be able to 
support families locally.   
 

12.12 The school nursing team from Medway Foundation Trust provide services for Swale, 
including the National Child Measurement Programme where they measure the children 
and offer support to parents after the results letters are sent out.  The Swale team pro-
actively calls parents and carers on the day the child is measured offering support, advice 
and onward referrals to family weight management services where required. There is a 
dedicated team for Swale and the school nursing service provides health education which 
includes healthy eating. They undertake hearing tests, growth monitoring and give advice 
on health related issues. They will also support pupils with chronic health issues. A locality 
National Child Measurement Programme Group strives to work in partnership across 
Swale to support the measurement programme to maximise the impacts of nutrition, 
physical activity and self-esteem enhancing interventions and to promote joint working and 
onward referrals. 
 

12.13 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health Foundation Trust is currently 
working intensively with targeted schools in Swale.  In addition all schools have access to 
schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and access to school sports 
interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there are fun oriented 
programmes aimed at families with primary school aged children. This is an example of 
what is offered: 
 
• Year 6 Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Year R Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Weighing and measuring (School nurses) Yr. 6  Yr. R    
• Assemblies for promoting targeted lifestyle programme 
• Parent engagement event 
• Follow up support following NCMP result letter 
• Targeted lifestyles programme rolled out 
• Sports days event(s) 
• Healthy School Enhancement Model achievement. 
 

12.14 Swale family weight management services are provided by the Healthy Weight team 
within Kent Community Healthcare Trust.  Ready Steady Go is a 12 week programme for 
families with children between seven and 11 whose weight is equal to or above the 91st 
centile.  In 2013/14 across the former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT geography there were 82 
referrals, 48 participants engaged with the service and 23 participants completed the 
course.  These courses are rotated across localities over the course of a year. 
 

12.15 Recruitment into these programmes is a challenge which is thought to be partly due to the 
stigma associated with having excess weight and also the low number of referrals from 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 88 
 

 

health professionals and other front line staff.  It has been widely reported that front line 
staff do not feel confident to raise the issue of weight; this is a training need across the 
whole of Kent.  To help with recruitment and to provide an intervention that is more 
acceptable Change 4 Life Clubs have also been started for families with children seven-
11.  These are five week interventions.  There were 126 families referred, 91 families 
attended and 68 families completed.   
 

12.16 There are no dedicated weight management programmes designed for older children. It is 
likely that the needs of older children will become more complex and therefore would 
benefit from a more specialised service. 
 

12.17 There are no dedicated Tier 3 services for children in Kent; therefore access to a specialist 
dietician is important.  This access is variable across Kent.  Each clinic has the capacity to 
see six patients. In East Kent both consultants and GPs can refer into the service but 
there is higher demand than in the former West Kent PCT area.  Across Kent KCHFT 
report waiting times of six months and this has been added to the Trust risk register.  The 
Dietetic Team has begun to work with the Healthy Weight Team to look at how a pathway 
could be designed so that children who do not need to be referred to a specialist service 
can be referred to the Tier 2 Ready Steady Go programmes and Change 4 Life Clubs.  
Currently this would just be for children ages seven-11 in East Kent. 
 

12.18 Services available in Swale to tackle adult obesity 
There are a range of services and opportunities for adults for physical activity, including 
commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor and natural 
environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  Kent Sport provides an extensive 
number of cycling and walking programmes as well as supporting sports clubs.  They also 
manage coaching and volunteering programmes.  Kent County Council Public Health 
commissions and delivers Sky Ride in partnership with KCC Highways and Transportation 
and Kent Sport.  Other Kent County Council departments offering opportunities for 
physical activity include Country Parks and Explore Kent. Kent County Council is currently 
evaluating the effectiveness of outdoor gyms. 
 

12.19 Public Health commissions Healthy Walks from Kent Community Health Foundation Trust 
and they also provide an opportunity for 30 people in East Kent to be trained as food 
champions.   
 

12.20 For people who need more intensive support Fresh Start is a 12 week community weight 
management scheme offering a structured integrated service to support overweight and 
obese individuals.  The aim of the scheme is to support individuals to achieve an average 
weight loss of 1-2lbs per week, with an overall loss of 5% body weight.  The key objectives 
of the scheme are: to provide support and advice on behaviour change; provide nutritional 
advice needed to alter diet; provide appropriate physical activity advice to increase activity 
levels.   
 

12.21 The Fresh Start Scheme is provided in Swale CCG and predominantly delivered in 
pharmacy settings.  Approximately 40 community pharmacies, eight health trainers and 
one GP surgery deliver the scheme across East Kent. 
 

12.22 All pharmacy advisers are registered to make referrals to the local Exercise Referral 
Scheme which offers a range of local leisure centre memberships.  Clients are 
encouraged to increase their activity levels during and after attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also encouraged to take up the six weeks 'Pedometer Challenge' 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 89 
 

 

and are guided on how to start and achieve this whilst attending the Fresh Start Scheme.  
Clients are also signposted to the free East Kent Health Walks Scheme to further increase 
their activity levels. 
 

12.23 Specialist weight management services are recommended for people with severe and 
complex obesity, they are typically 12-24 month duration and a standard outcome is a 
weight loss of 5-10%.  The Swale Weight Management Service (SWMS) provides this 
service for people in Swale. It is part of the KCHFT block contract for health improvement 
services. Once referred by a GP all clients are initially assessed by the multi-disciplinary 
team. The MDT does not currently have a bariatric physician and cannot therefore refer 
onto the surgical pathway, which is a major weakness. In 2013/14 the service saw 209 
patients. 28.9% of SWMS patients completed 12 months. The service achieved a weight 
loss of 5-10% in 5.4% of all patients and a weight loss in excess of 10% in 3.7% of the 
total cohort.  
 

12.24 There is no Tier 4 service provided in Kent and patients need to go outside of the district 
to access this service. A total of 168 bariatric operations were carried out on Kent patients 
in 2013/14. All surgery is undertaken in approved hospitals out of area. 
 

 Table 3: Bariatric Admissions by Clinical Commissioning Groups 2006/07-2013/14 
 

 
 

12.25 There are some proposed national changes to commissioning that will impact on the 
future provision of Tier 3 and 4 services (31). 
 

12.26 Provision of specialist support for managing weight in pregnancy is variable across Kent.  
It is of concern that no Kent Trusts meet NICE guidance (47) for referring all women with a 
BMI of 30 or more to a specialist dietician.  
 

12.27 Medway Foundation Trust provides maternity services for Swale. The Trust follows a 
pathway for maternal obesity.  Women with a BMI >35-40 are seen by the lead midwife for 
diabetes and obesity, which is a job share 18 hours per week.  In addition there is an 
evening four week programme for women and their partners which includes healthy eating 
in pregnancy, exercise and pregnancy and psychological aspects. One session is left 
open to cover a subject of interest to the group.  Women with a BMI>40 and above are 
referred to a consultant.  Twenty-one women are participating in a Metformin study. 
 

12.28 Financial considerations 
Between 2010 and2030 health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise 
nationally by £2bn (14). The burden of cost to Kent has been very crudely calculated as 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 90 
 

 

over £55m using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of England  
2013 population. (KMPHO)  This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of diabetes, 
23% of heart disease and between 7%-41% of certain cancers.  A clinical working group 
(Royal College of Physicians, 2013) found that obese individuals had medical costs 30% 
higher than those with normal weight: it is estimated that 23% of spending on all drugs is 
attributable to overweight and obesity (30). 
 

12.29 Obesity will also have an increased impact on social care costs and an estimated 16 
million days of sickness absence a year are attributable to obesity. Obese people are less 
likely to be in employment than people of a healthy weight. The associated welfare costs 
are estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion (14). The NHS and local authority are 
major employers so this will impact on their available workforce.   
 

12.30 The working group determined that treatment is cost effective and in some cases it costs 
less to provide it than not. Targeting treatment at those most likely to benefit will further 
enhance cost efficacy.  The time period for assessing cost efficacy may be extended 
compared to some other areas of health intervention and this requires commissioning 
authorities to have an appropriate long-term view on the value of obesity treatment. 
 

12.31 Kent County Council Public Health invests approximately £3m in obesity and physical 
activity, which is approximately 5% of the budget. It is within a black contract which means 
funding by area and by intervention is difficult to disaggregate. 
 

 
 Figure 6: Spending by KCC Public Health 2015/16 

 

 
 

12.32 
 
 
 

Public consultations 
In 2014 a consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their own 
circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help people 
stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in standard and 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 91 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for promotion.  Six 
hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size required.   
 
Table 3: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 
 

12.33 A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It was 
completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-24 in a 
youth setting.  It was also posted on SurveyMonkey.  In total there were 178 responses.  
The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages would be through 
TV adverts. To enable families to be more active free gym passes and family activities 
should be provided so that they get more exercise.  
 

12.34 The young people also thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was a 
need to promote messages such as the five a day campaign. In order to deliver these 
messages young people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to 
promote the messages would encourage families to act.  Young people think that it is 
important to be educated and given information about being overweight, or how to avoid 
putting on weight. The channels for this should be social media such as Facebook. Access 
to free gyms or exercise groups was also a highly suggested recommendation. 
 

12.35 Stakeholder Views-The Big Weight Debate Summary 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 
 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common goals 
and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put measures 
into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, social 
and fun 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 92 
 

 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 
needs  

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 
interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 
motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 
interventions.  

 
12.36 Views from general practice 

Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded to 
a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to issues 
of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP said that 
in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and solutions.  
Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the professional 
relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are not coming to 
primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the consultation to discuss 
obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service provision that is in place, 
particularly for families but also that there was longer term non-surgical psychological 
based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other professional support that was 
mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health visitors and surgery.   
 

12.37 One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one and 
cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the total 
country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that people 
often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to take action.  
An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  Ideas that were 
given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based programmes, 
starting early i.e. ante natally, providing  fun accessible programmes for children and 
young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise programmes and  
looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where responsibility lies for tackling 
childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public health, GPs or schools and called 
for a more integrated approach across local authority, social care and NHS and that 
cultural change was more important than pathways. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 93 
 

 

12.38  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 NHS Swale CCG has the worst levels of adult obesity in the 
country but levels of child obesity are comparable to the 
England average.  

 NHS Swale CCG priorities that are relevant to obesity include 
reducing health inequality, improving the quality of life for 
patients with complex and long-term conditions, improving 
care by integrating services and promoting wellbeing and 
mental health. 

 Three community hospitals, 20 GP practices in Swale, 25 
pharmacies, 15 dental practices, 8 children’s centres and 45 
schools as well as NHS and local authority workplaces are key 
settings for prevention; achieving this will require training at 
scale. 

 Family weight management services are under-used and there 
are no programmes for teenagers. 

 There are no specialist weight management services for 
children and specialist services for adults have no bariatric 
physician. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance as not all eligible 
women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway in NHS Swale CCG for adults, 
children and young people. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 94 
 

 

13. Thanet 
 
13.1 Thanet CCG serves the geographical area covered by Thanet District Council. This 

comprises 140,157 registered patients living in an area extending from the rural 
communities in the west of the district such as Sarre, Monkton and St Nicholas-at-Wade 
to the three main coastal towns of Margate, Ramsgate and Broadstairs.  
 

13.2 The majority of NHS Thanet CCG patients access hospital services out of the CCG 
boundaries.  Queen Elizabeth The Queen Mother Hospital and the Kent and Sussex 
hospitals are nearest. There are three community hospitals in the CCG area, The 
Queen Victoria, Buckland and Royal Victoria hospitals.  There are 32 GP practices in 
Thanet, 42 pharmacies and 27 dental practices.  There are 15 children’s centres and 86 
schools, including Pupil Referral Units (69). 
 

13.3 Thanet CCG has worse rates of adult obesity compared to the England average.   
 
Table 1: Adult obesity in Thanet 
 

Adult obesity 2014 % 

Thanet CCG 27.7 

England 24.1 

England worst 30.9 

Public Health England 
 
Thanet CCG has worse rates compared to the England average for adult healthy eating 
prevalence.  
 
Table 2: Adult healthy eating rates in Thanet 
 

Adult healthy eating 2014 % 

Thanet CCG 24.7 

England 28.7 

England worst 19.4 

Public Health England 
 

13.4 The recorded QoF data shows prevalence of obesity by GP practice.  Obesity is not 
generally well recorded in primary care. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 95 
 

 

 
 Figure 1: Prevalence of obesity in Thanet practices 

 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 
 

13.5 As already described, obesity contributes to a number of serious and preventable 
conditions including Type 2 diabetes, Obesity accounts for 44% of people with diabetes 
nationally.  The following chart shows the prevalence of diabetes by practice within 
Thanet CCG. 
 
Figure  2: Prevalence of diabetes in Thanet practices 

 
 
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory Health and Social Care Maps 

 
13.6 Figure 3 shows the rates of diabetes hospital admissions by Clinical Commissioning 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 96 
 

 

Groups across Kent and Medway.  Thanet and Swale CCGs have the highest rates of 
hospital admission for diabetes in Kent and Medway. 
 
 
Figure 3: Admission rates for diabetes in CCGs in Kent and Medway 2011/2012- 
2013/2014 
 

 
 

13.7 Childhood obesity in Thanet 
The data that is available for child obesity is taken from the National Child 
Measurement Programme.  In Kent the school nursing teams measure children at 4-5 
years (reception) and at 10-11 years (year 6).  In 2013/14 94.9% of eligible children 
were measured. 
 

13.8 The proportion of obese reception year children in Thanet CCG has fluctuated between 
2011/12- 2013/14.  
 
Figure 4:Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 97 
 

 

 
 
 

13.9 Thanet CCG Year 6 prevalence has fluctuated over the three years from 2011/12-
2013/14. The Kent trend is also showing some signs of plateauing over this time period. 
 
Figure 4: Childhood obesity by CCG in reception year 2011/2012-2013/2014 
 

 
 
Reporting by CCGs or by districts often masks the differences between areas and 
these can be seen in the Health and Social Care maps in Appendix 1.   
 

13.10 Services available in Thanet to tackle obesity for children and families 
Evidence based intervention during the early years of life is described in the Healthy 
Child programme.  Health visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal 
offer and provide public health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating 
and physical activity to parents and carers and their young families.  Across Kent, the 
’Born to Move’ initiative is a Health Visitor led project which aims to raise awareness of 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 98 
 

 

the importance of human interaction between parent /carer and infant or child to enable 
optimal development, physically and emotionally which may have some  impact on 
childhood obesity.  Children Centre staff have a responsibility for creating an 
environment that promotes healthy eating and physical activity.   
 

13.11 At Tier 1 there are a number of initiatives commissioned by Public Health in Kent 
County Council that are delivered by Kent Community Health Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) which include Food Champions.   KCHFT have previously delivered training 
on consistent messaging for both physical activity and healthy eating.  They have 
provided a number of programmes such as the Acorns to Oaks training which was to 
support Children’s Centre staff to raise the issue of weight and be able to support 
families locally.  
  

13.12 The school nursing team operates an open referral process - they receive referrals from 
various other professionals e.g. GPs, schools and health visitors, in addition to 
parents/carers and young people self -referring.  Following referral they would provide a 
package of care i.e. four contacts with a child/young person.  In addition they can refer 
to dieticians, paediatricians, healthy living/exercise programmes. The School Nurse 
Team undertakes the National Child Measurement Programme in reception and year 6 
and offer support to parents following receipt of the result letters. A locality National 
Child Measurement Programme Group works in partnership across Thanet to support 
the measurement programme to maximise the impacts of nutrition, physical activity and 
self-esteem enhancing interventions and to promote joint working and on-ward 
referrals. 
 

13.13 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health Trust is currently working 
intensively with targeted schools in Thanet.  In addition all schools have access to 
schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and access to school sports 
interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there are fun oriented 
programmes aimed at families with primary school aged children. This is an example of 
what is offered: 
 
• Year 6 Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Year R Healthy Lifestyle support lessons  
• Weighing and measuring (School nurses) Yr. 6  Yr. R    
• Assemblies for promoting targeted lifestyle programme 
• Parent engagement event 
• Follow up support following NCMP result letter 
• Targeted lifestyles programme rolled out 
• Sports days event(s) 
• Healthy School Enhancement Model achievement. 
 

13.14 In the former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT area family weight management programmes 
are provided by the Healthy Weight team within Kent Community Healthcare Trust.  
Ready Steady Go is a 12 week programme for families with children between seven 
and 11 whose weight is equal to or above the 91st centile.  In 2013/14 across the 
former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT geography there were 82 referrals, 48 participants 
engaged with the service and 23 participants completed the course. 
 

13.15 Recruitment into these programmes is a challenge which is thought to be partly due to 
the stigma associated with having excess weight and also the low number of referrals 
from health professionals and other front line staff.  It has been widely reported that 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 99 
 

 

front line staff do not feel confident to raise the issue of weight; this is a training need 
across the whole of Kent.  To help with recruitment and to provide an intervention that 
is more acceptable Change 4 Life Clubs have also been started for families with 
children seven-11.  These are five week interventions.  There were 126 families 
referred, 91 families attended and 68 families completed.   
 

13.16 There are no dedicated weight management programmes designed for older children. It 
is likely that the needs of older children will become more complex and therefore would 
benefit from a more specialised service. 
 

13.17 There are no dedicated Tier 3 services for children in Kent; therefore access to a 
specialist dietician is important.  This access is variable across Kent.  Each clinic has 
the capacity to see six patients. In East Kent both consultants and GPs can refer into 
the service but there is higher demand than in the former West Kent PCT area.  Across 
Kent KCHFT report waiting times of six months and this has been added to the Trust 
risk register.  The Dietetic Team has begun to work with the Healthy Weight Team to 
look at how a pathway could be designed so that children who do not need to be 
referred to a specialist service can be referred to the Tier 2 Ready Steady Go 
programmes and Change 4 Life Clubs.  Currently this would just be for children ages 
seven-11 in East Kent. 
 

13.18 Services available in Thanet to tackle obesity in adults 
There are a range of services and opportunities for adults for physical activity, including 
commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor and natural 
environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  Kent Sport provides an extensive 
number of cycling and walking programmes as well as supporting sports clubs.  They 
also manage coaching and volunteering programmes.  Kent County Council Public 
Health commissions and delivers Sky Ride in partnership with KCC Highways and 
Transportation and Kent Sport.  Other Kent County Council departments offering 
opportunities for physical activity include Country Parks and Explore Kent. Kent County 
Council is currently evaluating the effectiveness of outdoor gyms. 
 

13.19 Public Health commissions Healthy Walks from Kent Community Health Foundation 
Trust and they also provide an opportunity for 30 people in East Kent to be trained as 
food champions every year.   
 

13.20 For people who need more intensive support Fresh Start is a 12 week community 
weight management scheme offering a structured integrated service to support 
overweight and obese individuals.  The aim of the scheme is to support individuals to 
achieve an average weight loss of 1-2lbs per week, with an overall loss of 5% body 
weight.  The key objectives of the scheme are: to provide support and advice on 
behaviour change; provide nutritional advice needed to alter diet; provide appropriate 
physical activity advice to increase activity levels.   
 

13.21 The Fresh Start Scheme is provided in Thanet CCG and predominantly delivered in 
pharmacy settings.  Approximately 40 community pharmacies, eight health trainers and 
one GP Surgery deliver the scheme across in East Kent. 
 

13.22 All pharmacy advisers are registered to make referrals to the local Exercise Referral 
Scheme which offers a range of local leisure centre memberships.  Clients are 
encouraged to increase their activity levels during and after attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also encouraged to uptake the six weeks 'Pedometer Challenge' 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 100 
 

 

and are guided on how to start and achieve this whilst attending the Fresh Start 
Scheme.  Clients are also signposted to the free East Kent Health Walks Scheme to 
further increase their activity levels. 
 

13.23 For people with severe and complex obesity specialist community weight management 
services are currently provided by The Bariatric Consultancy known as 4Healthy 
Weight. Many of these patients have complex needs and may experience delay in 
accessing other services as a result of their weight. Analysis shows that those 
accessing 4 healthy weight services have a range of over 60 conditions; many have a 
number of co-morbidities. The most commonly appearing conditions are diabetes, 
hypertension, musculo-skeletal conditions, depression, polycystic ovary syndrome and 
respiratory problems. In addition, over 45% of 4 healthy weight patients have two or 
more diagnosed mental health conditions.  Tier 3 services are well used by patients in 
the CCG.  The majority of patients lose more than 5% of their body weight whilst on this 
programme. 
 

13.24 There is no Tier 4 service provided in Kent and patients need to go outside of the 
district to access this service. A total of 168 bariatric operations were carried out on 
Kent patients in 2013/14; 99 of them referred by The Bariatric Consultancy. All surgery 
is undertaken in approved hospitals out of area. 
 

 Table 3: Bariatric Admissions by Clinical Commissioning Groups 2006/07-2013/14 
 

 
 

13.25 There are some proposed national changes to commissioning that will impact on the 
future provision of Tier 3 and 4 services (31). 
 

13.26 Provision of specialist support for managing weight in pregnancy is variable across 
Kent.  It is of concern that no Kent Trusts meet NICE guidance (47) for referring all 
women with a BMI of 30 or more to a specialist dietician.  
 

13.27 South Kent Coast CCG midwifery services are provided by East Kent Hospitals 
University Foundation NHS Trust.  A referral pathway has been established with the 
community dietician but there is a lack of consistency in acceptance of referrals.  
Although BMI is recorded in the pregnancy notes there is no space to record referral to 
specialist services. Those women with a BMI >35 will be referred to an obstetrician and 
anaesthetist but there isn’t sufficient capacity in their clinics to see every woman.  The 
Trust has reviewed its clinical equipment to ensure it is appropriate for heavier weight 
women. The service has no midwife with a specialist interest in healthy weight/obesity. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 101 
 

 

13.28 East Kent Hospitals University Foundation NHS Trust have previously been involved in 
the HELP cluster randomised control trial with Slimming World  where 598 pregnant 
women in total were recruited across maternity sites in England and Wales: of these 
598 women, 464 were followed up 12 months after their babies were born (the study's 
primary endpoint). Data collection was completed in February 2014 and results are 
awaited. Women can expect to have their height, weight and BMI recorded at booking.  
Within the notes there is a separate section to record the care plan for women with a 
BMI >30. There are two midwives with a special interest in healthy weight each of who 
have a total of six hrs protected time per week to fulfil this role (taken from existing 
midwifery establishment). These midwives run Healthy Weight Clinics for all women 
with a BMI >35. Women with a BMI >40 are referred to an obstetrician, anaesthetist 
and dietician. There are also two specialist diabetes midwives who have a total of 11.25 
hrs per week of protected time to provide support to women with or at risk of developing 
diabetes. No specific information or advice on diet and exercise is included in the notes 
but the Start4Life leaflet, a copy of the NHS Direct page on Health in Pregnancy 
(includes information on diet & exercise) & the A-Z of Pregnancy & Nutrition are 
included in ante-natal packs. 
 

13.29 Financial considerations 
Between 2010-2030 health costs associated with obesity are projected to rise nationally 
by £2bn.(14) The burden of costs to Kent have been very crudely calculated as over 
£55m using the number of Kent residents as a proportion of the whole of England  2013 
population. (KMPHO)  This is contributed to by 44% of the incidence of diabetes, 23% 
of heart disease and between 7%-41% of certain cancers.  A clinical working group 
(Royal College of Physicians, 2013) found that obese individuals had medical costs 
30% higher than those with normal weight: it is estimated that 23% of spending on all 
drugs is attributable to overweight and obesity (30). 
 

13.30 Obesity will also have an increased impact on social care costs and an estimated 16 
million days of sickness absence a year are attributable to obesity. Obese people are 
less likely to be in employment than people of a healthy weight. The associated welfare 
costs are estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion (14). The NHS and local 
authority are major employers so this will impact on their available workforce.     
 

13.31 The working group determined that treatment is cost effective and in some cases it 
costs less to provide it than not. Targeting treatment at those most likely to benefit will 
further enhance cost efficacy.  The time period for assessing cost efficacy may be 
extended compared to some other areas of health intervention and this requires 
commissioning authorities to have an appropriate long-term view on the value of 
obesity treatment. 
 

13.32 Kent County Council Public Health invests approximately £3m in obesity and physical 
activity, which is approximately 5% of the budget. It is within a block contract which 
means funding by area and by intervention is difficult to disaggregate. 
 
Figure 5:Spending by KCC Public Health 2015/16 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 102 
 

 

 
 

13.33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public consultations 
In 2014 a consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their 
own circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help 
people stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in 
standard and easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for 
promotion.  Six hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size 
required.   
 
 
 
Table 4: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 
 

13.34 A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It 
was completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 103 
 

 

24 in a youth setting.  It was also posted on SurveyMonkey.  In total there were 178 
responses.  The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages 
would be through TV adverts. To enable families to be more active free gym passes 
and family activities should be provided so that they get more exercise.  
 

13.35 The young people also thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was 
a need to promote messages such as the five a day campaign. In order to deliver these 
messages young people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to 
promote the messages would encourage families to act.  Young people think that it is 
important to be educated and given information about being overweight, or how to 
avoid putting on weight. The channels for this should be social media such as 
Facebook. Access to free gyms or exercise groups was also a highly suggested 
recommendation. 
 

13.36 Stakeholder Views - the Big Weight Debate summary 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 
 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common 
goals and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put 
measures into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, 
social and fun 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 
needs  

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 
interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 
motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 
interventions.  

 
13.37 Views from primary care 

Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded 
to a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to 
issues of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP 
said that in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and 
solutions.  Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the 
professional relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are 
not coming to primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the 
consultation to discuss obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service 
provision that is in place, particularly for families but also that there was longer term 
non-surgical psychological based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other 
professional support that was mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 104 
 

 

visitors and surgery.   
 

13.38 One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one 
and cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the 
total country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that 
people often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to 
take action.  An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  
Ideas that were given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based 
programmes, starting early i.e. antenatally, providing  fun accessible programmes for 
children and young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise 
programmes and  looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where 
responsibility lies for tackling childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public 
health, GPs or schools and called for a more integrated approach across local 
authority, social care and NHS and that cultural change was more important than 
pathways. 
 

13.39  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Summary 
 

 NHS Thanet CCG has similar levels of child obesity in year 6 
compared to England and worse adult obesity rates. 

 Three community hospitals, 32 GP practices, 42 pharmacies, 27 
dental practices, 15 children’s centres and 86 schools as well as 
NHS and local authority workplaces are key settings for 
prevention, achieving this will require training. 

 Family weight management services are under-used and there 
are no programmes for teenagers. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance as not all eligible 
women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway in NHS South Kent Coast CCG 

for both adults and children and young people. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 105 
 

 

14. Kent Overview 
 
14.1 Background 

Kent has a resident population of just over 1.5m, 17.6% of this number have an illness 
or condition which limits their day to day activities (Kent County Council).  This is a 
huge burden of ill health to which obesity will have contributed. For those with an 
obesity related limiting condition losing and maintaining weight loss over a lifetime will 
have positive impacts on health.  As 771,476 people in Kent are either overweight or 
obese and an estimated 64,000 meet the criteria for bariatric surgery, the problem has 
to be tackled at scale. 
 

14.2 All of the population should be encouraged to participate in universally available 
opportunities to eat well and be physically active.  For those who struggle to control 
their weight there are recommended tiered interventions shown in Figure 6 below (37). 
 
Figure 6: Adult Healthy Weight Pathway 
Clinical Care Components Commissioned Services  
 

 
British Obesity and Metabolic Surgery Society (2014) 

 

14.3 Tier 1 universal services 
Across Kent there are a range of universal services and opportunities for physical 
activity, including commercial and local authority sport and leisure services, outdoor 
and natural environment organisations and workplace initiatives.  NICE guidance (46) 
recommends that services should include both top down approaches such as planning 
cycle routes and food procurement specifications and bottom-up approaches such as 
running activities in local parks.   
 

14.4 Kent Sport provides an extensive number of cycling and walking programmes across 
Kent as well as supporting sports clubs.  They also manage coaching and volunteering 
programmes.  Kent County Council Public Health commissions and delivers Sky Ride 
in partnership with KCC Highways and Transportation and Kent Sport.  Other Kent 
County Council departments offering opportunities for physical activity include Country 
Parks and Explore Kent.  Evidence of effectiveness is important and the use of outdoor 
gyms are currently being evaluated. 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 106 
 

 

14.5 Public Health commissions Healthy Walks from Kent Community Health Foundation 
Trust and they also provide an opportunity for 30 people in East Kent to be trained as 
food champions.  Community Chefs are also commissioned in Swale, Maidstone, 
Gravesham and Dartford. 
 

14.6 Healthy Living Centres in Sheppey, Thanet, Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks, 
Maidstone, Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge also offer: 
 

• Provision of opportunities for drop-in sessions on healthy eating, bring and 
share and recipe swaps, fruit and veg bags, home growing of produce and 
where kitchen space is adequate, cooking skills/cook and eat sessions for 
young parents; 

• Provision of opportunities for indoor and outdoor physical activity through 
support and signposting to group activities such as swimming, health walks, line 
dancing/other types of dancing and various sporting activities either directly or 
through partners. This will include a new cycling fitness project; 

• Act as a base from which health trainers can promote increased participation in 
community based projects in support of health and wellbeing; 

• Provide evidence of all the above for quarterly monitoring 
 

14.7 Tier 2 lifestyle weight management services 
NICE recommends that lifestyle weight management services (Tier 2) should focus on 
long term change rather than short term weight loss.  The more weight an individual 
loses the greater the health benefits, particularly if someone loses more than 5% of 
their body weight and maintains this for life.  On average, people attending a lifestyle 
weight management programme lose around 3% of their body weight, but this varies.  
 

14.8 The Fresh Start programme is provided by Kent Community Health Foundation Trust 
and was formerly commissioned by Eastern Coastal Kent Primary Care Trust.  The 
Fresh Start Scheme is provided in the East Kent area and predominantly delivered in 
pharmacy settings.  Approximately 40 community pharmacies, eight health trainers and 
one GP surgery deliver the scheme across the area. A total of 75 advisers are 
delivering the scheme across East Kent.   
 

14.9 The Balmoral practice has been offering an in-house Tier 2 weight management 
programme for its own and neighbouring patients in Deal since 2008.  The programme 
is open ended and some patients have been attending the programme from the 
beginning.  It is run by a dietician and a health care assistant with support from other 
members of the primary care team.  There had formerly been an exercise component 
but the provider left and the practice is seeking to re-instate this.  The programme runs 
one half day a week. 
 

14.10 In the former West Kent PCT localities community weight management programmes 
are provided by the borough and district councils. The Why Weight adult weight 
management programme is run primarily in Dartford town centre at Peppercorns, a 
local community hall with a fitness studio.   Since January 2013, courses have been 
delivered in an outer parish of the borough. 
 

14.11 The Gr@nd provides a 12 week programme in Gravesham which is tailored to the 
needs of specific target groups including Black, Minority and Ethnic (BME) 
communities, rural groups, deprived areas and men.  At the end of the intervention 
participants are offered a free one week pass at Cascades, Cygnets or Swanscombe 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 107 
 

 

Leisure Centres and a free swimming session at Cascades or Cygnets.  Participants 
are invited back to exercise sessions and signposting to free exercise or relevant 
events and are offered reduced gym membership for 12 months.  
  

14.12 The Sevenoaks Why Weight 12 week programme is based on the Counterweight 
model and delivered in locations based on need and deprivation in the district.  The 
adult weight management programme is run in both towns and villages, primarily in 
leisure centres in the three largest towns: Swanley, Sevenoaks and Edenbridge, with 
additional classes being run in New Ash Green and West Kingsdown.  The Get Sorted 
service is based at the local leisure centres in the district, offering 1:1 sessions to 
completed Why Weight participants. Each participant is offered 6 x 1:1 sessions 
throughout the year to achieve their long term and short term goals.   
 

14.13 Maidstone Borough Council offers the Counterweight programme aimed at giving 
people the skills to manage their weight for life and a 10 week adult weight 
management programme run by Maidstone Leisure Centre.  Maidstone Leisure Centre 
provides a programme that includes weekly seminars, weigh-ins, exercise classes, 
gym sessions and a supermarket trip on what foods to buy to manage weight. 
 

14.14 Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council provides the Counterweight Programme which 
is a programme that promotes behavioural strategies, which seek to change eating 
habits, activity levels, sedentary behaviours and thinking processes that contribute to 
an individual becoming overweight or obese. The programme promotes active weight 
loss for three to six months, followed by long term weight loss maintenance. 
 

14.15 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council provide a 10 week programme at venues across the 
Borough called Weight for It. They also offer exercise referral and health trainer 
services and direct the individuals to the most beneficial intervention to meet their 
needs. 
 

14.16 Tier 3 specialist weight management services 
There are two specialist weight management programmes (Tier 3)) that run in Kent, 4 
healthy weight which has been in place since April 2013 and provides a service across 
Kent with the exception of Swale.  The pre-existing programme Swale Weight 
Management Service (SWMS) provides services for Swale only. 
 

14.17 4healthyweight 
4healthyweight is a psychologically led service which puts the clients mental health 
needs at the centre of their care.  There is an initial motivational interview and patients 
who are not motivated are offered alternative options.  A multi-disciplinary team 
assessment is undertaken by a bariatric physician. Dietician, exercise specialist and 
psychologist and is followed by an initial 12 week intensive phase.  This is followed by 
a nine month maintenance programme for patients following the non-surgical route.  
Patients following the surgical pathway will have a referral to Tier 4 from six months 
onward.  Patients on the non-surgical pathway will at the end of the 12 month period be 
referred back to the general practitioner and to the local Tier 2 service to ensure that 
progress is maintained.  Patients on the surgical pathway are followed up by the 
tertiary centre for 24 months and may then be referred back into Tier 3 if necessary. 
 

14.18 In 2013/14 530 patients were referred. Three quarters of all referrals were from the 35-
64 age group, this has continued through 2014/15.  55% of all referrals were for 
females aged 35-64 compared to 19% for males.  428 started the intervention (of those 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 108 
 

 

not starting, 21 were referred back to Tier 2).    
 
4 healthy weight has patients with a higher starting BMI with 52.3% of their patients 
having a BMI of 45 or more.  
 

14.19 Table 6: 4 healthy weight mean weight and BMI reduction 2013/14 
 

weight kg BMI

mean initial measurement 129.8 46.4

Mean end measurement 120.7 44

Total reduction percentage 7.50% 5.365  
 
4 healthy weight provides support to prepare those patients who choose surgery as it is 
well-known that prepared patients have better outcomes.  Ninety nine patients from 
Kent were on the surgical pathway in 2013/14 
 

14.20 Swale Weight Management Services 
SWMS is a 12 month programme split into two phases. All clients are initially assessed 
by the multi-disciplinary team (MDT). A specialist dietitian assesses a client’s nutritional 
needs and discusses how food fits into their lifestyle.  Individual goals are developed in 
conjunction with the client to suit their personal needs. A specialist exercise 
physiologist assesses physical ability and fitness levels.  Specialist advice is given on 
exercise and individual goals are set to encourage and support regular physical 
activity. A specialist therapist supports and encourages clients to look at and explore 
any emotional issues surrounding weight management and the different coping 
strategies available. The MDT does not have a bariatric physician and cannot therefore 
refer onto the surgical pathway. 
 

14.21 Table 7: Patients completing SWMS interventions 2013/14 
 
 number percentage 
Completed 3 months 79 41.6% 
Completed 12 months 55 28.9% 
 
BMI reduction is comparable across Kent but mean weight loss is lower than 4 healthy 
weight.   
 

14.22 Figure 7: Percentage of Kent Tier 3 12 month completers by Provider 

 N=296 

 

 

 SWMS 4HW 

 17% (n=51) 83% (n=245) 

14.23 There are problems with both services. Currently 4 healthy weight is exceeding its 
contracted capacity and SWMS does not have a bariatric physician within its MDT.  
National changes will impact on local decisions. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 109 
 

 

    
14.24 Children’s healthy weight services 

Only Tier 1 and Tier 2 services are available for children and families in Kent.  Health 
visitors promote infant led weaning as part of their universal offer and provide public 
health advice and interventions that encourage healthy eating and physical activity to 
parents and carers and their young families.   Across Kent, the ’Born to Move’ initiative 
is a health visitor led project to raise awareness of the importance of human interaction 
between parent /carer and infant or child to enable optimal development, physically 
and emotionally which may have some  impact on childhood obesity.  Early Help, 
including Children Centre staff and youth provision have a responsibility for creating an 
environment that promotes healthy eating and physical activity and this is part of an 
agreement between Public Health and the Children’s Centre which is subject to 
monitoring and audit. 
 

14.25 At Tier 1 there are a number of initiatives commissioned by Public Health in Kent 
County Council that are delivered in Children’s Centres.  These include the Community 
Chef provided by Healthy Living Centres in Swale, Dartford, Gravesham and 
Maidstone, Food Champions provided by Kent Community Health NHS Foundation 
Trust (KCHFT) in the former Eastern Coastal Kent area.  KCHFT have previously 
delivered training on consistent messages for both physical activity and healthy eating 
e.g. Acorns to Oaks training which was to support Children’s Centre staff to raise the 
issue of weight and be able to support families locally. In Swale and Tunbridge Wells 
there are dedicated Children’s Centre based Community Chef programmes. 
 

14.26 The school nursing team undertakes the National Child Measurement Programme in 
years 6 and reception and offers support to parents following receipt of the result 
letters. The school nursing team operates an open referral process for a package of 
care i.e. four contacts with a child/young person, in addition they can refer to dieticians, 
paediatricians, Kent Community Health Foundation Trust and borough council 
community healthy living/exercise programmes which vary across Kent. 
 

14.27 The Healthy Schools team in Kent Community Health Foundation Trust is currently 
working intensively with targeted schools across Kent. In addition all schools have 
access to schools premium funding to optimise physical activity and access to school 
sports interventions. For families who struggle with their weight there are fun oriented 
programmes aimed at families with junior school aged children in all district localities in 
Kent.  Some are at Tier 1 level with more intensive Tier 3 family weight management 
programmes provided across Kent.  Local National Child Measurement Programme 
Groups work in partnership to support the measurement programme and to maximise 
the impacts of nutrition, physical activity and self-esteem enhancing interventions and 
to promote joint working and onward referrals. 
 

14.28 Tier 2 family weight management programmes 
In the former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT area family weight management programmes 
are provided by the Healthy Weight team within Kent Community Healthcare Trust.  
Ready Steady Go is a 12 week programme for families with children between seven 
and 11 whose weight is equal to or above the 91st centile.  In 2013/14 there were 82 
referrals, 48 participants engaged with the service and 23 participants completed the 
course.  Recruitment into these programmes is a challenge and to help with 
recruitment an intervention that is more acceptable needs to be provided.  
 

14.29 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council provides a 10 week programme called Learn Eat 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 110 
 

 

and Play (LEAP) which includes physical activity, healthy eating and behaviour change 
and as part of this has a practical cookery session every other week. It replaced Mind, 
Exercise, Nutrition Do it! (MEND) as very few families attended. The partnership works 
across Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge and Malling and consists of a community chef, 
four nutritionists and three exercise/ dance specialists.  In the weeks before LEAP is 
planned to start, a separate four week cookery course called Cook and Eat is offered, 
this is done in much the same way as other programmes as a more acceptable 
intervention that could be a gateway to the LEAP programme.   
 

14.30 Maidstone Borough Council uses a programme Go For It! provided by Zeroth which is 
a 12 week course run in term time using a different model to most of the other 
programmes.  The children and young people are invited to attend 20 activity sessions.  
These include a mix of activities to improve strength, cardiovascular fitness, flexibility 
and motor skills through studio based activities, team games and working out in the 
Zeroth gym, if old enough.  For every child registered, at least one parent/guardian had 
to commit to attending the adult workshops.  
  

14.31 Sevenoaks District Council runs a Fun Fit and Active programme which is delivered in 
five schools. 
 

14.32 The Gr@nd Healthy Living Centre in Gravesham provides the 12 week Family Healthy 
Weight programme which engaged 60 participants from 35 families in 2013/14.  It also 
provides less intensive interventions through the Don’t Sit, Get Fit programme.  A 
nutritionist from Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust works across Dartford and 
Gravesham to provide nutritionist support to these programmes. 
 

14.33 As well as providing Don’t Sit, Get Fit interventions in schools and the community 
supported by the nutritionist, Dartford Borough Council provides the Dynamo Club for 
families with children above the 91st centile.  In 2013/14 12 children and their families 
were engaged in this programme. 
 

14.34 Specialist children’s and maternal services 
There are no dedicated Tier 3 services for children in Kent; therefore access to a 
specialist dietician is important.  This access is variable across Kent. 
 

14.35 Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust provides consultant only referrals for 
children who have diabetes. Children with obesity (only) will be seen by the paediatric 
dieticians employed by Kent Community Healthcare Foundation Trust (KCHFT).  The 
KCFHT paediatric team has a 0.2 w.t.e.team leader with two paediatric dieticians and 
one assistant working across Kent.  The team provides the totality of dietetic services 
for children in the whole of West Kent and East Kent (not Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley). 
 

14.36 In West Kent there are two weekly clinics run in the hospital for consultant only 
referrals and one clinic for GP referrals from the Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells areas 
only.  Each clinic has the capacity to see six patients. In East Kent both consultants 
and GPs can refer into the service but there is higher demand than in West Kent.  
Across Kent KCHFT report waiting times of six months and this has been added to the 
Trust risk register. 
 

14.37 Acute and community Paediatric Dietetic services are provided in the Dartford 
Gravesham and Swanley CCG area by the Nutrition and Dietetic Department within the 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 111 
 

 

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust.  The acute service is provided at Darent Valley 
Hospital and the community base is at Archery House, also in Dartford.  Their draft 
weight management referral pathway for children describes interventions at 75th -91st 
centile, above the 91st centile and above the 98th centile.  Communication between 
Tier 2 and Tier 3 is facilitated by a 0.8 wte dietician’s time as part of the family weight 
management programme. 
 

14.38 Provision of support for healthy weight in pregnancy is variable across Kent.  It is of 
concern that no Kent Trusts meet NICE guidance (47) for all women with a BMI of 30 
or over. 
 

 
14.39 Consultation and engagement has been undertaken with adults, children and young 

people, wider stakeholders and with GPs, copies of questionnaires are in Appendices 
2-5 

 
14.40  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Summary 
 

 The capacity for a wider range of organisations to contribute to  
tackling obesity needs to be assessed and mobilised. 

 Commissioned services only provide interventions for a fraction 
of the population at risk, there is a need for front line workers to 
better understand what they can do and to be provided with the 
tools to do it. 

 Family weight management services are under-used and there are 
no programmes for teenagers. 

 Maternity services do not meet NICE guidance as not all eligible 
women see a dietician during pregnancy. 

 Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure there is a 
complete healthy weight pathway for both adults and children and 

young people. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 112 
 

 

15. Model of Care 
 
15.1 Pathways 

NICE has produced extensive guidance on approaches to tackle obesity and has 
published three specific pathways on: obesity, working with local communities 
and preventing type 2 diabetes. The pathways do overlap and reflect the 
importance of a joined up approach which is in line with the definition of public 
health of “improving health and prolonging life through the organised efforts of 
society”. 
 

15.2 The Obesity Pathway (71) has three overarching sections on 
 

 Prevention 

 Identification  

 Management 
 
The pathway has 14 paths as listed below based on both clinical and public 
health guidance.  It also links to other related guidance and pathways including 
maternal and child diet and smoking for example.  The pathways are all 
underpinned by evidence and the detail is provided.  
 

 Preventing obesity 

 Helping people maintain a healthy weight 

 Interventions to prevent obesity 

 Identifying people who are overweight or obese 

 Managing obesity 

 Interventions led by healthcare professionals to prevent overweight 

 Workplace interventions to prevent obesity 

 Pre-school and school based interventions to prevent obesity 

 Overweight and obese children and young people 

 Managing weight through lifestyle change in children and young people 

 Overweight and obese adults 

 Managing weight through lifestyle change in adults 

 Surgery for obese adults 
 

15.3 The working with local communities pathway describes the steps needed for 
developing a community approach which is both strategically led and top down 
and also bottom up. Its seven paths are listed below and are based on specific 
NICE guidance (49). 
 

 Working with local communities overview 

 Developing a sustainable approach and leadership 

 Communication 

 Co-ordinating local action 

 Integrated commissioning 

 Training and development 

 Monitoring and evaluation, cost effectiveness and scrutiny 
 

Within each path there are recommendations taken from NICE guidance.  
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 113 
 

 

15.4 The preventing type 2 diabetes pathway has eight paths which are based on 
specific NICE guidance.  
 

 Preventing type 2 diabetes overview 

 National strategy and policy to prevent type 2 diabetes 

 Local action to prevent type 2 diabetes including strategy, policy and 
commissioning 

 Encouraging people to have a risk assessment for type 2 diabetes and 
identifying those at risk 

 Managing risk of type 2 diabetes 

 Training to prevent type 2 diabetes 

 Population and community interventions 

 Group and individual level interventions to prevent type 2 diabetes among 
people at high risk 
 

15.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Good Practice Model 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG commissions Rotherham Obesity Institute to provide 
obesity services.  A full four tier service is in place for both adults and children 
and is nationally considered to be an outstanding model.  
 
Rotherham Healthy Weight Pathway 

 

15.6 In Kent there is a published pathway for children and young people but it has not 
been well implemented and needs to be reviewed by commissioners as an 
approach to tackling childhood obesity, both prevention and management.  
There is a real gap in provision for older children whose needs are likely to be 
more complex and are likely to benefit more from 1:1 interventions.  There are no 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 114 
 

 

specialist weight management services and surgery is not normally 
recommended for children.  Across most of Kent, access to dietetics and 
paediatrics is limited for children in the absence of other conditions. 
 

15.7 Services for adults at all tiers exist but local and national changes in 
commissioning are likely to impact on availability of specialist services for people 
with severe and complex obesity.  At the other end of the spectrum there are 
potentially many universal interventions available in communities and a 
mechanism for engaging with, and motivating people to access them, rather than 
commissioning further interventions needs to be considered. 
 

15.8 New models need to be designed to enable interventions to be commissioned at 
scale with consideration given to follow up and maintenance.  It may not be 
useful to commission programmes for healthy weight independently of other 
related interventions such as smoking alcohol and emotional health and well 
being.  Currently details about people accessing services are held within that 
service and patient identifiable data is not shared so it is not possible to follow 
the individual to measure outcomes across a number of interventions provided 
by a range of services to know what is most effective. 
 

15.9  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Summary 
 

 There are robust published pathways and recommendations 
for the approach to prevention, identification and 
management of obesity. 

 There are well regarded models of good practice available 
elsewhere that Kent could learn from. 

 It will need a clear strategic direction to integrate all the 
action that is necessary and co-commissioning should be 
considered. 

 An integrated model for obesity should be defined and 
include paths to other related health improvement strands 
such as emotional health and wellbeing, smoking and 
alcohol. 

 Identifiable data sharing with consent will enable better 
measurement of individual outcomes to robustly measure 
the impact of interventions. 

 
 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 115 
 

 

 

16. Commissioning Intentions 
 

16.1 It is clear from this needs assessment that there is a historical imbalance in the 
services that are commissioned across Kent and any commissioning intentions should 
address this, taking into account the variable prevalence of obesity in children and 
young people and adults in different parts of Kent.  However, with two thirds of the 
adult population either overweight or obese it is logical that a proportionate universalist 
approach should be taken. 
 

16.2 It is also clear that obesity is an expensive condition due to the cost of treating obesity 
itself and the impact on other non-communicable conditions.  It will not be possible to 
fund prevention in the way we are currently if we want to make a difference and it is 
necessary to look at all the parts of the system that could work at a scale to contribute 
to a better model in Kent. 
 

16.3 Other non-communicable disease prevention services invest more heavily in training. 
Training that is available is not provided across the whole of Kent, for example the 
Food Champion programme that is available only in the former Eastern Coastal PCT 
area.  This is particularly urgent as services in receipt of ‘re-badged’ public health 
funding will need training to fully carry out a role for promoting healthy weight. 
 

16.4 Where some limited training has been provided in the past it has not always been 
effectively implemented due to the reluctance of the front line work force to raise the 
issue of weight.  The need for training is highlighted in guidance and in the 
recommendations contained within the NICE Obesity pathway which states that: 
 
Health and other relevant professionals are trained to be aware of the health risks of 
being overweight and obese and the benefits of preventing and managing obesity. This 
training should include: 
 

• understanding the wider determinants of obesity (such as the impact of the 
local environment or socioeconomic status) 

• understanding the local system in relation to the obesity agenda (such as who 
the key partners are) 

• understanding methods for working with local communities 
• knowing the appropriate language to use (referring to achieving or maintaining 

a 'healthy weight' may be more acceptable than 'preventing obesity' for some 
communities)  

• understanding why it can be difficult for some people to avoid weight gain or to 
achieve and maintain weight loss  

• being aware of strategies people can use to address their weight concerns  
• being aware of local services that are likely to be effective in helping people 

maintain a healthy weight  
• being aware of local lifestyle weight management services that follow best 

practice outlined in the obesity pathway. 
 

16.5 Specific groups with particular needs have been identified by NICE and their needs 
should be considered in any commissioning plans across partners, these include 
pregnant women, those from black and Asian ethnic origin, people with disabilities, 
particularly people with learning disabilities.  In addition interventions for teenagers are 
lacking and men are under-represented in Tier 2 community weight management 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 116 
 

 

services. 
 

16.6 Integration of services commissioned by different organisations and co-commissioning 
will be central to the success of any model. The working group for Joined up Clinical 
Pathways for Obesity (73) recommended that commissioning responsibilities for tier 4 
lay with NHS England, Tier 3 with Clinical Commissioning Groups and Tiers 1 & 2 with 
local authorities.  NHS England has more recently consulted on Tier 4 transferring to 
CCGs and a transfer in April 2016 was recommended, however no details are yet 
available. 
 

16.7 With closer working it will be important to demonstrate to all partners what is effective, 
and more robust research and evaluation are critical.  Funding for this should be 
designed into any model prior to procurement. 
 

16.8 It will be necessary for the whole system to review the contracts and agreements that it 
places to include the implementation of relevant policy, for example healthy eating and 
snacks, travel and workplace health policies.  NHS and local authority organisations 
should be exemplars. 
 

16.9 Much commissioning to date has seen different strands of health improvement 
commissioned independently in silos, despite some obvious inter-dependencies. A 
more holistic integrated model needs to be designed, supported by data sharing 
agreements so that services are better informed about the needs of individuals. 
 

16.10 With limited funding available in the future, consideration needs to be given to defining 
what services should be commissioned, who they should be commissioned by and 
who they should be commissioned for.  We know there is an association between 
obesity and health inequalities.  There is data provided by Kent and Medway Public 
Health Observatory and from other sources about where the highest rates of obesity 
are found and these should be used to design local partnership interventions for 
specific neighbourhoods. (See locality maps in appendix 1.) 
 

16.11 Providers should be required to gain consent from participants for their data to be 
shared to enable a better understanding of the individuals’ use of services and the 
impacts and outcomes on their health. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 117 
 

 

 
16.12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 There will be less funding in the future so a commissioning 
model that better integrates services and budgets across 
organisations will be necessary. 

 There is a huge potential front-line workforce who knows the 
individuals and families at risk but needs the skills and tools to 
have those conversations. Training must be a high priority. 

 A model which better integrates all the relevant health 
improvement strands needs to be designed, to include healthy 
weight, research and evaluation should underpin implementation 
of the model. 

 Services for specific groups who are most at risk should be 
commissioned, including pregnant women, those of Black and 
Asian origin, those with disabilities, particularly learning 
disabilities. In addition there is a lack of provision for teenagers 
and men. 

 Contracts and agreements with suppliers and providers should 
include measures for health gain, including healthy weight. 

 Top down and bottom up approaches need to be taken, to 
include work at community levels in areas of highest need. 

 Better data sharing across the system will enable more robust 
measurement of outcomes and inform commissioning of 
effective interventions. 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 118 
 

 

17. References 
 

1. Butland B, Jebb S, Kopelman P, McPherson K, Thomas S, et al. Foresight tackling 
obesities: Future choices – project report. 2nd edition. London: Department for  
Innovation, Universities and Skills; 2007 

 
2. Wang YC, McPherson K, Marsh T, Gortmaker SL, Brown M (2011). Research paper. 

'Health and economic burden of the projected obesity trends in the USA and the UK'. 
Lancet, vol 378: pp 815-25 

 
3. National Audit Office (2001). Report. Tackling obesity in England. Report by the 

comptroller and auditor general HC220 Session 2000- 2001: 15 Feb 2001 
 
4. Puhl, R. M. and Heuer, C. A. (2009), The Stigma of Obesity: A Review and Update. 

Obesity, 17: 941–964. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.636 
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1038/oby.2008.636/full 

 
5. Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Bergmann M, Schulze MB, Overvad K, et al. General 

and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. New England Journal of Medicine 
2008;359: 2105-20  

 
6. Berrington de Gonzalez A, Hartge P, Cerhan JR et al (2010) Body-Mass Index and 

Mortality among 1.46 Million White Adults. New England Journal of Medicine;363:2211-
9 

 
7.  Duncan M, Griffith M, Rutter H, Goldacre MJ. Certification of obesity as a cause of 

death in England 1979-2006. European Journal of Public Health 2010; 20(6):671-675 
 
8. Maternal body mass index and the risk of fetal and infant death: a cohort study from the 

North of England, Tennant P, Rankin J and Bell R. Human Reproduction 2011; 26(6): 
1501–1511. 

 
9. Lewis, G. Saving mothers’ lives: reviewing maternal deaths to make motherhood safer: 

2003-2005. The seventh report on confidential enquiries into maternal deaths in the 
United Kingdom. London: Confidential Enquiry into Maternal and Child Health; 2007. 

 
10. Haines L, Wan KC, Lynn R, Barrett TG, Shield JPH. Rising incidence of type 2 diabetes 

in children in the U.K. Diabetes Care 2007;30(5):1097-101. 
   
11. Egan K, Ettinger A, Bracken M. Childhood body mass index and subsequent physician-

diagnosed asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort 
studies. BMC Pediatrics 2013;13(1):121. 

 
12. Freedman DS, Mei Z, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS, Dietz WH. Cardiovascular risk 

factors and excess adiposity among overweight children and adolescents: the Bogalusa 
Heart Study. J Pediatr. 2007;150(1):12-17.e2. 

 
13. Griffiths LJ, Dezateux C, Hill A. Is obesity associated with emotional and behavioural 

problems in children? Findings from the Millennium Cohort Study. International Journal 
of Pediatric Obesity 2011;6(2-2):e423-32. 

 

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1038/oby.2008.636/full


 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 119 
 

 

14. Public Health England (2015) Making the Case for Tackling Obesity – Why Invest? 
PHE, London. Available at: www.noo.org.uk/slide_sets 

 
15. Marmot, M (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives: Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in 

England 
 
16. Public Health England (2014) Obesity data factsheet. Available at: 

Puhttp://www.noo.org.uk/securefiles/141125_1244//AdultWeight_Aug2014_v2.pdf 
 
17. Paul Eastwood (2014), Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet, Health and Social 

Care Information Centre 
 http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB13648/Obes-phys-acti-diet-eng-2014-rep.pdf 
 
18. Rimmer J, Wang E, Yamaki K, & Davis B. FOCUS Technical Brief No. 24. Documenting 

Disparities in Obesity and Disability, National Center for the Dissemination of Disability 
Research (NCDDR) 2010. 

 
19. Child and Maternal Health Observatory (CHIMAT). Disability and obesity: the 

prevalence of obesity in disabled children, 21 July 2011. 
 
20. NICE (2013) PH46: Assessing body mass index and waist circumference thresholds for 

intervening to prevent ill health and premature death among adults from black, Asian 
and other minority ethnic groups in the UK. Available at: 
http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/14201/64332/64332.pdf 

 
21. Parsons, T.J. et al. Childhood predictors of adult obesity: a systematic review. [Review] 

[283 refs]. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the 
International Association for the Study of Obesity 1999; 23 Suppl 12: pp.S1-S107.  

 
22. Patrick, H. and Nicklas, T.A. A review of family and social determinants of children’s 

eating patterns and diet quality. Journal of the American College of Nutrition 2005; 
24(2): pp.83-92.  

 
23. Barker, D.J. Mothers, babies and health in later life. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 

1998.  
 
24. Guo et al (2002) “Predicting Overweight and Obesity in Adulthood from Body Mass 

Index Values in Childhood and Adolescence.” American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 76: 
653–58. 

 
25. Deitz (1994) “Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity.” American 

Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 59:955-59. 
 
26. Department of Health (2011) Healthy Lives, Healthy People: A call to action on obesity 

in England. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-
healthy-people-a-call-to-action-on-obesity-in-england 

 
27. Department of Health, Policy Obesity and Healthy Eating, DH, 2010-2015, 2015. 

Available at:  https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/obesity-and-healthy-eating 
 

http://www.noo.org.uk/slide_sets
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB13648/Obes-phys-acti-diet-eng-2014-rep.pdf
http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/14201/64332/64332.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/obesity-and-healthy-eating


 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 120 
 

 

28. NICE (2006) CG43: Obesity: Guidance on the prevention, identification, assessment 
and management of overweight and obesity in adults. London: NICE; 2006. Available at: 
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG43/NICEGuidance/pdf/English 

 
29. NHS England (2014) Five Year Forward Plan. Available at: 
      http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/ 
 
30. Royal College of Physicians. Action on obesity: comprehensive care for all.  Report of a 

working party. London: RCP, 2013. Available at: 
 https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/action-on-obesity.pdf 
 
31. Lehnert T, Sonntag D, Konnopka A, Riedel-Heller S, König H-H. The long-term cost-

effectiveness of obesity prevention interventions: systematic literature review. Obesity 
Reviews: an official journal of the International 

 Association for the Study of Obesity 2012;13(6):537–53. 
 
32. Sassi F, Cecchini M, Lauer J. Improving lifestyles, tackling obesity: the health and 

economic impact of prevention strategies. OECD Health Working Papers 2009;(48). 
 
33. District Councils’ Network District Action on Public Health: How district councils 

contribute towards the new health and wellbeing agenda in local government.  Available 
at: http://districtcouncils.info/2013/02/11/district-action-on-public-health/ 

 
34. Seccombe I, Doyle A, Kell S, Making It Better Together: A Call to Action of the Future of 

Health and Well-being Boards, Local Government Association and NHS Clinical 
Commissioning June 2015. Available at: 
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-
254+Making+it+better+together+-
+A+call+to+action+on+the+future+of+health+and+wellbeing+boards/311885a4-5597-
4007-8069-46bc2732d6a2 

 
35. Department of Health (2015) Arrangements for the transfer of commissioning 

responsibilities for renal dialysis and morbid obesity surgery services from NHS England 
to Clinical Commissioning Groups: Government response to consultation.  Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/404242/G
overnment_Response.pdf 

 
36. Picot J, Jones J, Colquitt JL, Gospodarevskaya E, Loveman E, Baxter L, Clegg AJ. The 

clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of bariatric (weight loss) surgery for obesity: 
a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technol Assess. 2009 
Sep;13(41):1-190, 215-357, iii-iv. 

 
37. British Obesity and Metabolic Surgery Society (2014), Commissioning guide: Weight 

assessment and management clinics (tier 3) Available at:  
 http://www.bomss.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Commissioning-guide-weight-

assessment-and-management-clinics-published.pdf 
 
38. National Obesity Observatory (2010) Treating adult obesity though lifestyle change 

interventions: a briefing paper for commissioners. Available at: 
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_5189_Adult_weight_management_Final_220210
.pdf 

 

http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG43/NICEGuidance/pdf/English
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/action-on-obesity.pdf
http://districtcouncils.info/2013/02/11/district-action-on-public-health/
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-254+Making+it+better+together+-+A+call+to+action+on+the+future+of+health+and+wellbeing+boards/311885a4-5597-4007-8069-46bc2732d6a2
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-254+Making+it+better+together+-+A+call+to+action+on+the+future+of+health+and+wellbeing+boards/311885a4-5597-4007-8069-46bc2732d6a2
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-254+Making+it+better+together+-+A+call+to+action+on+the+future+of+health+and+wellbeing+boards/311885a4-5597-4007-8069-46bc2732d6a2
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-254+Making+it+better+together+-+A+call+to+action+on+the+future+of+health+and+wellbeing+boards/311885a4-5597-4007-8069-46bc2732d6a2
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/404242/Government_Response.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/404242/Government_Response.pdf
http://www.bomss.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Commissioning-guide-weight-assessment-and-management-clinics-published.pdf
http://www.bomss.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Commissioning-guide-weight-assessment-and-management-clinics-published.pdf
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_5189_Adult_weight_management_Final_220210.pdf
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_5189_Adult_weight_management_Final_220210.pdf


 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 121 
 

 

39. Department of Health (2011). Start Active, Stay Active: a report on physical activity from 
the four home countries' Chief Medical Officers. Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/start-active-stay-active-a-report-on-
physical-activity-from-the-four-home-countries-chief-medical-officers 

 
40. NICE (2015) NG7: Maintaining a healthy weight and preventing excess weight gain 

among adults and children. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng7 
 
41. Department of Health (2014) The Eatwell Plate: How to use it in promotional material, 

2014.  Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-eatwell-plate-how-
to-use-it-in-promotional-material 

 
42. Department of Health (2015) The Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition,  

Carbohydrates and Health, London: TSO.  Available at: 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sacn-carbohydrates-and-health-report 
 
43. NICE (2014) CG 189: Obesity: identification, assessment and management of 

overweight and obesity in children, young people and adults.  Available at: 
 http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189 
 
44. NICE (2014) PH 53: Managing overweight and obesity in adults-lifestyle weight 

management services.  Available at: 
 http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/resources/guidance-managing-overweight-and-

obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-pdf 
 
45. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (2012) 115: Management of Obesity. 

Available at http://www.sign.ac.uk/pdf/sign115.pdf 
 
46. NICE (2013) PH46 Assessing body mass index and waist circumference thresholds for 

intervening to prevent ill health and premature death among adults from black, Asian 
and other minority ethnic groups in the UK.  Available at: 
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/resources/guidance-assessing-body-mass-index-
and-waist-circumference-thresholds-for-intervening-to-prevent-ill-health-and-premature-
death-among-adults-from-black-asian-and-other-minority-ethnic-groups-in-the-uk-pdf 

 
47. NICE (2010a) PH27 Weight management before, during and after pregnancy: guidance 

Available at: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH27/Guidance/pdf/English 
 
48. NICE (2006) CG 43 Obesity: guidance on the prevention of overweight and obesity in 

adults and children.  Available at: 
 http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/resources/guidance-managing-overweight-and-

obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-pdf 
 
49. NICE (2012) PH42: Obesity: working with local communities. Available at: 

http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH42 
 
50. NHS Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (2014) Your 

health: Our plans for meeting your health needs, NHS Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group.  Available at: 
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-
us/publications/?categoryesctl7566251=10404 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/start-active-stay-active-a-report-on-physical-activity-from-the-four-home-countries-chief-medical-officers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/start-active-stay-active-a-report-on-physical-activity-from-the-four-home-countries-chief-medical-officers
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng7
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-eatwell-plate-how-to-use-it-in-promotional-material
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-eatwell-plate-how-to-use-it-in-promotional-material
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sacn-carbohydrates-and-health-report
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/resources/guidance-managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-pdf
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/resources/guidance-managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-pdf
http://www.sign.ac.uk/pdf/sign115.pdf
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/resources/guidance-assessing-body-mass-index-and-waist-circumference-thresholds-for-intervening-to-prevent-ill-health-and-premature-death-among-adults-from-black-asian-and-other-minority-ethnic-groups-in-the-uk-pdf
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/resources/guidance-assessing-body-mass-index-and-waist-circumference-thresholds-for-intervening-to-prevent-ill-health-and-premature-death-among-adults-from-black-asian-and-other-minority-ethnic-groups-in-the-uk-pdf
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph46/resources/guidance-assessing-body-mass-index-and-waist-circumference-thresholds-for-intervening-to-prevent-ill-health-and-premature-death-among-adults-from-black-asian-and-other-minority-ethnic-groups-in-the-uk-pdf
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH27/Guidance/pdf/English
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/resources/guidance-managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-pdf
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph53/resources/guidance-managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-pdf
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH42
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/?categoryesctl7566251=10404
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/?categoryesctl7566251=10404


 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 122 
 

 

51. Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015) Health and Social Care Maps: 
Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG.  Available at: http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-
and-social-care-maps/dartford-gravesham-and-swanley-ccg/ 

 
52. Public Health England, Local Health (neighbourhood) Profiles, NHS Dartford 

Gravesham and Swanley.  Available at: 
 http://www.localhealth.org.uk/#sly=ccg_2013_DR;sid=42;v=map10;l=en 
 
53. NHS West Kent Clinical Commissioning Group (2014) Strategic Commissioning Plan 

2014-2017. Available at: 
http://www.westkentccg.nhs.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=404585 

 
54. Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015) Health and Social Care Maps: 

West Kent CCG.  Available at: 
 http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/west-kent-ccg/ 
 
55. Public Health England, Local Health (neighbourhood) Profiles, NHS West Kent  
 http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/ 
 
56. Ashford Clinical Commissioning Group (2014) Strategic Commissioning Plan 2014-2019 

Ashford Clinical Commissioning Group http://www.ashfordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-
plans-reports-and-strategies/ 

 
57. Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015) Health and Social Care Maps: 

Ashford CCG.  Available at: 
 http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/ashford/ 
 
58. Public Health England, Local Health (neighbourhood)Profiles, NHS Ashford  

http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/ 
 
59. Canterbury and Coastal CCG Clinical Commissioning Group Strategic Commissioning 

Plan 2014-2019 Canterbury and Coastal CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 2014   
 http://www.canterburycoastalccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/publication-

scheme/?categoryesctl7526691=9122&assetdet7526669=394436&categoryesctl75268
99=9124 

 
60. Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015) Health and Social Care Maps: 

Canterbury and Coastal CCG.  Available at: 
 http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/canterbury-and-coastal-ccg/ 
 
61. Public Health England, Local Health (neighbourhood)Profiles, NHS Canterbury and 

Coastal CCG http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/ 
 
62. NHS South Kent Coast Clinical Commissioning Group (2015) Patient Prospectus NHS 

South Kent Coast Clinical Commissioning Group  
 http://www.southkentcoastccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans-reports-and-strategies/ 
  
63. Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015) Health and Social Care Maps: 

South Kent Coast CCG.  Available at: 
 http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/south-kent-coast-ccg/ 
 

http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/dartford-gravesham-and-swanley-ccg/
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/dartford-gravesham-and-swanley-ccg/
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/#sly=ccg_2013_DR;sid=42;v=map10;l=en
http://www.westkentccg.nhs.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=404585
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/west-kent-ccg/
http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/
http://www.ashfordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans-reports-and-strategies/
http://www.ashfordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans-reports-and-strategies/
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/ashford/
http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/
http://www.canterburycoastalccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/publication-scheme/?categoryesctl7526691=9122&assetdet7526669=394436&categoryesctl7526899=9124
http://www.canterburycoastalccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/publication-scheme/?categoryesctl7526691=9122&assetdet7526669=394436&categoryesctl7526899=9124
http://www.canterburycoastalccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/publication-scheme/?categoryesctl7526691=9122&assetdet7526669=394436&categoryesctl7526899=9124
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/canterbury-and-coastal-ccg/
http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/
http://www.southkentcoastccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans-reports-and-strategies/
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/south-kent-coast-ccg/


 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 123 
 

 

64. Public Health England, Local Health (neighbourhood) Profiles, NHS South Kent Coast 
CCG http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/ 

 
65. NHS Swale Clinical Commissioning Group Patient Prospectus NHS Swale Clinical 

Commissioning Group 2015 
 http://www.swaleccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans-reports-and-strategies/ 
 
66. Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015) Health and Social Care Maps: 

Swale CCG.  Available at: 
 http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/swale-ccg/ 
 
67. Public Health England, Local Health (neighbourhood)Profiles, NHS Swale CCG 

http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/ 
 
 
68. Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015) Health and Social Care Maps: 

Thanet CCG.  Available at: 
 http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/south-kent-coast-ccg/ 
 
69. Public Health England, Local Health (neighbourhood) Profiles, NHS Thanet CCG.  

Available at: http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/ 
 
70. NICE PH42 (2012) Obesity: working with local communities. NICE Available at: 

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph42 
 
71. NICE PH35 (2011) Preventing type 2 diabetes: population and community-level 

interventions NICE. Available at: http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph35 
 
72. NHS England (2014) Report of the working group into: Joined up clinical pathways for 

obesity Available at: 
 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/owg-join-clinc-path.pdf 

 
 

http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/
http://www.swaleccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans-reports-and-strategies/
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/swale-ccg/
http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/south-kent-coast-ccg/
http://datagateway.phe.org.uk/
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph42
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph35
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/owg-join-clinc-path.pdf


 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 124 
 

 

  
Thanet 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 125 
 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 126 
 

 

 

 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 127 
 

 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 128 
 

 

Appendix 2 
 
The Views of the Public and Stakeholders 
 
Adult Healthy Weight Consultation 
 
A consultation questionnaire was designed to ask the adult public about their own 
circumstances and their views on what interventions should be provided to help people 
stay a healthy weight.  It was posted on the Kent County Council website in standard 
and easy read formats.  An e-mail was sent to a broad range of partners for promotion.  
Six hundred and two responses were received, over the sample size required.   
 
The majority of responses were from women and from people over 46. Ten per cent of 
respondents were from BME groups and 11% considered themselves disabled, most 
wanted to lose more than a stone in weight.  Nearly 50% said they wanted to feel better 
about themselves, over 40% said they wanted to live healthier lifestyles, were 
concerned about their health or wanted to change how they looked.  The majority were 
already taking action; 33% were confident of their ability to change, 25% said they 
struggled to keep maintain weight loss and 22% said they’d like some help.  Job 
responsibilities and cost were cited as the main barriers.   
 
The majority of people wanted either one-to-one or group sessions.  The majority (40%) 
said they would need most support increasing physical activity.  Most (over 35%) said 
they would prefer the service to be near to home, 15% said they would like to visit a 
leisure centre, 14% wanted on-line support, about 12% said they would like a service 
offered in their GP surgery and 6% would use a pharmacy, about 2% would prefer a 
home visit.  Telephone support was least popular. 
 
People were asked what were the most important things to help people lose weight and 
the results are shown in Table 16 below. 
 
Table 14: Interventions that Kent adults agree would help with weight loss 

Agree or strongly agree what would help?   

Having advice on healthy eating 96% 

Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 95% 

Access to local leisure facilities 91% 

Weight loss classes 90% 

Local walks led mostly by volunteers 87% 

Helping people with healthy eating 81% 

Health Trainers 80% 

Exercise classes that your GP tells you to go to 79% 

Having one to one meetings with an adviser 79% 

Taking part in sport? 77% 

Attending a weight loss class 76% 

Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight 75% 

Being able to walk and cycle near to where you live 47% 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 129 
 

 

 
Children and Young People’s Consultation 
 
A short questionnaire was also designed and tested with a group of young people.  It 
was completed by 120 children aged 11-12 in a school and 12 young people aged 13-
24 in a youth setting.  It was also posted on survey monkey.  In total there were 178 
responses.  A copy of the survey is in appendix 6. The answers were free text and then 
grouped in the analysis. 
 
The young people that responded to the survey understood that being overweight 
caused health conditions such as diabetes, heart issues and breathing problems. The 
most reported answer is that young people who are overweight are likely to be bullied. 
Overweight young people also have problems with physical activity and not being able 
to take part in activities.  The results are shown in Figures 14 and 15 below 
  

 
The respondents thought that the best way to deliver health messages would be 
through TV adverts. To enable families to be more active free gym passes and family 
activities should be provided so that they get more exercise.  
 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 130 
 

 

 
They also thought healthy food should be more accessible and there was a need to 
promote messages such as the 5 a day campaign. In order to deliver these messages 
young people think that getting a professional athlete or celebrity on board to promote 
the messages would encourage families to act. 
 

 
 
Young people think that it is important to be educated and given information about 
being overweight, or how to avoid putting on weight. The channels for this should be 
social media such as Facebook. They also believe that families need to be encouraged 
to eat healthy foods and have support at the same time. Again, this informs us that 
healthy food needs to be more accessible to families. Access to free gyms or exercise 
groups was also a highly suggested recommendation. 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 131 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Stakeholder Views-The Big Weight Debate Summary 
 
Stakeholders attending the Big Weight Debate workshop on 8 December 2014 told us 
they wanted: 
 

 locally tailored services 

 enhanced community capacity  

 additional resources for targeting services in areas of greatest inequality. 

 
Key themes that emerged were: 
 

 Strategic Direction joint priority setting, agreement on strategy, common 

goals and outcomes 

 Commissioning needs to reflect differential levels of obesity, put measures 

into specifications 

 Service Users acceptability, accessibility, building trust, holistic offer, 

social and fun 

 Workforce huge potential untapped front line work force with training 

needs  

 Communication simple clear consistent messages, knowing what 

interventions are in place 

 Pathways life course approach, knowing referral process and 

motivation key 

 Into practice signage, walking routes and using stairs; workplace 

interventions.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 132 
 

 

 
 
Views of Primary Care 
 
Three GPs in Dartford Gravesham and Swanley and two GPs in West Kent responded 
to a short questionnaire about their views about tackling obesity.  The GPs pointed to 
issues of embarrassment and denial when discussing weight with parents and one GP 
said that in the discussion there was often a lack of understanding of causes and 
solutions.  Concern was expressed about stigma and a reluctance to disrupt the 
professional relationship by causing offence.  One GP stated that because patients are 
not coming to primary care because of weight issues, there is not time within the 
consultation to discuss obesity. The respondents were unaware of some of the service 
provision that is in place, particularly for families but also that there was longer term 
non-surgical psychological based support for people with a lot of weight to lose.  Other 
professional support that was mentioned included dietetics, school nursing, health 
visitors and surgery.   
 
One respondent was concerned that this was a societal issue and not a medical one 
and cited the Finnish heart disease programme in the 1970s which worked when the 
total country took responsibility for the issue.  A key issue raised was motivation that 
people often felt that they had tried and failed in the past, people needed to want to 
take action.  An advantage of provision that they knew about was that it was free.  
Ideas that were given for what else could be done included pathways, practice based 
programmes, starting early i.e. ante natally, providing  fun accessible programmes for 
children and young people and taking a family approach, more referrals to exercise 
programmes and  looking at what works.  One GP was unsure about where 
responsibility lies for tackling childhood obesity, whether it was school nurses, public 
health, GPs or schools and called for a more integrated approach across local 
authority, social care and NHS and that cultural change was more important than 
pathways.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 133 
 

 

 
Appendix 3 Adult Consultation Questionnaire 
 
 

 
Healthy weight questionnaire 
Kent County Council has undertaken a review of the public 
health services it buys that are aimed at the following: 
 
•keeping people active, 

•increasing healthy eating, 

•losing weight and maintaining a healthy weight.  

 
In the past there has been greater provision of  services that keep people active and 
improve healthy eating in the former Eastern Coastal Kent PCT area (Swale, Thanet, 
Ashford, Canterbury, Dover and Shepway) and less in the former West Kent PCT area 
(Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks, Maidstone, Tonbridge and Malling and Tunbridge 
Wells). 
Programmes for people who specifically want to lose weight have been provided across 
the whole of Kent, these take a behaviour change approach and typically run for 10-12 
weeks and include advice about healthy eating and physical activity. Exercise Referral 
schemes which provide mainly gym based courses for people with specific medical 
conditions are mainly found in the east of the county. 
Kent County Council intend to commission services for the population of Kent 
regardless of where they live. 
Healthy weight is a public health issue because two thirds of the population are either 
overweight or very overweight.  This can lead to conditions like diabetes and mobility 
problems.  Recent NICE guidance Managing overweight and obesity in adults-lifestyle 
weight management services (May 2014) recommends that local authorities 
commission programmes that reduce weight and prevent weight gain.  Evidence 
suggests that even a small amount of weight loss, if maintained, has benefits for longer 
term health.  
All weight management programmes need to be effectively measured to show they 
have been effective as measured at 12 months and/or beyond.  This means that 
services need to ensure that programmes they provide are acceptable to the public and 
follow-up takes place for some time after the initial programme has been completed. 
To help us to commission programmes that will meet national guidance we are asking 
the people of Kent what would help them to achieve a healthy weight.  We would 
therefore like to know a bit about you and what kind of activities you and your family 
would use.  We are asking if you would take a few minutes to have your say. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED ONLY ONE BOX SHOULD BE 

TICKED PER QUESTION 

Not ready for 
change  

Give family 
focused 
general 
healthy 
lifestyle 
advice 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 134 
 

 

 
 
Which of the following most closely reflects your feelings about your current weight?  

I would like to put weight on 

I’m close to my ideal weight, but would like to gain a little bit 

I’m close to my ideal weight, but would like to lose a little bit (under a stone) 

I would like to lose a reasonable amount of weight (more than a stone) 

I would like to maintain my present weight 
 
Why do you feel that this change is necessary? (Please select all that apply.)  

I am worried about the risk to my health in the future 

I am worried about my health now 

I want to change how I look 

I’ve been told by my GP or other medical professional that I need to lose weight 

I want to feel better about myself 

I want to live a healthier lifestyle 

I want to be more active 

Other 
 
When do you feel that these changes are needed?  

I’m already trying to make these changes 

I’ve already started doing something about it, but it’s early days 

I feel ready to change now and I intend to start very soon 

I am thinking about making a change, but I’m not sure how or when 

I know I need to change my weight, but I don’t feel I can do it yet 

I do not feel ready to change and it’s unlikely I’ll do anything in the next few months 

I’m not sure 
 
How confident do you feel in your ability to make this change?  

I know how to do it, and I’m sure it will work 

I have some ideas of how to change my weight, but I’d like some help 

I’ve tried this in the past with limited success 

I can change my weight when I try, but I struggle to stay like that 

I don’t really know where to start 

I have no idea how to change my weight 
 
If you feel that a change in your weight is necessary, what do you believe are the main reasons holding 
you back? (Please tick all that apply.)  



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 135 
 

 

My health prevents me from taking part in normal weight loss activities 

I have medical conditions that make it difficult for me to change my weight 

I do not feel good about myself so do not feel confident to make a change 

I’ve tried before but it didn’t work 

My job makes it difficult 

My family and friends take up all my time 

It costs too much 

There are no places close to me that I can get to (Leisure centres, slimming groups etc) 

I don’t know 

Other 
 
If you were to receive help in losing weight, what kind of help would you prefer?  

I would like to talk to someone one to one 

I would prefer to join a group with other like-minded people 

I’d like a combination of one to one and group support and to also join a group 

I would like online support 

I’d like telephone support  
 
When it comes to losing weight, which of the following do you feel you’d need the most support with? 

Moving more and being more active 

I would like to know more about what I should be eating 

I know what I should be eating, but I’d like to learn how to cook 

I need to measure myself every week to check how much weight I am losing  
 
If weight management support was available, which of these options would you agree with?  

I would be more likely to attend sessions if they were free 

I’d go to a session if my doctor or nurse told me 

I’d find it easier to attend at the weekend 

I’d prefer sessions outside 9-5 Monday to Friday 

I’d prefer sessions on a weekday 

I could attend during the day  

If it were in a group, I’d prefer it to be women only 

If it were in a group I’d prefer it to be men only  

If it were in a group, I’d prefer it to be a mixed group 

I would like to attend with other people I know 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 136 
 

 

It would help if I could bring my children along 

Other 
 
Should you require them, how would you travel in order to access these services?  

I’m not able to travel because I have problems walking 

I’m not able to travel because I cannot afford fares/petrol 

I can walk up to 10mins 

I can walk up to 30mins 

I have access to local public transport services so could attend sessions on public transport routes 

I have a car, or can get a lift from a friend or family member 
 
If you were to access a weight loss service, where would be your preferred location?  

My GP practice 

I would like to meet in a private room in my local pharmacy 

At a centre near to where I live, for example village hall or library 

I would like to go to a leisure centre 

I’d prefer it if someone would come to my home  

I’d like telephone support 

I use the internet, so would like online support 

I would like help via my mobile phone (e.g. an app or internet based service) 

Other 

 
What do you think are the most important things that will help people to lose weight?  
 
Access to local leisure facilities e.g. leisure centres, swimming pools, gyms  

Strongly Agree  

Agree  

Disagree  

Strongly Disagree  

Don’t Know 
 
Being able to cycle or walk near where you live  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 137 
 

 

 
Having advice on healthy eating  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Taking part in sport  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Attending a weight loss class  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Having one to one meetings with an adviser  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Available and affordable fresh fruit and vegetables  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 

 

 

How important do you think the following services are?  
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 138 
 

 

Health Walks Programme (local walks led mainly by volunteers)  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Food Champions (helping people with healthy eating)  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Health Trainers  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Weight loss  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Classes that help pregnant women to be a healthy weight  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Exercise classes that your GP asks you to attend  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 139 
 

 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 

 

How would you prefer to find out about what is available in your area? 
 
Kent-wide website with all services advertised  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Kent-wide web-site that has details of weight loss classes, healthy eating and ways you can be more active  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
A page on the Kent County Council website  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Written information, such as leaflets and posters in GP practices, libraries, council offices etc.  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 
 
Being told by your GP, pharmacist or other health or social professionals  

Strongly Agree 

Agree 

Disagree 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 140 
 

 

Strongly Disagree 

Don’t Know 

About you 

We want to make sure that everyone is treated fairly and equally, and that no one gets left out. That's why 
we’re asking you these questions.  
  
We won't share the information you give us with anyone else. We’ll use it only to help us make decisions, and 
improve our services.  
  
If you would rather not answer any of these questions, you don't have to. 
 
Are you:  
 

 Male 

 Female 

 I prefer not to say 

 
Which of these age groups applies to you?  
 

 Under 18 

 18-25 

 26-35 

 36-45 

 46-55 

 56-60 

 61-65 

 66-75 

 76+ 

 I prefer not to say 

 
What is your postcode?  
 
 
 
To which of these ethnic groups do you feel you belong? (Source: 2011 census)  
 

 White British 

 White Irish 

 White Gypsy/Roma 

 White Irish Traveller 

 White Other 

 Mixed White and Black Caribbean 

 Mixed White and Black African 

 Mixed White and Asian 

 Mixed other 

 Other ethnic group 

 Asian or Asian British Indian 

 Asian or Asian British Pakistani 

 Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi 

 Asian or Asian British other* 

 Black or Black British Caribbean 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 141 
 

 

 Black or Black British African 

 Black or Black British other* 

 Arab 

 Chinese 

 I prefer not to say 

 
 

If your ethnic group is not specified in the list, please describe it here: 
 
The Equality Act 2010 describes a person as disabled if they have a longstanding physical or mental condition 
that has lasted, or is likely to last, at least 12 months; and this condition has a substantial adverse effect on 
their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. People with some conditions (cancer, multiple sclerosis 
and HIV/AIDS, for example) are considered to be disabled from the point that they are diagnosed. 
 
Do you consider yourself to be disabled as set out in the Equality Act 2010?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 I prefer not to say 

 
Do you regard yourself as belonging to any particular religion or belief? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 I prefer not to say 

 
Thank you for providing this information. 
  
Kent County Council (KCC) collects and processes personal information in order to provide a range of public 
services. KCC respects the privacy of individuals and endeavours to ensure personal information is collected 
fairly, lawfully, and in compliance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please return to: 
 
Val Miller Public Health 
Specialist 
Public Health 
Kent County Council 
Room 3.45 Sessions House 
County Road 
Maidstone Kent  
ME14 1XQ 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 142 
 

 

 
Appendix 4 Children and Young People Consultation Questionnaire 

 
 

Healthy Weight 
 

 
Please complete this survey and place it in the envelope supplied.  This is 
not a test, there are no right answers to the questions. 
It’s anonymous so no one will know what your answers are but if there is 
something that you need help with now, do speak to a worker , teacher or 
parent about it… they might be the person in your life who can help you. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 143 
 

 

 
1. What effects can being overweight have on children and young people? 

 

 

2. What do you think would encourage young people to be more active and 

eat healthier foods? 

 
 
 
 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 144 
 

 

 
 

3. How would you involve families to be more active? 

 
 

4. What could we do to support children, young people and their families 

who are overweight? 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 145 
 

 

A bit of information about you: 
My age is:  

10 11 12 13 14 Other 

      

15 16 17 18 19 

     

 
Gender: 

Girl  Boy  

 
I would describe my ethnicity as:  

 

 
Disability: 

I have a 
disability 

 I don’t have a disability  

 
The district that I live in is (tick box):  

Dartford Gravesham Sevenoaks Tunbridge 
Wells 

Maidstone Tonbridge 
& Malling 

      

Swale Ashford Canterbury Thanet Shepway Dover 

      

 
 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 146 
 

 

 
Appendix 5 General Practice Obesity Questionnaire 

QUESTION 
CHILDREN & 
FAMILIES 

RESPONSE QUESTIONS 
ADULTS 

RESPONSE 

1. What are the 
major challenges 
you face with 
obesity for 
children and 
families? 
 
 
 

 1. What are the 
major challenges 
you face with 
obesity for 
adults? 
 

 

2. What services 
are there 
available for you 
to refer patients 
onto? 
 
 
 
 

 2. What services 
are there 
available for 
you to refer 
patients onto? 
 

 

3. What are the 
strengths in 
existing 
provision? 
 
 
 

 3. What are the 
strengths in 
existing 
provision? 
 

 

QUESTION 
CHILDREN & 
FAMILIES 

RESPONSE QUESTIONS 
ADULTS 

RESPONSE 

4. What are the 
gaps in existing 
provision? 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

4. What are the 
gaps in existing 
provision? 

 

5. Do you have 
any proposals for 
future service 
provision? 
 
 
 

 5. Do you have 
any proposals 
for future service 
provision? 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 147 
 

 

 
Appendix 6 

The Big Weight Debate – toward a strategy for tackling obesity in Kent  

 

 

Introduction and context  
This paper summarises the outputs from a large engagement event organised by the Public 
Health Team in Kent County Council on 8th December to inform the development of a strategy 
to tackle the growing problem of obesity. A more specific objective was to provide advice 
about how Public Health should handle the recommissioning of Healthy Weight Services. It is 
Council policy that all services commissioned or provided by the council are recommissioned or 
market tested to demonstrate that they are offering best value to Kent citizens. 
Setting the scene for the day, Jamie Blackshaw from Public Health England (PHE) reminded 
participants that despite a good deal of local and national work to tackle obesity there remains 
an ongoing problem and that rates of obesity are worsening in some sections of the 
community (e.g. children in year 6). This is a problem for the health of the individuals 
concerned but it also has wider implications in terms of national productivity and increased 
demands on NHS resources. Reducing the level of obesity is therefore one of PHE’s top 
priorities. Jamie outlined some of PHE’s current and planned activities to tackle the problem. 
Andrew Scott-Clark, Interim Director of Public Health for Kent County Council (KCC) explained 
that there are quite marked variations in the scale of the obesity problem across the county by 
geography, gender and social groups. Andrew explained that that the county had the Public 
Health grant to invest in services to promote and maintain healthy weight and that he hoped 
the event would generate helpful advice on how this money could be best deployed. However, 
this resource would not in itself be sufficient to tackle Kent’s obesity problem –a broad 
programme of activities is needed involving district councils, employers, schools, health care 
commissioners and providers and many other interest groups.  
This report provides a summary of the outputs from two group discussions. The first of these 
looked at what needs to be done to address the ‘obesogenic’1 environment and to change 
individual behaviour. These discussions covered children and young people as well as adults 
and both food production and consumption and physical inactivity. The second set of 
discussions focused more specifically on the commissioning of healthy weight services. The 
final part of the report summarises the results from individual voting about the preferred 
approach to commissioning these services.  
Tackling obesity though changing the obesogenic environment 
Participants identified a number of issues that prevent people from managing their weight or 
being physically active. They included:  

                                            
1
 Obesogenic means an environment that tends to lead to obesity; examples include more sedentary working, 

screen time, increased use of cars, fear of cycling on the roads, more outlets available to purchase foods dense in 
fat and sugar etc. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 148 
 

 

 For children and young people in some parts of the county the nutritional value of 

school meals is still problematic; 

 It is more challenging to encourage girls to take part in physical activities, particularly in 

secondary schools; 

 Housing design is an important factor yet one which is difficult to address. For example, 

it was suggested that families find it more difficult to follow principles of healthy eating 

if they do not have the space for a table where they can all eat together. Lack of 

affordable housing means that housing associations and developers are under pressure 

to build units that are small and where unit costs are low. District Councils noted that 

they sometimes had to make trade-off between housing quantity and quality.  

 Lack of access to opportunities for physical activity is not an issue in most parts of the 

county – Kent has some of the best resources in the country. The bigger challenge is 

encouraging people to change their behaviour in favour of increased physical activity. 

Cost may be a barrier for some people.  

 Some participants felt that most significant actions to address the obesogenic 

environment were the responsibility of central rather than local government – taxing of 

sugar and food labelling for example.  

 At a local level district councils have to balance their responsibilities for economic 

regeneration with concerns about health. Decisions about whether to block the 

development of fast food outlets for example may not always be straight forward if 

there are concerns about job creation. 

Actions which could be taken to address the obesogenic environment in Kent that were 
identified include:  

 Using some of the resources earmarked for managing healthy weight for upstream 

preventive services targeted at children and young people. 

 The consideration of cashless reward cards to increase access to healthy activities or 

leisure centres. These arrangements have been trialled in Barking and Dagenham. 

 Ensuring that vending machines in public premises such as leisure centres offer healthy 

options. 

 Embed the notion of physical activity in the way schools operate so that these 

messages are not simply restricted to PE lessons. 

Individual behaviour 
Behaviour change is complex. Several participants highlighted the lack of firm evidence about 
what works, including ways to shift public opinion about the unacceptability of obesity as a 
social as well as an individual matter. There were also comments that people can be confused 
about the lack of consistency in the national and local messages about healthy eating, the 
health benefits and risks of different foods and levels of exercise. Health and care professionals 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 149 
 

 

can also be reluctant to raise the subject with their patients/clients as weight is a more 
sensitive and personal matter than smoking.  There were particular concerns about children in 
year 6 as obesity in this age group is rising and Kent performs worse than others similar areas 
in the South East. 
On balance participants felt that it was easier to encourage people to be more active than it 
was to change attitudes to food consumption or weight. Practical actions that participants 
suggested to help people to change their behaviours, both around food and activity included:   

 Environmental cues. Signs that encourage people to walk or use the stairs could be 

more widely used. Signs in parks or streets for example could indicate approximate 

times to walk between landmarks. For children, the walking signs could be made more 

attractive by having a ‘treasure hunt’ theme e.g. ‘can you find/see’; 

 Clear and consistent messages across Kent about what people can do to maintain 

healthy weight and be physically active. These can be reinforced through each contact 

that people have with the health and care system (see making every contact count 

below); 

 Educate parents – ensuring that healthy eating is discussed with new parents e.g. 

through health visitor checks and through child minders through registration 

arrangements. Opportunities to explain to parents that children need to continue with 

physical activity during secondary school were also noted; 

 Normalise healthy choices.  People should be encouraged to build in physical activity 

into everyday tasks such as cleaning or bending or families playing together. This would 

also help to address perceptions that physical activity is expensive. Some noted that 

was an ongoing issue for PHE and others to address what constitutes a ‘normal’ or 

desirable weight; 

 Promote awareness and uptake of digital assets such as health apps and exercise 

trackers; 

 Encourage employers to invest in work place health programmes as this helps promote 

productivity. A Kent wide reward/recognition scheme for health promoting businesses 

might be a further incentive.  

 A focus on young people. Inviting young people in secondary schools to identify what 

they could do to be more active and what support schools could offer. There may need 

to be more imaginative approaches that are more attractive to young people than 

conventional games lessons.  

 Using life courses as opportunities. Focusing advice and support at key points in 

people’s lives where they are amenable to change was felt to be an effective approach.   



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 150 
 

 

Commissioning healthy weight services 
 

There are different arrangements for the provision of healthy weight services across the 
county. The discussion sessions were organised around six key themes relating to different 
aspects of services to promote healthy weight  
Across the groups there were some general comments made about the shift from the current 
arrangements to a new service model.  

 Investment needs to reflect the differential levels of obesity across the county  

 KCC should take the opportunity to learn from current services in Kent and elsewhere 

about what works or is ineffective.  

 The important contribution of district councils to tackling obesity should be 

recognised.  

 Cost effectiveness is a critical issue for commissioners and providers and also for 

service users. Some participants suggested that co-payments should be considered for 

those individuals that could afford to make a contribution.  

 Bringing services to people who are isolated. Some people who need weight 

management support may be housebound or socially isolated. Commissioners need to 

ensure that there is provision to reach these people.  

 Ensuring that there are systematic management arrangements for all parts of the 

pathway.  It is important that new arrangements tackle some of the weak points in the 

system which currently exist e.g. 

o follow up arrangements to check the outcome of people referred to weight 

management support  

o data missing on obesity levels for some sections of the population  

o capacity problems e.g. for health trainers. 

Establishing a central directory of services 
In the consultation work to date a number of suggestions have been made about improving 
access to information and signposting to the various resources and support available in Kent to 
help tackle obesity. These have included paper or on-line directories or registers and a referral 
portal that would provide some form of screening to ensure people were pointed to the 
services most appropriate to their needs and preferences. Participants were asked whether 
they would support this general approach and if so how it should work in practice.  
There was little support for a directory of services - experience with these suggests that they 
have are not always regularly updated. If this option were to be pursued it was suggested that 
there should be both paper and online versions available and clear responsibilities in each 
organisation for keeping the information current.  
Some suggested that a clear referral pathway illustrating the different options available in 
different places was more important that a directory of services. Others pointed out that 
referrals to weight management services were likely to be of limited value unless there had 
been a) the right conversations with the patient at the outset to encourage commitment to 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 151 
 

 

changes in behaviour and b) arrangements to follow up whether the referral opportunities had 
led to action on the part of the individual needing help.  
A more general comment made was that while referral pathways and service directories have 
become increasingly popular solutions it is important to consider the problems that they are 
designed to address. Several contributors noted that relationships between health and care 
professionals in different services, organisations and sectors have been fragmented over the 
past few years - this makes it harder for them to know who to refer to and what is available. 
Rebuilding connections between health and care professionals in each locality was thought to 
be as, if not more important, than providing information and referral pathways.  
Making every contact count 
Skilling up the frontline workforce to give brief and opportunistic advice about physical activity 
and healthy weight were emphasised throughout the workshop. It was suggested that brief 
interventions could be reinforced by other sectors or professions e.g. housing or homelessness 
officers or neighbourhood management staff.  
Some participants suggested that training to make ‘every contact count’ should be broader 
than the issue of obesity. For example, staff might also be equipped to highlight issues of 
alcohol consumption. There was agreement that it was easier to open up the discussion 
through physical activity than weight per se, as this can be a more sensitive issue. Training 
could include: 

 How to start the conversation e.g. ‘how do you feel about your health’ 

 Ensuring people are aware of the support that is available including online resources 

and health apps 

 Information on who people should see/call 

 What constitutes physical activity  - how people can use everyday activities to improve 

their fitness 

 Consistent messages that can be easily communicated and imaginative ways of tailoring 

them to different groups 

The group discussing this topic also considered how that training might be undertaken. They 
suggested networking sessions as well as conventional training and the use of a ‘train the 
trainer’ cascade. 
Children in primary and secondary school were identified as an important target group. Beyond 
PE lessons there were various methods that schools could consider to encourage students to 
‘keep moving’.  
While consistent messages and training can help to ‘make every contact count’ they may have 
limited impact unless health and care professions believe that opportunistic health advice is 
part of their responsibility. Senior leaders need to be signed up to the approach and actively 
promote these activities in their organisation.  
Finding people who need support  
Participants acknowledged the challenges of identifying young people and adults who are 
obese or at risk of becoming so. For example, health checks only cover the population between 
40 and 75 and don’t reach everyone in that age group. There are no mandatory weight 
measurements taken for children in secondary schools so there are gaps in knowledge about 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 152 
 

 

weight and health habits. It was noted too that there is no systematic way of promoting 
Healthy Weight services via GPs.  
GPs and Schools are two arenas where there is a registered list so participants recommended 
that efforts should be made to undertake systematic measurements of weight in these 
settings.  
Overall, there was agreement that it is more effective to have a system which involves a broad 
range of health and care professionals to identify people at risk rather than relying on one 
group such as GPs. There were several references to GPs not having time to provide advice, 
signpost or follow up their patients effectively due to competing pressures on their time. Some 
improvements could be made here by making use of other community health professionals e.g. 
health trainers to follow up health checks or referrals made by GPs. However, some 
participants noted that trainers have limited capacity to be able to do this. 
Deprivation can be a contributory factor to obesity, albeit in complex ways – some people for 
example do not have enough food, let alone enough of the right sort. It was suggested that 
Healthy Weight services should be located in areas of highest deprivation linked to 
programmes that that have existing relationships with this section of the population e.g. Job 
Centres, housing associations, the troubled families’ programme, family liaison officers, health 
visitor contacts with families with young children. In Ashford there have been attempts to 
target at risk groups via housing associations but the success of the approach is constrained by 
the fact that these organisations do not perceive that they have a role in health and wellbeing.  
At a district level participants argued that public service organisations should establish some 
common goals and outcomes around obesity. Data sharing protocols may need to be looked at 
to enable information to be passed between professionals and organisations, but this would be 
easier within the context of shared organisational objectives.  
Identifying and supporting people with the highest risk 
NICE has recommended that people who are obese should have a 12 week programme that 
covers physical activity, healthy eating and behavioural advice and support. Participants were 
asked about how these services could be delivered cost effectively. Much of the discussion 
appeared to focus on sharing information and how NICE guidance had been interpreted by 
current services in Kent. Those who had been involved in delivering such programmes noted 
that it was increasingly important to find ways to tailor programmes to fit in with people’s 
work commitments, although it was not possible to meet everyone’s needs, given the diversity 
of work patterns. It was also suggested that it might be appropriate to relax the focus on ’12 
weeks’ - the priority should be regular contact and activities rather than a specified elapsed 
time.  
Supporting people to maintain changes in behaviour to support healthy weight 
There may be complex, personal reasons behind individual decisions to change their lifestyle.  
Participants noted that evidence about motivation may offer some pointers, but it was also 
important to acknowledge the context in which people are trying to keep active and tackle 
their weight. If they have other challenges such as debt, housing or unemployment these may 
assume a higher priority than following a healthy lifestyle.  A further comment was that 
different approaches might be needed for people who are already obese versus those who 
were ‘at risk’  
The key theme in the discussion was normalising those activities that contribute to healthy 
weight.  For example, stressing daily activities that could help people to be physically active 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 153 
 

 

such as walking to and from the shops. Linked to this point it was noted that local authorities 
should pay attention to environmental design so that people feel safe to walk and cycle. It was 
suggested that there may be a seasonal aspect to physical activity, so communications or 
campaigns to promote more activity might be more effective if timed with changes to daylight 
and weather. Pregnant women were identified as an important target group as there are 
opportunities to reinforce the message about breastfeeding being positive for the child and the 
mother and to follow up on healthy weight at the 2 year health checks by health visitors.  
There were different opinions about whether people should be encouraged to weigh 
themselves regularly. Some suggested that a simpler way of getting the message across to 
people was that if their clothes no longer fitted they should consider losing weight.  
Expected outcomes for healthy weight services 
This group were asked for their advice about what outcomes might be expected from the type 
of healthy weight services that had been discussed in the seminar. There was agreement that 
there should be both short term and long term measures of success and some proxy measures 
which might include the following: 
Short term  

 An increase in knowledge and healthy weight (measured through surveys) and spread 

of that knowledge across the population 

 Uptake of breastfeeding 

Long term 

 Weight management outcomes – weight loss and maintenance 

 No/% of people getting the support that they need 

 Reductions in incidence and prevalence of type 2 diabetes 

 Cost impacts of obesity 

The group also considered how a return on investment from weight management 
interventions might be assessed. They suggested that there may be national research from the 
National Obesity Observatory that could support this work but it was also important to 
consider changes in associated factors related to obesity, either as determinants or 
consequences –general mental health and wellbeing including stress and back pain were noted 
here.  
 

Commissioning Healthy Weight Services – priorities for the future 
 

In the final discussion session a computerised voting system was used to identify participants’ 
preferences for the commissioning of Healthy Weight services. The public health team did not 
take part in this process. It should be noted that a significant number of participants were 
current providers of healthy weight services and so this would have had a bearing on their 
responses. The key responses are reported below – the methodology used did not enable 
responses by stakeholder group or by geography to be analysed. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 154 
 

 

The first question focused on the key priorities to be reflected in the way healthy weight 
services are commissioned. As the graph below shows that the overriding priority is that 
services should be tailored to meet local needs and circumstances.  

  
The second question asked participants to consider the hypothetical situation that if 75% of the 
grant allocated for healthy weight services were to be assigned to weight management 
programmes for adults and families, how should the remainder be allocated? Participants were 
asked to indicate their top 3 priorities. The graph below shows these preferences based on 
weighted choices. It demonstrates that although there are quite mixed views there would be 
little support for investing more in weight management programmes for adults or in a 
directory of services. In the discussion participants talked about gaps in provision for young 
people as there are currently age boundary restrictions that are unhelpful. The priority given to 
enhancing community capacity echoes the point above about tailoring services to local needs. 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 155 
 

 

 
The third question asked participants about the geographical basis for organising healthy 
weight services. Again given the preferences above it was not surprising that there was a slight 
majority who preferred services to be organised at district level, although the percentage in 
favour of organisation at county level is interesting... 
Finally participants were asked about payment arrangements. Interestingly, activity based 
payments attracted the least support with similar numbers preferring the other methods. 
Perhaps the most striking response is the degree of support for outcome based payments, 
given some of the challenges in supporting people to maintain a healthy weight. 

 



 Obesity Health Needs Assessment   
20 July 2015 

 
 

 

 Page 156 
 

 

Conclusions 
Concluding the event Andrew Scott Clark noted that there would be further conversations with 
key interest groups – no firm decisions had been made about the type of services to be 
commissioned or the procurement process. It was noted that the consultation today only 
represented some key stakeholders and that other consultation activity would be important in 
gaining as full information as possible to determine future provision. Andrew noted that the 
event had underlined the importance of three key themes:  

 Establishing a systematic way of measuring outcomes and evaluating the impact of 

services and support to tackle obesity 

 Consistent messages about the  risks of obesity and the options for addressing them 

(both physical activity and food) as well as some clear outcomes agreed by all partners 

 The need for clear pathways that enable people to access the support they need quickly 

and simply. 

Thanking participants for their time and contribution Andrew noted that his team expected 
to have an agreed approach about the specification and approach to commissioning by 
May 2015. Title Organisation 

Meeting Title Date 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Thanet Health Inequalities Group – Terms of Reference 

1. Introduction. 

Health inequalities are avoidable variations in health status of groups and individuals and are a 
complex issue.  There is evidence that populations in areas with high deprivation experience higher 
morbidity and mortality than those areas with low deprivation, however some less deprived areas 
may contain pockets of high mortality.  Thanet has the widest gap in health inequalities out of all of 
the districts in Kent.  There is a need to ensure that there are clear strategic actions that tackle 
relatively short, medium and long-term interventions.  The interventions that can potentially have 
an effect in the short-term are those that reduce the risk of mortality in people with established 
disease (i.e. ensuring those with heart disease are diagnosed and treated so that their blood 
pressure/cholesterol is under control).  Medium term interventions focus on lifestyle interventions 
such as stopping smoking and weight management and longer term solutions include those that 
tackle worklessness, increasing community resilience, improving poor educational attainment and 
reducing poverty. 
 

2. Aims and Objectives of the Group. 

The Thanet Health Inequalities group will lead the multi-agency approach to address health 
inequalities across the district.  The purpose of the group is to provide the leadership and co-
ordination for reducing health inequalities and improving health and wellbeing across Thanet.   
This will be achieved by bringing together stakeholders from the public sector, third sector and the 

community to plan and deliver actions / services. 

The group will have a number of functions that include; 

 Establish a shared understanding of what is meant by ‘health inequalities’ across the 
Community  

 Provide leadership to promote effective partnership working to reduce health inequalities   

 Support implementation of the Joint Health and Well Being Board (HWB) Strategy  

 Establish performance measures to provide a clear indication of progress to reduce health 
inequalities.  

 Identify and progress actions that will contribute to outcome measures for reducing health 
inequalities, monitor and report on these to demonstrate impact  

 Involve a wide range of stakeholders especially communities in activities which are aimed at 
reducing health inequalities and building community resilience.  

 To ensure that there is good linkage with the Integrated Commissioning group  

 Ensure that robust evaluation, including cost effectiveness is an integral part of local 
initiatives aimed at reducing health inequalities  

 Identify and share the evidence base and good practice  

 The group should have a strategic association with health inequality plans produced at 

county level. 

 
 

 

 



3. Membership of the Group. 

The group will consist of individuals from the following organisations. 

• KCC, Public Health Consultant  

• KCC, Public Health Specialist 

• KCC, Social Services representative 

• Thanet CCG – Clinical lead for health inequalities 

• Thanet CCG – Lay member 

• Thanet CCG – Head of Strategic Planning and Commissioning 

• Thanet CCG – Head of Membership Development 

• Thanet District Council representative 

• Voluntary and Community Sector representative 

• Department of work and pensions representative 

• Kent Police – Margate Task Force lead  

The chair of this group will be nominated by the group.  A vice chair will also be nominated. 

Individuals or organisations may be co-opted onto the group as and when required. 

 

4. Operation of the Health Inequalities group 

Frequency: The Health Inequalities group will meet bi- monthly and be convened by the Chair in 

consultation with the nominated representatives of Thant CCG, Thanet District Council and Kent 

County Council.  

Quorum: At least 1 member must be present from Thanet CCG, TDC and KCC for a decision to be 

taken 

Servicing Arrangements: Action notes of meetings will be shared with group members.  Papers will 

be published five working days before each meeting.  Where the group is required to make a 

decision a written report will be provided and the lead officer requested to attend the meeting to 

present and answer questions 

 

5. Governance Arrangements. 

The Health Inequalities group will be accountable to the Thanet Health and Well Being Board and 

respective executive decision making structures of KCC, Thanet CCG and TDC.  The group will be 

advisory and make recommendations to the Health and Well-Being Board.  It will provide detailed 

proposals so that informed decisions can be made.  Proposals will be specific and individual 

organisational support will be needed at the appropriate times. 

  

6. Administrative Support to the Group. 



To be agreed, but responsibilities will include: 

• Agenda setting, in consultation with the Chair. 

• Booking of rooms. 

• Taking of, and distribution of, notes of the meeting. 

 

7. Review of Terms of Reference. 

These will be reviewed annually 





 

Thanet LPG for Integrated Commissioning, Terms of Reference, Oct 15. Page 1 
 

Thanet Local Partnership Group for Integrated Commissioning 

 

1. Introduction. 

The Local Partnership Group (LPG) for Integrated Commissioning is responsible for ensuring that 

there is a coordinated and consistent approach to commissioning services on behalf of partner 

agencies in Thanet. It aims to ensure a joined up approach to strategic planning and service delivery 

in order to maximise best use of public resources and deliver seamless services by working across 

organisational boundaries 

The membership of the group will include a wide range of partners from across the public and 

voluntary sectors and it is expected that the membership will represent the entirety of services 

provided across the district. 

2. Aims and Objectives of the Local Partnership Group. 

The purpose of the LPG is to develop integrated commissioning responses between Kent County 

Council (KCC), Thanet Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Thanet District Council (TDC) to drive 

up quality, achieve value for money, increase productivity and improve outcomes by:  

 Developing joined up commissioning intentions to support implementation of the Joint 

Health and Well Being Board (HWB) Strategy  

 Developing a blueprint for change by producing costed action plans to support delivery of 

the joint HWBB strategy 

 Engaging providers through Implementation Projects in order to ensure timely, appropriate 

service change takes place and new models of service are put in practice 

 Taking an evidence based approach to promoting innovation to improve services outcomes 

 Proposing changes to the processes of integrated commissioning so that stakeholders can 

commission better together. 

As a sub group of the Thanet Health and Well Being Board, the LPG is committed to accelerating the 

transformation and integration of commissioned services so that they better serve the people and 

communities in our area and reduce inappropriate reliance on public sector funding. The plans will 

result in integrated care teams becoming the bedrock of person-centred, co-ordinated care. Through 

clinical leadership and engagement these teams will be rooted in our communities and have a strong 

capability to prevent and intervene earlier. In pursuit of this goal, we will draw on the assets 

available from individuals, communities and organisations to achieve the following objectives:  

 Giving people a bigger say in their health and care by being involved in priority setting, 

engaging with people to commission services on behalf of the communities we serve and by 

supporting and enabling people to take greater responsibility for their own and their 

children’s health and wellbeing.  

 Commissioning services to meet people’s needs and give them better experiences of health 

and care services. In practice, this means designing care and providing services around 

people’s needs to remove duplication at every stage so that people who need care can be 

supported to stay in their homes and return to their communities for as long as possible. 



 

Thanet LPG for Integrated Commissioning, Terms of Reference, Oct 15. Page 2 
 

 Commissioning services to reduce inequalities in access to health and care service access  

 Commissioning services to continue to support and develop a motivated, flexible workforce 

with the right staff and resources in the right places 

 Commissioning in a way that ensures we manage demand.  

3. Membership of the Group. 

The group will consist of individuals from the following organisations. 

• Thanet CCG – Commissioning Manager 

• Thanet CCG – Clinical Commissioner 

• Thanet District Council. 

• KCC, Public Health 

• KCC, Social Services 

• VCS rep (TBC) 

• Chair of the LPG for Mental Health 

• Chair of the LPG for Children 

• Chair of the LPG for Frail Elderly 

• Chair of the LPG for Inequalities 

The chair of this group will be the Head of Strategic Planning and Commissioning for Thanet CCG. A 

vice chair will be nominated 

Individuals or organisations may be co-opted onto the group as and when required. 

4. Operation of the LPG 

Frequency: The LPG will meet bi- monthly and be convened by the Chair in consultation with the 

nominated representatives of Thant CCG, Thanet District Council and Kent County Council.  

Quorum: At least 1 member must be present from Thanet CCG, TDC and KCC for a decision to be 

taken 

Servicing Arrangements: Action notes of meetings will be shared with the LPG members. Papers will 

be published five working days before each meeting. Where the LPG is required to make a decision a 

written report will be provided and the lead officer requested to attend the meeting to present and 

answer questions 

5. Governance Arrangements. 

The LPG will be accountable to the Thanet Health and Well Being Board and respective executive 

decision making structures of KCC, Thanet CCG and TDC. The LPG will be advisory and make 

recommendations to the Health and Well-Being Board. It will provide detailed proposals so that 

informed decisions can be made. Proposals will be specific and individual organisational support will 

be needed at the appropriate times. 

The LPG will be responsible for performance managing implementation projects. The 

Implementation Projects will be responsible for delivering service transformation plans. 



 

Thanet LPG for Integrated Commissioning, Terms of Reference, Oct 15. Page 3 
 

The governance structure below outlines reporting arrangements: 

(to be inserted) 

Members will also be responsible for escalating barriers and blockers to the relevant organisations 

for resolution. 

6.  Dealing with sensitive matters and possible conflicts of interest  

The LPG may at times have to consider confidential information on matters related to 

commissioning, procurement or performance. Members are individually required to declare known 

conflict of interests prior to commencement of meetings. The LPG will determine whether or not any 

declaration necessitates exclusion from discussion on specific issues 

7. Administrative Support to the Group. 

To be agreed, but responsibilities will include: 

• Agenda setting, in consultation with the Chair. 

• Booking of rooms. 

• Taking of, and distribution of, notes of the meeting. 

8. Review of Terms of Reference. 

These will be reviewed annually 





 

Thanet LPG for Mental Health, Terms of Reference, Oct 15. Page 1 
 

Thanet Local Partnership Group for Mental Health 

 

1. Introduction. 

The membership of the group will include a wide range of partners from across the public and 

voluntary sectors who work with adults with mental health issues and it is expected that the 

membership will represent the entirety of services provided across the district. 

The group will provide a connection between countywide strategic bodies and those working with 

adults with mental health problems at a local level.  There will also need for close working with other 

Local Partnership Groups (LPG) to ensure consistency of plans, eg the children’s LPG which will be 

responsible for mental health services for children and young people. 

2. Aims and Objectives of the Local Partnership Group. 

The primary objective of the LPG for mental health is to drive improvement in outcomes for adults in 

Thanet with mental health problems.  The work of the LPG will be focussed, data-driven and 

underpinned at all times by delivering a measurable improvement in selected indicators.   The work 

of the LPG will be aligned to the work of the Thanet Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). 

The aims of the group will be to: 

• Share information to provide an understanding of the range of local services, their remit, 

activity and capacity.   

• Identify local needs and gaps in service provision. 

• Develop proposals to eliminate gaps in service provision. 

• Identify areas for joint commissioning and provision of services. 

• Facilitate the pooling of resources to meet the needs of local adults with mental health 

problems. 

• Identify areas of duplication and streamline service provision. 

3. Membership of the Group. 

The group will consist of individuals from the following organisations. 

• Thanet CCG commissioner. 

• Thanet CCG clinical lead. 

• Thanet District Council. 

• KCC – public health. 

• KCC – social services. 

• The police. 

• Kent and Medway Partnership Trust. 

• Strategic Partner for Community Mental Health and Wellbeing Service. 

• Voluntary sector organisations (to be agreed). 

The group will nominate or elect a Chair. 



 

Thanet LPG for Mental Health, Terms of Reference, Oct 15. Page 2 
 

Individuals or organisations may be co-opted onto the group as and when required. 

4. Frequency of Meetings. 

To be agreed. 

5. Governance Arrangements. 

The group does not have any formal decision making powers, but will report to the Local Partnership 

Group for Integrated Commissioning and will provide regular updates to the Thanet HWB (frequency 

to be agreed). All members of the group will be responsible for reporting back to their own 

organisation and using appropriate governance structures to obtain any decisions required to 

support the work of the group. 

Members will also be responsible for escalating barriers and blockers to the relevant organisations 

for resolution. 

6. Dealing with sensitive matters and possible conflicts of interest  

The LPG may at times have to consider confidential information on matters related to 

commissioning, procurement or performance. Members are individually required to declare known 

conflict of interests prior to commencement of meetings. The LPG will determine whether or not any 

declaration necessitates exclusion from discussion on specific issues 

7. Administrative Support to the Group. 

To be agreed, but responsibilities will include: 

• Agenda setting, in consultation with the Chair. 

• Booking of rooms. 

• Taking of, and distribution of notes of the meeting. 

7. Review of Terms of Reference. 

These will be reviewed annually. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Thanet LPG for Frail Elderly, Terms of Reference, Oct 15. Page 1 
 

Thanet Local Partnership Group for Frail Elderly 

 

1.      The Purpose  

To develop an integrated frailty pathway that is understood across the health and social care system 

thus ensuring they are provided with the right care at the right time and are supported to make 

more efficient use of existing health and social care services and resources at a time of increasing 

demand and reducing available budgets. 

The pathway will be designed within current resources and will be sustainable at a time of increasing 

demand and reducing budgets.  It will include the journey starting with preventative measures as 

well as how to cope in a crisis when it occurs – with the constant theme to care for frail people in 

their own home where possible  

Reference to best practice examples across England and evidence from national organisations for 

example the British Geriatrics Society and NICE guidance will be included. 

2. Aims and Objectives of the Local Partnership Group. 

The purpose of the LPG is to develop a frailty pathway across Thanet which will include the 

following: Thanet Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Kent County Council (KCC),TDC and other 

health and social care providers including the voluntary sector to drive up quality, achieve value for 

money, increase productivity and improve outcomes by:  

 Create a map of existing services to include any falls provision  

 Agree action plan with achievable timescales 

 To review current and future workforce issues  

 Develop a frailty toolkit  

 Require a shared IT record which will be available which will have the ability to link to EOL 

care records. 

 Implement assistive technologies ,where appropriate, for frail elderly 

3. Membership of the Group. 

The membership of the group will include a wide range of partners and stakeholders and  will consist 

of individuals from the following organisations. 

• Thanet CCG – Commissioning Manager 

• Thanet CCG – Clinical lead 

• TDC 

• KCC, Public Health 

• KCC, Social Services 

• EKHUFT  

• KCHFT 

• IDT 

• Secamb 



 

Thanet LPG for Frail Elderly, Terms of Reference, Oct 15. Page 2 
 

• Voluntary sector organisations eg. Age UK and Crossroads care  

The chair of this group will be the Clinical lead from either SKC or Thanet CCG. A vice chair will be 

nominated 

Individuals or organisations may be co-opted onto the group as and when required. 

4. Operation of the LPG 

Frequency: The LPG will meet monthly and the administrative support to the Group will be shared 

between Thanet and SKC CCGs and responsibilities will include: 

• Agenda setting, in consultation with the Chair. 

• Booking of rooms. 

• Taking of, and distribution of, notes of the meeting. 

Action notes of meetings will be shared with the LPG members. Papers will be published five 

working days before each meeting. 

 5. Governance Arrangements. 

The LPG will be accountable to the respective CCGs and executive decision making structures of 

organisations represented. The LPG will ensure that any recommendations or proposals are 

escalated via the CCGs so that informed decisions can be made.Proposals will be specific and 

individual organisational support will be needed at the appropriate times. 

The LPG will be responsible for performance managing implementation projects. The 

Implementation Projects will be responsible for delivering service transformation plans. 

Members will also be responsible for escalating barriers and blocks to the relevant organisations for 

resolution. 

6.  Dealing with sensitive matters and possible conflicts of interest  

The members of the group have a duty of confidentiality regarding all information disclosed, shared 

and discussed between and during meetings. If deemed confidential, there will be occasions when 

selected information must not be disclosed outside the group. The person disclosing such 

information to the group is responsible for identifying it as confidential at the time it is given, and for 

ensuring that its confidential status is identified in all relevant written material. 

Members are individually required to declare known conflict of interests prior to commencement of 

meetings. The LPG will determine whether or not any declaration necessitates exclusion from 

discussion on specific issues 

7. Review of Terms of Reference. 

These will be reviewed annually   



   

 

Update on Thanet Better Care Fund Programme Delivery Page 1 of 3 

 
 

Report to: Thanet Health and Wellbeing Board 

Title of Report: Update on Thanet Better Care Fund Programme Delivery 

Author: Fay Gooderson – Commissioning Manager, Thanet CCG 
 

1.  Purpose of Paper 

To update the board on the programmes in place to support the delivery of the Better 
Care Fund. 
 

 

3.  Thanet’s Vision for Health and Social Care Services by 2020 

Thanet’s vision for integrated health and social care service includes: 
• GPs taking a lead for coordination 
• Multi-Agency Integrated teams 
• Delivering wraparound care to patients 
• Delivering community care through a single point of access 
• Delivering shared access to patient information 
• Delivering enhanced support to carers 
• Supporting independence & self-management 
• Providing seamless end of life care 

 
We recognise the need for transformational change and that no single agency can 
deliver the improvement working in isolation 
 
Under the Better Care Fund, we aim to provide care that crosses organisational 
boundaries that best services the population needs 
 

 

 

 

2.  Introduction/Background 

The aim of the Fund is to deliver the health and social care services within this 
Section 75 agreement to the people of the area maximising quality and value for 
money. A key element of the agreement is a commitment to drive continuous 
improvement of services within resources available. To this end, the services each 
party have included in the agreement are those which must work most closely 
together to benefit the provision of out of hospital health and social care services to 
local people. 

4.  Better Care Fund Schemes 

The Better Care Fund for Thanet is composed of the following schemes: 

 Enhanced Primary Care 

 Integrated Health and Social Care teams including enhancing community 
teams and care co-ordination  

 Flexible use of Care Homes and Westbrook House 

 Falls Prevention 

 Improving End of Life Care 



   

 

Update on Thanet Better Care Fund Programme Delivery Page 2 of 3 

 
 

5.  Enhanced Primary Care 

Objectives: 
• GP practices working together to enable different access opportunities for 

patients 
• GP in Accident and Emergency at the acute hospital in Margate to build links 

between the acute hospital staff and Primary care colleagues. 
• Patients supported to inform and take ownership of their care plans which 

includes electronic sharing of care records with the patient and between 
health and social care professionals; 

Update: 
• Developments of Thanet based Integrated Care Organisations, which equates 

to 4 locality clusters (Quex, Margate, Ramsgate and  Broadstairs) 
• Developments in 8-8, 7 day working programme to support patient access to 

core primary care services 
• Developments of integrated primary care hub, underway with QEQM to 

support reduction in attendances and patient education 
• Improved coordination for Enhanced services for Long term conditions 
• Development of core pathways starting with prevention and self-care with 

management to end of life care 
• Established Integrated Discharge Teams working within acute sites to support 

multi-disciplinary and early discharge from hospital 
• Developments of a shared care plan for patients under the umbrella of the 

Multi Interoperability Gateway (MIG) 
 

6.  Integrated Health and Social Care Teams 

Objectives: 
• Deliver access to services seven days a week  
• Share clinical information to assist with decision making out of hospital 
• Access to a rapid response service for patients at high risk of acute admission 
• Coordinated community intermediate care providing patient centered 

wraparound support 
• Robust integrated discharge process with post-discharge community support 

Update: 
• Developments of Thanet based Integrated Care Organisations, which equates 

to 4 locality clusters (Quex, Margate, Ramsgate and Broadstairs) 
• Development of wraparound patient services under targeted and holistic 

model of care within community and social provision 7 days per week 
• New discharge to assess work programmes to support prevention of 

admission and reduction in length of stay 
• End of life strategy to support high quality end of life care 
• Development of whole system pathways for better care co-ordination across 

the health economy 
 

 

 



   

 

Update on Thanet Better Care Fund Programme Delivery Page 3 of 3 

 
 

7.  Flexible Use of Care Homes 

Objectives: 
• Delivery of improved community solution offering flexible service 
• Reduction in need for acute admission 
• Support for early discharge of patients from hospital 

Update: 
• Development and implementation of a revised model of care 
• Links to frailty work programme as part of whole pathway including education 

and better patient outcomes 
• Model of ‘step up’ and ‘step down’ beds for health and social care support 

 

8.  Scheme 04 – Falls Prevention 

Objective: 
• To reduce the number of unplanned admissions due to falls 
• To improve quality of life for Thanet residents 
• To lessen the effects of ill health relating to falls 

Update: 
• Development of a multi-agency frailty programme which is clinically led 
• Development of frailty pathways which start and end in the community to 

support self-care/prevention to end of life care. 
• Development of a protected frailty unit based at QEQM to prevent admission 

and support early discharge 
• Increase support of care homes through over 75s schemes including wider 

use of care plans 
 

9.  Improving End of Life Care 

Objectives: 
• To improve overall coordination of end of life care 
• To ensure patient wishes are recorded 
• To ensure patients are given their choice of place of death wherever possible 

Update: 
• Development of a layered end of life care strategy 
• Development of a shared care plan between organisations 
• Development of education for workforce to support advanced communication 

skills for end of life care. 
 

 

 

 

 





 

 

THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL DECLARATION OF INTEREST FORM 
 
Do I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and if so what action should I take?  
 
Your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) are those interests that are, or should be, listed on 
your Register of Interest Form.  
 
If you are at a meeting and the subject relating to one of your DPIs is to be discussed, in so 
far as you are aware of the DPI, you must declare the existence and explain the nature of the 
DPI during the declarations of interest agenda item, at the commencement of the item under 
discussion, or when the interest has become apparent 
 
Once you have declared that you have a DPI (unless you have been granted a dispensation 
by the Standards Committee or the Monitoring Officer, for which you will have applied to the 
Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting) you must:-  

 
1. Not speak or vote on the matter; 
2. Withdraw from the meeting room during  the consideration of the matter; 
3. Not seek to improperly influence the decision on the matter.  

 
Do I have a significant interest and if so what action should I take? 
 
A significant interest is an interest (other than a DPI or an interest in an Authority Function) 
which: 
1. Affects the financial position of yourself and/or an associated person; or 

Relates to the determination of your application for any approval, consent, licence, 
permission or registration made by, or on your behalf of, you and/or an associated 
person;  

2. And which, in either case, a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts 
would reasonably regard as being so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment 
of the public interest.     

 
An associated person is defined as: 

 A family member or any other person with whom you have a close association, including 
your spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom you are living as a husband or wife, 
or as if you are civil partners; or 

 Any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they 
are a partner, or any company of which they are directors; or 

 Any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of 
securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000;  

 Any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which 
you are appointed or nominated by the Authority; or 

 any body in respect of which you are in a position of general control or management and 
which: 
- exercises functions of a public nature; or 
- is directed to charitable purposes; or 
- has as its principal purpose or one of its principal purposes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) 
 
An Authority Function is defined as: -  

 Housing - where you are a tenant of the Council provided that those functions do not 
relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; or 

 Any allowance, payment or indemnity given to members of the Council; 

 Any ceremonial honour given to members of the  Council 

 Setting the Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992     
 

If you are at a meeting and you think that you have a significant interest then you must 
declare the existence and nature of the significant interest at the commencement of the 



 

 

matter, or when the interest has become apparent, or the declarations of interest agenda 
item.  
 
Once you have declared that you have a significant interest (unless you have been granted a 
dispensation by the Standards Committee or the Monitoring Officer, for which you will have 
applied to the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting) you must:- 
 
1. Not speak or vote (unless the public have speaking rights, or you are present to make 

representations, answer questions or to give evidence relating to the business being 
discussed in which case you can speak only) 

2. Withdraw from the meeting during consideration of the matter or immediately after 
speaking. 

3. Not seek to improperly influence the decision.  

 
Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality 
 
Councillors must declare at meetings any gift, benefit or hospitality with an estimated value (or 
cumulative value if a series of gifts etc.) of £100 or more. You must, at the commencement of 
the meeting or when the interest becomes apparent, disclose the existence and nature of the 
gift, benefit or hospitality, the identity of the donor and how the business under consideration 
relates to that person or body. However you can stay in the meeting unless it constitutes a 
significant interest, in which case it should be declared as outlined above.   
 

What if I am unsure? 
 
If you are in any doubt, Members are strongly advised to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or the Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager well in advance of the meeting. 

 
DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS, 

SIGNIFICANT INTERESTS AND GIFTS, BENEFITS AND HOSPITALITY 

 
MEETING………………………………………………………………………………………………... 
 
DATE…………………………………………… AGENDA ITEM …………………………………… 
 

DISCRETIONARY PECUNIARY INTEREST    
 

SIGNIFICANT INTEREST      
 

GIFTS, BENEFITS AND HOSPITALITY     
 
THE NATURE OF THE INTEREST, GIFT, BENEFITS OR HOSPITALITY: 
 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………….…………… 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
NAME (PRINT): ………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
 
SIGNATURE: …………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Please detach and hand this form to the Democratic Services Officer when you are asked to 
declare any interests. 
 


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Thanet Cancer Strategy
	5 Obesity - following a countywide health needs assessment
	6 Leading Integrated Commissioning - Update
	Thanet Local Partnership Group for Integrated Commissioning
	Thanet Local Partnership Group for Mental Health vs 2
	Thanet Local Partnership Group for Frail elderly TOR draft V 2

	7 Better Care Fund Update
	 Declaration of Interests Form

